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MATURITIES, PRICIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST
RATES, PRICES OR YIELDS AND CUSIPS

Series 2009A Bonds

$22,915,000 Serial Bonds

Maturity Principal Interest CUSIP
(May 1) Amount Rate Yield Numbers(1)

2014 $1,175,000 2.00% 1.4% 426170 JG2
2015 1,195,000 4.00 1.72 426170 JHO

2016 1,245,000 3.75 2.03 426170 JJ6
2017 1,290,000 3.00 2.34 426170 JK3
2018 1,330,000 3.00 2.61 426170 JL1

2019 1,70,000 3.00 2.83 426170 JM9
2020 1,410,000 3.125 3.03* 426170 JN7
2021 1,455,000 5.00 3.14* 426170 JP2

2022 1,530,000 5.00 3.22* 426170 JQO

2023 1,605,000 5.00 3.29* 426170 JR8
2024 1,685,000 5.00 3.36* 426170 JS6

2025 1,770,000 5.00 3.44* 426170 JT4

2026 1,855,000 5.00 3.52* 426170 WI
2027 1,950,000 5.00 3.60* 426170 N9
2028 2,050,000 5.00 3.69* 426170 JW7

*Yie1d to par call on May 1,2019

Series 2009B Bonds

$2,215,000 Serial Bonds

Maturity
(My 1)

2029
2030

Principal
Amount

Interest
Rate Price

CUSIP
Numbers(!)

$1,090,000
1,125,000

5.853%
6.00

100%
100

426170 JX5
426170 JY3

$7,585,000 Term Bonds

$7,585,000 6.153% Term Bonds due May 1, 2036 - Prce 100% - CUSIP Number 426170 JZO(1)

(!) CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an organation not affated with the County and are included solely for the

convenience of the holders of the Bonds. The County is not responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers,
nor is any representation made as to their correctness on the Seres 2009 Bonds or as indicated above.
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IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERIG OF THE SERIES 2009 BONDS, THE
UNDERWRTERS MAY OVERALOT OR EFFECT TRASACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR
MATAIN THE MAT PRICES OF THE SERIES 2009 BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE
WHCH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MAT. SUCH STABILIZING, IF
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTIND AT AN TIME.

THE UNDERWRTERS HAVE PROVIDED THE FOLLOWIG SENTENCE FOR INCLUSION
IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT: THE UNDERWRTERS HAVE REVIEWED THE INFORMTION IN
THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND AS PART OF, THEIR RESPECTIV
RESPONSIBILITIES TO INSTORS UNDER THE FEDERA SECURITIES LAWS AS APPLIED TO
THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS TRANSACTION, BUT THE UNDERWRTERS DO NOT
GUARTEE THE ACCURCY OR COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMTION.

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the County to give any
inormation or to make any representations, other than those contained in ths Offcial Statement, and if given
or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the
County. This Offcial Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor
shall there be any sale of the Series 2009 Bonds by any person, in any jursdiction in which it is unawful for
such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.

The information set fort in ths Offcial Statement has been obtaied from the County and other

sources that are deemed reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be
constred as a representation of, the Underwters. The information in ths Offcial Statement speaks as of its
date except where specifcally noted otherwse and is subject to change without notice. The delivery of ths
Offcial Statement, any sale made under it or any filig or other use of it wil not, under any circumstances,
create any implication that there has been no change in the afais of the County since the date of ths Offcial

Statement or imply that any inormation in this Offcial Statement is accurate or complete as of any later date.
This Offcial Statement is not to be constred as a contract or agreement between the County and the

purchasers or owners of any of the Series 2009 Bonds.

The Series 2009 Bonds will be exempt from registration under the Securties Act of 1933, as
obligations of a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virgia. The Series 2009 Bonds also wi be
exempt from registration under the securties laws of the Commonwealth of Virgia.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Paee

INTRODUCTION .........................................................................................................................................................................................1
ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNS..............................................................................................................................................2
DESCRITION OF THE SERIES 2009 BONDS .............................................................................................................................................2
THE PROJECT............................................................................................................................................................................................4
PLAN OF REFUNING ...................................................................................................................................................................................4
SECURY FOR THE SERIS 2009 BONDS .................................................................................................................................................5
THE COUNTY AND THE SYSTEM ................................................................................................................................................................6
TAX MATTERS ............................................................................................................................................................................................6
UNERWRTING ..............................,...............................................................................................................................................................11
RATINGS .................................................................................................................................................................................................12
CERTIFCATE CONCERNING OFFICIAL STATEMENT .............................................................................................................................12
CONTIG DISCLOSURE........................................................:........................................................................................................12
APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS....................................................................................................................................................12
INEPENDENT AUDITORS .......................................................................................................................................................................13
VERIICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPlIATIONS .........................................................................................................................13
FINANCIAL ADVISOR ................................................................................................................................................................................13
LITIGATION....................................................................................................................................................................................................13
ADDITIONAL INORMATION .................................................................................................................................................................13

Appendi A - Inormtion regardig the System ............................................................................................................. A-I
Appendi B - Audited Fincial Stateents of the Water and Sewer Fund for the Fiscal Yea Ende June 30, 2009 ......... B-1
Appendi C - Inormtion regardig the County ............................................................................................................. C-1
AppendiD - Sum of Cer Provisions of the Resolutions .................................................................................... D-l
Appendi E - Description of The Depository Trust Company and the Book-Entr-Ony System ...................................... E-1
Appendi F - Proposed Form of Contiuig Disclosure Cercate ................................................................................ F-1
Appendi G - Proposed Form of Opinons of Bond Counel .......................................................................................... G-1



(This Page Intentionally Left Blank)



Offcial Statement
Relating To The Issuance Of

$32,715,000
County of Henrico, Virginia,

Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds

Consisting of

$22,915,000
County of Henrico, Virginia,

Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds,

Series 2009A
(Tax-Exempt)

$9,800,000
County of Henrico, Virginia,

Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds,

Series 2009B
(Taxable - Recovery Zone Economic Deyelopment

Bonds)

INTRODUCTION

The purose of ths Offcial Statement, including the cover page and attached appendices, is to set

forth certai information in connection with the issuance by the County of Henrco, Virgina (the "County"), of
its $22,915,000 pricipal amount of Water and Sewer System Refundig Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A (Tax-
Exempt), dated December 22,2009 (the "Series 2009A Bonds"), and its $9,800,000 pricipal amount of Water
and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B (Taxable-Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds),
dated December 22, 2009 (the "Series 2009B Bonds" and, collectively with the Series 2009A Bonds, the
"Series 2009 Bonds").

The Series 2009 Bonds will be issued and secured in accordance with the Public Finance Act of 1991,
being Chapter 26, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virgia of 1950, as amended (the "Act"), and pursuant to the
provisions of a resolution adopted by the Board of Supervsors (the "Board of Supervsors") on November 23,
1977, as amended and supplemented (the "Bond Resolution"), and a supplemental resolution adopted by the
Board of Supervsors on May 12, 2009 providig for the issuance of the Series 2009A Bonds (the "2009A
Supplemental Resolution") and a supplemental resolution adopted by the Board of Supervsors on
November 24, 2009 providing for the issuance of the Series 2009B Bonds (the "2009B Supplementa
Resolution" and together with the Bond Resolution and the 2009A Supplemental Resolution, the

"Resolutions").

The Series 2009A Bonds are being issued to refud on a curent basis $24,760,000 outstandig

pricipal amount of a Water and Sewer System Revenue Note, Subordiate Series 1997 (the "Subordiate
Note"), of the County. The Subordiate Note was issued to the Virgia Resources Authority (the "VR") as
securty for its Varable Rate Demand/ixed Rate Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 1997
(Henrco County Project) (the "Series 1997 VR Bonds"). Contemporaneously with the refudig of the
Subordiate Note, the VR wi use the net proceeds of the Series 2009A Bonds and other avaiable moneys
of the VR to refud on a curent basis the Series 1997 VR Bonds, which are outstadig in the pricipal
amount of $27,140,000. The Series 2009B Bonds wil be issued to fiance improvements, additions and
extnsions to the Water and Sewer System of the County. The County has issued and there are at present
outstandig $155,850,000 pricipal amount of Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds and Water and Sewer
System Refundig Revenue Bonds (the "Outstandig Party Bonds"). The Series 2009 Bonds, the Outstadig
Party Bonds and any additional bonds that hereafr may be issued on a party therewith pursuat to the Bond

Resolution (the "Additional Bonds") are referred to herein as the "Bonds". See the sections "PLAN OF
REFUNING", "SECURTY FOR THE SERIES 2009 BONDS" and "APPENDIX D - SUMMAY OF CERTAI
PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS".



The Series 2009B Bonds are expected to be issued as Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds
under Section 1400U-2 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code"), which was added by the
provisions of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (the "AR"). Pusuant to the AR,
the County will receive a cash subsidy payment from the United States Treasur equal to 45% of the interest
payable on the Series 2009B Bonds on each interest payment date. The cash payment does not constitute a
guarantee by the United States Treasur or a pledge of the faith and credit of the United States of America, but
is requied to be paid by the United States Treasur under the ARR. Any such cash payments received by
the County are expected to be treated as "Revenues" of the Water and Sewer System of the County as such
term is defined in the Bond Resolution.

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The following table summarzes the anticipated application of the proceeds of the Series 2009 Bonds
and other moneys to the puroses of issuance described above:

Sources:
Prcipal Amount of Series 2009 Bonds

Net Original Issue Premium
Total Series 2009 Bond Proceeds

$32,715,000.00
2,162,872.40

$34,877,872.40

Other Sources:

Planed County Equity Contrbution
1997 Interest Account
1997 Prcipal Account

1997 VR Capital Reserve Fund
Total Other Sources
Total Sources

$ 157,781.56
321,205.73
140,000.00

2,382,738.03
3,001.725.32

$37,879,597.72

Uses:
Deposit to Refudig Trust Fund
Deposit to Reserve Account
Deposit to Constrction Fund
Underwtig Compensation(!)
Other Issuance Expenses

Total Uses

$ 27,690,748.75

157,781.56
9,706,261.43

160,861.75
163,944.23

$37,879,597.72

(1See the section "UNDERWRITING".

DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2009 BONDS
General

The Series 2009 Bonds are dated as of their date of issuance, bear interest from their date payable on
May 1 and November 1 in each year, commencing on May 1,2010, at the rates and will matue on the dates
and in the amounts set forth on the inide cover of ths Offcial Statement. The record dates for the payment of
interest on the Series 2009 Bonds are Apri 15, 2010 and each Apri 15 and November 15 thereafr to and
includig Apri 15, 2036. The record dates for the payment of the pricipal of the Series 2009 Bonds is
Apri 15,2014 and each Apri 15 thereafer to and includig Apri 15,2036.
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Book-Entry-Only System

The book-entr-only system of registration of the Series 2009 Bonds is more fully described in
Appendix E to ths Offcial Statement.

Redemption of the Series 2009 Bonds

Optional Redemption. The Series 2009 Bonds of each series matung on or before May 1, 2019 will
not be subject to optional redemption before their respective matuty dates.

The Series 2009 Bonds of each series matug on or afer May 1,2020 may be redeemed prior to
their respective matuty dates on or afr May 1, 2019 at the option of the County, as a whole or in par at any

time at the price of par together with the interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

Extraordinary Optional Redemption. The Series 2009B Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their
respective matuty dates at the option of the County, in whole or in par (in $5,000 increments) upon the

occurence of the Extraordiar Event at a redemption price equal to the greater of:

1) 100% of the pricipal amount of the Series 2009B Bonds to be redeemed; and

2) The sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of pricipal and interest to
the matuty date of the Series 2009B Bonds to be redeemed, not including any porton of those payments of

interest accrued and unpaid as of the date on which the Series 2009B Bonds are to be redeemed, discounted to
the date on which the Series 2009B Bonds are to be redeemed on a semianual basis, assumg a 360-day year
comprised of twelve 30-day months, at the Treasur Rate, plus 100 basis points;

plus, in each case, accrued interest on the Series 2009B Bonds to be redeemed to the redemption date.

An "Extaordiar Event" will have occured if a material adverse change has occured to Section
54AA, 1400U-2 or 6431 of the Code (as such sections were added by Section 1531 of the AR, pertaig to
"Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds"), pursuant to which the County's 45% cash subsidy payment
from the United States Treasur is reduced or eliinated.

At the request of the Registrar and Paying Agent, the redemption price of the Series 2009B Bonds to
be redeemed at the option of the County will be determined by an independent accountig fi, investment

bang fi or financial advisor retaied by the County at the County's expense to calculate such redemption

price. The Registrar and Paying Agent and the County may conclusively rely on the determination of such
redemption price by such independent accountig fi, investment bang firm or fiancial advisor and wil

not be liable for such reliance.

"Treasur Rate" mean, with respect to any redemption date for a parcular Series 2009B Bond, the
yield to matuty as of such redemption date of United States Treasur securties with a constant matuty
excludig ination indexed securties (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical
Release H.15 (519)) that has become publicly avaiable at least two Business Days prior to the redemption date
or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly avaiable source of simar market data) most
nearly equa to the period from the redemption date to the matuty of the Series 2009B Bond to be redeemed;
provided, however, that if the period from the redemption date to such matuty date is less than one year, the
weekly average yield on actualy traded United States Treasur securties adjusted to a constant matuty of
one year wi be used.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Series 2009B Bonds matug on May 1, 2036 are subject
to mandatory sing fud redemption on May 1, 2031 and on each May 1 thereafr and to payment at
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matuty on May 1, 2036 in the pricipal amounts in each year set fort below, in the case of redemption with
the parcular Series 2009B Bond or Series 2009B Bonds or portons thereof to be redeemed to be selected by
lot, upon payment of the pricipal amount of the Series 2009B Bonds to be redeemed, together with the

interest accrued on the pricipal amount to be redeemed to the date fixed for the redemption thereof:

Year
(Mav 1) Prcipal Amount

2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036t

$1,160,000
1,200,000
1,240,000
1,285,000
1,330,000
1.370.000

$7,585,000

t Matwty

The County, at its option, may credit agaist such mandatory sinking fund redemption requiement the
pricipal amount of any Series 2009B Bonds matug on May 1, 2036 which have been purchased and
cancelled by the County or which have been redeemed and not theretofore applied as a credit agait such

mandatory sinkg fud redemption requiement.

Notice of Redemption. Notice of any redemption specifg the designation, date and matuty of the

Series 2009 Bonds to be redeemed and the date and place fied for redemption shal be given by :fst class

mail, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days prior to the redemption date, to the registered holder of the Series
2009 Bonds at such registered holder's address as shown on the books of registration kept by the registrar
therefor; provided, however, that any defect in such notice shal not afect the sufciency of the proceedings
for the redemption of such Series 2009 Bonds. If such notice is given and payment of the Series 2009 Bond is
duly made or provided for, interest thereon shall cease from and afr the date so specifed for the redemption
thereof. Notice of such redemption shal also state that if less than the entie pricipal amount of a Series 2009
Bond called for redemption is to be redeemed, such Series 2009 Bond must be surendered in exchange for
payment of the pricipal amount thereof to be redeemed and the issuance of a new Series 2009 Bond or Series

2009 Bonds of the same series and matuty equallig in pricipal amount that porton of the pricipal amount

of the surendered bond not to be redeemed. During any period that a securities depository, including
DTC, is the registered owner of the Series 2009 Bonds, the County wil not be responsible for mailing
notices of redemption to Beneficial Owners. See "APPENDIX E - DESCRITION OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST

COMPANY AN THE BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM".

THE PROJECT

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2009B Bonds, the Board of Supervsors of the County in
the 2009B Supplemental Resolution has designated thee recovery zones in the County, namely, the

Broadwater Area Recovery Zone (Highland Sprigs), the Strawberr Hi Recovery Zone 1 (Monument
Avenue Area) and the Strawberr Hil Recovery Zone 2 (Lakeside). The net proceeds of sale of the Series
2009B Bonds wi be applied to the acquisition, constrction and reconstrction of sewer rehabiltation
projects with such recovery zones.

PLAN OF REFUNING

The Series 2009A Bonds are being issued to refud on a curent basis $24,760,000 outstadig

pricipal amount of a Water and Sewer System Revenue Note, dated August 7, 1997, of the County

(heretofore defied as the "Subordiate Note"), which was issued by the County to the VR as securty for its
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Varable Rate Demand/ixed Rate Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 1997 (Henrco County
Project) (heretofore defined as the "Series 1997 VR Bonds"). Contemporaneously with the refunding of the
Subordinate Note, the VR will use the net proceeds of the Series 2009A Bonds and other available moneys
of the VRA to refud on a curent basis the Series 1997 VR Bonds, which are outstanding in the principal
amount of $27,140,000.

Upon delivery of the Series 2009A Bonds, the VR, the County and the Refundig Trustee wil enter
into a refunding trst agreement (the "Refunding Trust Agreement"). The Refudig Trust Agreement creates
an irevocable trst fund (the "Refudig Trust Fund"), which is to be held by U.S. Ban National

Association, as the Refuding Trustee, and is to be applied to the payment of the interest on the Subordiate
Note to, and the principal of the Subordinate Note on, Februar 1, 2010, the date fixed for the prepayment
thereof, and to the payment of the interest on the Series 1997 VR Bonds to, and the payment of the pricipal
of the Series 1997 VR Bonds on, Februar 1, 2010, the date fixed for the redemption thereof. The VR and
the County will deposit the net proceeds of sale of the Series 2009A Bonds and other available moneys of the
VR in the Refunding Trust Fund which together with eargs thereon represents the total escrow defeasance
requiements of the Subordinate Note and the Series 1997 VR Bonds and which will be invested in securties
which will be direct obligations of the United States (the "Securties"), matug in amounts and bearg
interest at rates sufcient (i) to pay the interest on the Subordinate Note to Februar 1, 2010 and (ii) to prepay
the principal of the Subordiate Note on Februar 1, 2010 and, correspondigly, (i) to pay interest on the
Series 1997 VR Bonds to Februar 1, 2010 and (ii) to pay the principal of the Series 1997 VR Bonds on
Februar 1, 2010. The Subordiate Note will be irevocably designated for prepayment and provision has
been made in the Refunding Trust Agreement for the giving of notice of such prepayment and,

correspondingly, the Series 1997 VR Bonds wi be irevocably designated for redemption and provision has
been made in the Refuding Trust Agreement for the giving of such notice of redemption. The Refundig
Trust Fund, includig the interest eargs on the Securties, is pledged solely for the benefit of the holders of
the Subordinate Note and the Series 1997 VR Bonds.

SECURTY FOR THE SERIS 2009 BONDS

The Series 2009 Bonds wil be payable on a party with the Outstanding Party Bonds, Additional

Bonds and interest on bond anticipation notes hereafr issued pursuant to the Resolutions. For a more
complete discussion of the County's power to issue additional debt secured by the Revenues of the System, see
"APPENDIX D - SUMMARY OF CERTAI PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS - Issuance of Additional
Obligations". The Series 2009 Bonds are payable as to principal and interest from, and secured by a pledge of,
income, revenues, fees and moneys derived by the County from the ownership, possession, operation,
management or control of the System, including, but not limted to, charges for curent servces, fees charged
for connection to the System and eargs of the investment of certai funds (the "Revenues"), subject to the
prior payment from the Revenues of the expenses of operation and maitenance of the System. Additionally,

the Subordinate Note is secured by a subordiate pledge of the Revenues of the System.

The Series 2009 Bonds are not a debt of the County within the meaning of any constitutional or
statutory litation on the creation of general obligation indebtedness of the County, nor do they impose
any general liabilty upon the County. The full faith and credit of the County is not pledged to the
payment of the Series 2009 Bonds, and the County shal not be liable for the payment thereof out of any
funds of the County other than the Revenues pledged therefor, in the manner provided in the Bond
Resolution.

Rate Covenant

The County covenants in the Resolutions to establish, maitai, revise and collect rates and charges
with respect to the System in each year sufcient to provide Net Operatig Revenues, as defied herein (the
calculation of which excludes connection fees, income from investments and certai other nonrecurg
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revenues), equal to not less than 1.25 times the aggregate of the Debt Servce Requiement durng such year on
all Bonds outstanding under the Bond Resolution and the interest durg such year on outstanding bond
anticipation notes, if any, payable on a party with the Bonds. See "APPENDIX D - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS - Covenant as to Rates and Charges".

Reserve Account

The Series 2009 Bonds, together with the Outstandig Party Bonds, Additional Bonds and interest on
bond anticipation notes, will be additionally secured by a Reserve Account established and maintaied by the
County pursuant to the terms of the Resolutions. As described in "APPENDIX D - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS - Collection and Disposition of Revenues - Reserve Account', the

Resolutions requie the County to maintain on deposit in the Reserve Account an amount, or a surety bond,
inurance policy or letter of credit, equal to the maxmum anual Debt Servce Requiement on the Series 2009
Bonds, Outstandig Party Bonds and Additional Bonds, in order to provide a reserve for the payment of the
pricipal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Series 2009 Bonds, Outstandig Party Bonds and
Additional Bonds and for the payment of interest on bond anticipation notes. There is curently no surety
bond, insurance policy or lettr of credit on deposit in the Revenue Account with respect to the Series 2009
Bonds or any Outstanding Party Bonds.

Bondholders' Remedies in Event of Default

In case of an Event of Default under the Resolutions (see "APPENDIX D - SUMMY OF CERTAI
PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS - Events of Default, Bondholder Remedies"), the holders of not less than

25% in aggregate pricipal amount of the Series 2009 Bonds may proceed to protect and enforce their rights
by declarg the entie unpaid principal of and interest on the Series 2009 Bonds due and payable or by

intituting a mandamus or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, including an action for specifc
pedormance of any agreement contained in the Resolutions. The mandamus remedy, however, may be
impracticable and dicult to enforce. Furermore, the right to enforce payment of the Series 2009 Bonds

may be limited by banptcy, insolvency, reorganation, moratorium and simar laws and equitable

priciples, which may limit the specifc enforcement of certai remedies.

THE COUNTY AND THE SYSTEM

The Series 2009 Bonds are secured by a pledge of the Revenues of the System. For additional
inormation on the System, see Appendi A hereto. Audited financial statements of the System for fiscal year
ended 2009 are attached hereto as Appendix B. For additional demographic and fiancial inormation on the
County, see Appendix C hereto.

TAX MATTERS

Series 2009A Bonds

The information under this section applies solely to the Series 2009A Bonds.

Opinion of Bond Counsel

In the opinion of Hawkis Delafeld & Wood LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel to the
County, under existig statutes and cour decisions and assumg compliance with cert ta covenants
described herein interest on the Series 2009A Bonds (i) is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
puroses pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") and (ii) is not treated as
a preference item in calculating the alternative mium tax imposed on individuals and corporations under

-6-



the Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted curent earngs of certai corporations for

puroses of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. In rendering its opinions,
Bond Counsel has relied on certai representations, certcations of fact and statements of reasonable

expectations made by the County in connection with the Series 2009A Bonds, and Bond Counsel has assumed
compliance by the County with certai ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of the Code
to assure the exclusion of interest on the Series 2009A Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the
Code.

In addition, in the opiffon of Bond Counsel to the County, under eXlshng statutes of the

Commonwealth of Virginia, interest on the Series 2009A Bonds is not includable in computing the Virginia
income tax.

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regardig any other federal or State tax consequences with respect
to the Series 2009A Bonds. Bond Counsel renders its opinion under existing statutes and cour decisions as of
the issue date, and assumes no obligation to update, revise or supplement its opinion to reflect any action
thereafer taken or not taken, or any facts or circumstances that may thereafer come to its attntion, or changes
in law or in interpretations thereof that may thereafer occur, or for any other reason. Bond Counsel expresses
no opinion on the effect of any action thereafer taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of other counsel
on the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax puroses of interest on the Series 2009A Bonds, or
under State and local tax law.

Certain Ongoing Federal Tax Requirements and Covenants

The Code establishes certai ongoing requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and
delivery of the Series 2009A Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2009A Bonds be and remai excluded
from gross income under Section 103 of the Code. These requirements include, but are not limited to,
requiements relatig to use and expenditue of gross proceeds of the Series 2009A Bonds, yield and other

restrctions on investments of gross proceeds and the arbitrage rebate requiement that certai excess earngs
on gross proceeds be rebated to the federal governent. Noncompliance with such requiements may cause
interest on the Series 2009A Bonds to become included in gross income for federal income tax puroses
retroactive to their issue date, without regard to the date on which such noncompliance occurs or is discovered.
The County has covenanted to comply with certai applicable requiements of the Code to assure the exclusion
of interest on the Series 2009A Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

Certain Collateral Federal Tax Consequences

The following is a brief discussion of certai collateral federal income tax matters with respect to the
Series 2009A Bonds. It does not purort to address all aspects of federal taation that may be relevant to a
parcular owner of a Series 2009A Bond. Prospective investors, parcularly those who may be subject to
special rues, are advised to consult their own tax advisors regardig the federal ta consequences of owng
and disposing of the Series 2009A Bonds.

Prospective owners of the Series 2009A Bonds should be aware that the ownership of such obligations
may result in collateral federal income ta consequences to varous categories of persons, such as corporations
(includig S corporations and foreign corporations), fiancial intitutions, propert and casualty and lie

insurance companes, individual recipients of Social Securty and raioad retirement benefits, individuals
otherwise eligible for the eared income tax credit and taxayers deemed to have incured or contiued
indebtedness to purchase or car obligations the interest on which is not included in gross income for federal
income tax puroses. Interest on the Series 2009A Bonds may be taen into account in determg the tax
liabilty of foreign corporations subject to the branch profits ta imposed by Section 884 of the Code.
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Original Issue Discount

"Original issue discount" ("OID") is the excess of the sum of all amounts payable at the stated
matuty of a Series 2009A Bond (excluding certai "qualifed stated interest" that is unconditionally payable
at least anualy at prescribed rates) over the issue price of that matuty. In general, the "issue price" of a
matuty means the first price at which a substantial amount of the Series 2009A Bonds of that matuty was
sold (excluding sales to bond houses, brokers or similar persons acting in the capacity as underwters,
placement agents or wholesalers). In general, the issue price for each matuty ofthe Series 2009A Bonds is
expected to be the intial public offering price set fort on the inide cover page of ths Offcial Statement.
Bond Counsel furer is of the opinon that, for any Series 2009A Bonds having OID (a "Discount Bond"),
OID that has accrued and is properly allocable to the owners of the Discount Bonds under Section 1288 of the
Code is excludable from gross income for federal income tax puroses to the same extent as other interest on
the Series 2009A Bonds.

In general, under Section 1288 of the Code, OID on a Discount Bond accrues under a constant yield
method, based on periodic compoundig of interest over prescribed accrual periods using a compounding rate
determined by reference to the yield on that Discount Bond. An owner's adjusted basis in a Discount Bond is
increased by accrued OlD for puroses of determnig gai or loss on sale, exchange or other disposition of
such Discount Bond. Accrued OlD may be taken into account as an increase in the amount of tax-exempt
income received or deemed to have been received for puroses of determinig varous other tax consequences

of owng a Discount Bond even though there wil not be a correspondig cash payment.

Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the treatment of OID
for federal income tax puroses, including varous special rues relatig thereto, and the State and local tax
consequences of acquirg, holding and disposing of Discount Bonds.

Bond Premium

In general, if an owner acquires a Series 2009A Bond for a purchase price (excludig accrued interest)
or otherwse at a tax basis that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the Series 2009A
Bond afr the acquisition date (excludig certai "qualed stated interest that is unconditionaly payable at
least anually at prescribed rates), that premium constitutes "premium" on that Series 2009A Bond (a
"Premium Bond"). In general, under Section 171 of the Code, an owner of a Premium Bond must amortze the
premium over the remaiing term of the Premium Bond, based on the owner's yield over the remaing term of
the Premium Bond, determined based on constant yield priciples (in certai cases involving a Premium Bond
calable prior to its stated matuty date, the amortzation period and yield may be required to be determed on
the basis of an earlier call date that result in the lowest yield on such Bond). An owner of a Premium Bond
must amortze the premium by offsettg the qualed stated interest alocable to each interest acrual period
under the owner's regular method of accountig agait the premium alocable to that period. In the case of a
tax-exempt Premium Bond, if the premium alocable to an accrual period exceeds the qualed stated interest
alocable to that accrual period, the excess is a nondeductible loss. Under certai circumstances, the owner of
a Premium Bond may realize a taxable gai upon disposition of the Premium Bond even though it is sold or
redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the owner's original acquisition cost. Owers of any Premium
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regardig the treatment of premium for federal income tax
puroses, includig varous special rues relatig thereto, and State and local tax consequences, in connection

with the acquisition, ownership, amortation of premium on, sale, exchange or other disposition of Premium
Bonds.
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Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Inormation reportng requiements apply to interest on tax-exempt obligations, including the Series
2009A Bonds. In general, such requiements are satisfied if the interest recipient completes, and provides the
payor with, a Form W-9, "Request for Taxpayer Identifcation Number and Certfication", or uness the
recipient is one of a limited class of exempt recipients, including corporations. A recipient not otherwse
exempt from information reportng who fails to satisfy the information reportg requirements wil be subject
to "backup witholding", which means that the payor is requied to deduct and witlùold a tax from the interest
payment, calculated in the maner set fort in the Code. For the foregoing purose, a "payor" generally refers

to the person or entity from whom a recipient receives its payments of interest or who collects such payments
on behal of the recipient.

If an owner purchasing a Series 2009A Bond through a brokerage account has executed a Form W-9
in connection with the establishment of such account, as generally can be expected, no backup witlùoldig
should occur. In any event, backup witlùoldig does not afect the excludability of the interest on the Series
2009A Bonds from gross income for federal income tax puroses. Any amounts witlùeld pursuant to backup
witholding would be alowed as a refud or a credit agaist the owner's federal income tax once the requied
inormation is furshed to the Internal Revenue Servce.

Series 2009B Bonds

The information under this section applies solely to the Series 2009B Bonds.

In the opinion of Bond Counel to the County interest on the Series 2009B Bonds is included in gross
income for federal income tax puroses pursuant to the Code.

In addition, in the opinon of Bond Counsel to the County, under eXlstig statutes of the
Commonwealth of Virgina, interest on the Series 2009B Bonds is not includable in computig the Virgia
income tax.

For the Series 2009B Bonds, the County wil elect to receive cash subsidy payments equal to 45% of
the interest payable on the Series 2009B Bonds from the United States Treasur. As a result of such election,
holders of the Series 2009B Bonds wi not be eligible to receive the tax credit otherwse permttd under
Section 54AA(a) and Section 1400U-2(a) of the Code. The Code establishes certai ongoing requiements that
must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Series 2009B Bonds in order for the County to
contiue to receive such subsidy payments. These requiements include, but are not lited to, requiements

relatig to use and expenditue of the available project proceeds of the Series 2009B Bonds, and the arbitrage

rebate requiement that certai excess earg on gross proceeds be rebated to the federal governent.

Noncompliance may cause the Series 2009B Bonds to fail to qual for the receipt of the interest subsidy
payments. The County has covenanted to comply with certai applicable requiements of the Code to assure
the receipt of the interest subsidy payments in respect of the Series 2009B Bonds.

The followig discussion is a brief sumar of the pricipal United States federal income tax

consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Series 2009B Bonds by origial purchasers of
the Series 2009B Bonds who are "U.S. Holders", as defied herein. This sumar (i) is based on cert

relevant provisions of the Code under existig law is subject to change at any tie, possibly with retroactive

effect, (ii) assumes that the Series 2009B Bonds wi be held as "capital assets" and (ii) does not discuss al of
the United States federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to a holder in light of its parcular
circumstances or to holders subject to special rues, such as inurance companes, fiancial institutions, tax-
exempt organations, dealers in securties or foreign curencies, persons holdig the Series 2009B Bonds as a
position in a "hedge" or "straddle", or holders whose fuctional curency (as defied in Section 985 of the
Code) is not the United States dollar, or holders who acquie Series 2009B Bonds in the secondar market.
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Holders of Series 2009B Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors concernng the United
States federal income tax and other consequences with respect to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of
the Series 2009B Bonds as well as any tax consequences that may arse under the laws of any State, local or
foreign tax jursdiction.

Original Issue Discount

In general, if Original Issue Discount ("OID") is greater than a statutorily defined de minimis amount,
a holder of a Series 2009B Bond having a matuty of more than one year from its date of issue must include in
federal gross income (for each day of the taxable year, or porton of the taxable year, in which such holder
holds such Series 2009B Bond) the daily porton of OID, as it accrues (generally on a constant yield method)
and regardless of the holder's method of accounting. "OID" is the excess of (i) the "stated redemption price at
matuty" over (ii) the "issue price". For puroses of the foregoing: "issue price" means the first price at which
a substantial amount of the Series 2009B Bond is sold to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar
persons or organzations actig in the capacity of underwters, placement agents or wholesalers); "stated

redemption price at matuty" mean the sum of all payments, other than "qualed stated interest", provided
by such Series 2009B Bond; "qualifed stated interest" is stated interest that is unconditionally payable in cash
or propert (other than debt instrents of the issuer) at least anually at a single fied rate; and "de minimis
amount" is an amount equal to 0.25 percent of the Series 2009B Bond's stated redemption price at matuty
multiplied by the number of complete years to its matuty. A holder may irevocably elect to include in gross
income al interest that accrues on a Series 2009B Bond using the constant-yield method, subject to certai
modifcations.

Original Issue Premium

In general, if a Series 2009B Bond is originally issued for an issue price (excludig accrued interest)
that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the Series 2009B Bond other than "qualed
stated interest" (a "Taxable Premium Bond"), that Taxable Premium Bond wil be subject to Section 171 of the
Code, relatig to bond premium. In general, if the holder of a Taxable Premium Bond elects to amorte the
premium as "amortable bond premium" over the remaining term of the Taxable Premium Bond, determined
based on constant yield priciples (in certain cases involvig a Taxable Premium Bond calable prior to its
stated matuty date, the amortzation period and yield may be requied to be determined on the basis of an
earlier call date that results in the highest yield on such Bond), the amortable premium is treated as an offset
to interest income; the holder will make a corresponding adjustment to the holder's basis in the Taxable
Premium Bond. Any such election is generaly irevocable and applies to al debt intrents of the holder

(other than tax-exempt bonds) held at the beginng of the fist taxable year to which the election applies and
to al such debt intrents thereafer acquied. Under certai circumstances, the holder of a Taxable

Premium Bond may reale a taxable gai upon disposition of the Taxable Premium Bond even though it is
sold or redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the holder's origial acquisition cost.

Disposition and Defeasance

Generaly, upon the sale, exchange, redemption, or other disposition (which would include a legal
defeasance) of a Series 2009B Bond, a holder wil recogne taxable gai or loss in an amount equal to the

dierence between the amount realed (other than amounts attbutable to accrued interest not previously
includable in income) and such holder's adjusted ta basis in the Series 2009B Bond.

The County may cause the deposit of moneys or securties in escrow in such amount and maner as to
cause the Series 2009B Bonds to be deemed to be no longer outstandig (a "defeasance"). For federal income
ta puroses, such defeasance could result in a deemed exchange under Section 1001 of the Code and a

recogntion by such owner of taable income or loss, without any correspondig receipt of moneys. In
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addition, the character and timing of receipt of payments on the Series 2009B Bonds subsequent to any such
defeasance could also be afected.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

In general, information reportng requiements will apply to non-corporate holders with respect to
payments of pricipal, payments of interest and the accrual of OID on a Series 2009B Bond and the proceeds
of the sale of a Series 2009B Bond before matuty within the United States. Backup withholding may apply
to holders of Series 2009B Bonds under Section 3406 of the Code. Any amounts witheld under the backup
witholding rues from a payment to a beneficial owner, and which constitutes over-withholding, would be
alowed as a refud or a credit agaist such beneficial owner's United States federal income tax provided the

requied inormation is furshed to the Servce.

US Holders

The term "U.S. Holder" mean a beneficial owner of a Series 2009B Bond that is: (i) a citizen or
resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, parership or other entity created or organzed in or under the
laws of the United States or of any political subdivision thereof, (ii) an estate the income of which is subject to
United States federal income taxation regardless of its source or (iv) a trst whose administration is subject to
the primar jursdiction of a United States cour and which has one or more United States fiduciares who have

the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trst.

IRS Circular 230 Disclosure

The advice under "TAX MATTERS - Series 2009B Bonds" concerning certain income tax
consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Series 2009B Bonds, was wrtten to support
the marketing of the Series 2009B Bonds. To ensure compliance with requiements imposed by the Internal
Revenue Servce, Bond Counel to the County inorms you that (i) any federal tax advice contaied in ths
Offcial Statement (includig any attachments) or in wrtigs furshed by Bond Counsel to the County is not
intended to be used, and canot be used by any bondholder, for the purose of avoiding penalties that may be
imposed on the bondholder under the Code and (ii) the bondholder should seek advice based on the
bondholder's parcular circumstances from an independent tax advisor.

Miscellaneous

Tax legislation, admnistrative action taken by ta authorities, and cour decisions, whether at the

federal or State level, (i) may adversely afect the tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2009A Bonds
under federal or State law and (ii) could afect the market price or marketabilty of the Bonds.

Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regardig the foregoing
mattrs.

UNERWRTING

Morgan Keegan & Company, Inc. and Davenport & Company LLC (collectively, the "Underwters")
have ageed to purchase the Series 2009 Bonds at an aggegate purchase price equal to the intial public
offerig prices of the Series 2009 Bonds, less an underwtig discount in the amount of$160,861.75, pursuant
to the terms of a Purchase Contract (the "Puchase Contract") by and between the County and the

Underwters. The Puchase Contract provides that the obligation of the Underwters is subject to certai
conditions precedent and that the Underwters will be obligated to purchase al of the Series 2009 Bonds if
any of the Series 2009 Bonds are purchased. The Bonds may be offered to certai dealers (includig dealers
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depositing such Series 2009 Bonds into investment trsts, account or funds) and others at prices lower than the
intial public offering prices. Afer the initial public offering the public offering prices of the Series 2009

Bonds may be changed from time to time by the Underwters.

RATINGS

Fitch Ratigs, One Street Plaza, New York, New York, Moody's Investors Servce, 7 World Trade
Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York, and Standard & Poor's Corporation, 55 Water Street,
New York, New York, have assigned ratigs of "AA", "Aa2" and "AA", respectively, to the Series 2009
Bonds. An explanation of the significance of such ratigs may only be obtaied from the ratig agency
fushing the same. The County furshed to such ratig agencies the inormation contaied in this Offcial
Statement and certai publicly avaiable materials and inormation about the County. Generally, ratig
agencies base their ratigs on such materials and inormation, as well as investigations, studies, and
assumptions of the ratig agencies. Such ratigs may be changed at any tie, and no assurance can be given

that they wil not be revised downward or withdrawn entiely by any such ratig agencies if, in the judgment of
such agency, circumstances so warant. Such circumstances may include, without limitation, changes in or
unavailability of inormation relating to the County. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of any of
such ratigs may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2009 Bonds.

CERTIFICATE CONCERNING OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The County will fursh to the underwters a certcate dated the date of delivery of the Series 2009
Bonds, signed by the County Manager and the County's Director of Finance, and statig that, both as of the
date of this Offcial Statement and the date of delivery of the Series 2009 Bonds, the information of or
pertaig to the County contained in ths Offcial Statement does not contai an untre statement of a material

fact or omit to state a material fact requied to be stated herein or necessar to make such statements, in the
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleadig and that no material adverse change
has occured in the fiancial condition of the County between the date of ths Offcial Statement and the date

of delivery other than as contemplated in ths Offcial Statement. Such certcate wi state, however, that the

County Manager and the Director of Finance did not independently veri the inormation in ths Offcial

Statement indicated as havig been obtained or derived from sources other than the County and its offcers but
that they have no reason to believe that such inormation is not accurate.

CONTINUNG DISCLOSURE

The County has undertaken in its Contiuig Disclosure Certcate, the form of which is attached as
Appendi F to ths Offcial Statement, to comply with the provisions of Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the

Securties and Exchange Commission (the "Rule"), by providig certai anual fiancial inormation and

operatig data and event notices requied by the Rule. Such inormation is to be filed with the Muncipal
Securties Rulemakng Board. In the Contiuig Disclosure Certcate, the County represents that, in the five
previous years, it has not faied to comply in any material respect with any previous undertg in a wrtten
contract or agreement specifed in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of Rule 15c2-12.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Certai legal mattrs relatig to the authoriation and validity of the Series 2009 Bonds are subject to

the approval of Hawki Delafeld & Wood LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel to the County, whose
opinons with respect to the Series 2009 Bonds wil be fushed at the expense of the County upon delivery of
the Series 2009 Bonds. Bond Counel has not prepared ths Offcial Statement and has not veried its
accuracy, completeness, or faiess. Accordigly, Bond Counel wil express no opinon of any kid as to the

Offcial Statement, and the opinions of Bond Counel wil be lited to mattrs relati to the authoriation
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and validity of the Series 2009 Bonds and the treatment of the interest on the Series 2009 Bonds under present
federal and Virginia income tax laws as more fully described under "TAX MATTERS" above.

The proposed forms of opinions of Bond Counsel to the County are set fort as Appendix G to ths

Offcial Statement.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The financial statements of the County of Henrco, Virgina, Water and Sewer Revenue Fund, as of

and for the year ended June 30,2009, included in ths Official Statement as Appendix B have been audited by
KPMG LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report appearg herein.

The auditors have not been requested to consent, nor have they rendered any consent, to the inclusion
of the fiancial statements in ths Offcial Statement, nor have the auditors been engaged to pedorm any
procedures relatig to ths Offcial Statement or the issuance of the Series 2009 Bonds.

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS

The Arbitrage Group, Inc. wi veri certai mathematical computations as to the sufciency

of the moneys and investments deposited under the Refuding Trust Agreement (i) to pay, when due, the
interest on the Subordiate Note from the date the Series 2009A Bonds are issued to the date fixed for the
prepayment of the Subordiate Note and (ii) to pay the pricipal of the Subordinate Note on the date fixed for
the prepayment of the Subordinate Note and, correspondigly, (i) to pay, when due, the interest on the Series
1997 VR Bonds from the date the Series 2009A Bonds are issued to the date fied for the redemption of the
Series 1997 VR Bonds and (ii) to pay the pricipal of the Series 1997 VR Bonds to the date fixed for the
redemption of the Series 1997 VR Bonds. See "PLAN OF REFUNDING" above.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

BB&T Capital Markets, a division of Scott & Strgfellow, LLC, 909 East Mai Street, Richmond,
Virgia 23219, serves as financial advisor to the County on debt management and capita financing matters
and has assisted the County in the issuance and sale of the Series 2009 Bonds.

LITIGATION

The County Attorney advises that there is no litigation pendig or, to the best of his knowledge,
theatened, in any way questionig or afectig the valdity of the Series 2009 Bonds, or the power and

authority of the County to fi and collect rates and charges for the servces, facilities and commodities sold,
fushed or supplied though the System or the power and authority of the County to pledge the Revenues

therefrom to the payment of the pricipal of and interest on the Series 2009 Bonds.

ADDITIONAL INFORMTION

The purose of ths Ofcial Statement is to supply inormation to prospective buyers of the Series

2009 Bonds. Al quotations from and sumares and explanations of laws contaed in this Offcial Statement
do not purort to be complete and reference is made to such laws for fu and complete statements of their
provisions. Any questions concerng the contents of ths Offcial Statement should be diected to the
followig: John A. Vithoulas, Director of Finance, (804) 501-5200; John J. Conrad, Senior Vice President,

BB&T Capita Markets, A Division of Scott & Strgfellow, LLC, (804) 649-3935; or Donald G. Guey,
Hawkis Delafeld & Wood LLP, (212) 820-9438.
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The execution of ths Offcial Statement and its delivery have been duly authorized by the Board of

Supervsors. The County Manager and the Director of Finance of the County deemed the Preliminar Offcial
Statement, dated December 1,2009, fmal as of its date withn the meanng of the Rule.

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIGINIA

Isl VIRGILR. HAZELETT, P.E.
County Manager

Isl JOHN A. VITHOULKA
Director of Finance
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The County of Henrco, Virginia (the "County") is situated in central Virgia and surounds the City
of Richmond (the "City" or "Richmond") on the nort side of the James River. Although much of the

County's 244.06 square mies consists of highly developed urban and suburban areas, there is also a
considerable amount of undeveloped agrcultual and forest land. In Virginia, cities and counties are distinct
unts of governent and do not overlap. Thus, the County is responsible for providig al local governent
servces to its residents. The population of the County was 311,692 for 2009. For a more detailed description
of the County, see Appendix C.

THE SYSTEM

History and Development

Pror to October 1968, water and sewer servces in the more densely populate areas of the County
were provided by santar distrcts. As the County developed and its population increased, the Board of

Supervsors determined that water and sewer services could be provided more economically on a County-wide
basis and that extnsion of and improvements to public water and sewer facilties needed to be made without
regard to santar distrct boundares. In October 1968, the County entered into an agreement with the santar

distrcts in the County, which was supplemented in 1975 (together, the "Unication Agreement"), to provide a
uned County-wide system. Under the Unication Agreement, the County consolidated the water and sewer
facilities of the santar distrcts into a single County-wide system (the "System") and also consolidated the
revenues derived from such water and sewer facilities.

Organization and Administration

The County Deparent of Public Utiities (the "Deparent") is responsible for the operation and
maintenance of the System and for the constrction of additions and improvements thereto. The Deparent is
under the diection of Arur D. Petr, P.E., Director of Public Utities, who reports though the Deputy

County Manager for Communty Operations to the County Manager. For resumes of key offcials, see the
section "COUNY GOVERN - Cert County Staf Members" in Appendi C. As of June 30, 2009,
there were 321 positions in the Deparent for activities diectly relatig to providig water and sewer
servces. The County is prohibited by law from recogng a labor unon as a bargaig agent for any
County employees, and is prohibited from collectively bargaig with any such unon or its agents concerng
any mattr relatig to those employees or their employment with the County.
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In addition to providing water and sewer servce within the County, the Deparent is responsible for
County-operated refuse collection and disposal, the operation of one County-owned santar landfll and the
admnistration of street lighting servce provided to five santar distrcts. As of June 30,2009, there were 74
positions in the Deparent for activities diectly related to solid waste servces. The Deparent accounts for
the receipts and disbursements related to providing these other services separately from revenues and expenses
of the System. Funds for these other servces are segregated from funds of the System. A porton of the
admstrative costs of the Deparent which, as discussed below, are paid from the Water and Sewer System

Revenue Fund is charged to funds established to account for these other servces.

In providing water and sewer servces in the County, the Deparent receives support from other
County deparents. The Deparent (and, therefore, the System) is charged by the County for the actual cost
incured by it, on a pro rata basis, for data processing servces, accountig servces, vehicle maitenance
servces, risk management, offce space, and the use of certai County-owned vehicles. The County has
chosen not to charge the Deparent a payment-in-lieu of taxes for real propert assets of the Water and Sewer
system.

The Deparent does not provide any free water or sewer servce withn the County and all customers,
includig the County governent, are subject to the same schedule of rates and charges.

Properties and Servces

The primar fuctions of the System are water supply, storage and distrbution and wastewater

collection, transmission, treatment and disposal. The System provides servce to approximately 60% of the
geographical area of the County.

The County provides water servce to approxiately 94,900 residential, commercial, and industral
customers. The County also has servce agreements to supply limted amounts of water to Hanover County and
Goochland County. Curently about 40 percent of the County's water supply is purchased from the City of
Richmond. The remaider is supplied by the County's 55 MGD Water Treatment Plant which was completed
in April, 2004.

The County provides wastewater servce to approxiately 91,600 residential, commercial, and
industral customers. The County also has servce agreements to treat a liited quantity of wastewater from
Hanover County, Goochland County, and the City of Richmond. The County operates a 75 MGD state of the
ar wastewater treatment facility. The upgrade and expansion of ths facilty from 45 MGD to 75 MGD was
completed in August, 2005.

The County purchases about 40 percent of its curent water requiements from the City of Richmond
at 40 metering locations around the boundar with the City. The System's water facilties consist of
approxiately 1,515 miles of water distrbution mai, 9 pump stations and storage facilties having a capacity
of approxiately 31 mion gallons.

Wastewater is tranmitted to the County Wastewater Treatment Facilty where it is treated pursuant to
a Virginia Pollutant Discharge Eliination System Permit. Limted volumes of wastewater from the County
contiue to be treated at Richmond's wastewater treatment facilty, and lited volumes of wastewater from
Richmond are treated at the County Wastewater Treatment Facilty under a wastewater agreement that became
effective November i, 1989. Wastewate from Hanover County and Goochland County is treated at the
County Wastewater Treatment Facilty under ageements between the County and Hanover and Goochland
Counties.
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Operations and Maintenance Procedures

The County has implemented modern operation and maintenance procedures with respect to the
System and has undertaken several studies and programs to upgrade System performance. Although the City
tests the water it sells to the County, the County maintais its own laboratory to conduct daily tests of water
quality. The County maintais ongoing educational programs to keep employees of the System aware of new

developments in water and wastewater technology. In addition, all treatment plant operators are requied to
attnd techncal schools and to obtai proper certcation.

Mechancal equipment is maintaied in County-owned shops, and operatig facilities are reguarly
inpected and maintained by System employees. The County is curently involved in a six-year automated
meter readig (AM) and meter replacement project which is described below. Employees of the System
thoughout the County are lied together by a County-owned radio communcation system which is

interlined with the County police and fire deparents. Maitenance of County sewer lines is enhanced by
the use of trcks equipped with high velocity water jets and vans equipped with closed circuit television
cameras which can be maneuvered though the sewer mai to inspect the sewer system. Operation of the
water distrbution and sewage collection and pumping systems is enhanced by use of a modern supervsory
distrbution control and data acquisition (SCADA) system.

Two major projects are underway that wil increase the effciency and effectiveness of the Public
Utiities Deparent. The $17.3 milion Automated Meter Reading (AM) project wil replace approximately
90,000 meters and enable meter reading via radio transmission to a van traveling along the County

neighborhoods. This project will eliate manual meter readig errors, reduce the number of estiated bills
and enable the Deparent to serve additional customers without adding staf. This project is scheduled for
completion in fiscal year 2013, with the majority of the large meters being replaced in fiscal year 2010. Also,
the $2 millon Customer Inormation System (CIS) will replace the curent biling system with the Inty

biling system from Advanced Utity. This system wi integrate with varous other systems such as AMR, the
County cashierig system, and ORACLE financials, and ultimately include interactive voice response (I)
for our customers to be able to get limited inormation on their account without speakg to a representative if
they would lie to use the servce. On July 27, 2009, the County went live on the Advanced Infnity CIS

system. The fial phases of ths project should be complete by June 2010, includig the conversion to Itron
from Radix for meter readig and IV

Rates and Charges

The most recent rate increase, effective July 1, 2008, was approximately a 5% increase in water and
sewer rates. The Board of Supervsors also increased connection fees by approxiately 64% effective
October 1, 2008 based on a cost of servce study. However, in an emergency ordiance, approved

November 25,2008 and made permanent on Janua 13,2009, the Board changed the effective date for the
connection fee increases from October 1, 2008 to Januar 1, 2010 as a mean to stiulate economic
development. Therefore, refunds were issued for all connection fees collected between October 1,2008 and
November 25, 2008 that exceeded the connection fees in effect on September 30, 2008. The tota for these
refuds was $178,780. There were no rate increases approved for fiscal year 2010.

Water and sewer rates are based on a forecast model compiled anualy by the County. Estiates for
fiscal year 2011 are being fialed as of the date of this Offcial Statement, but in the upcoming years revenue
estiates are based on 3- 7% rate increases and an approxiate 1.5% growt in the customer base. A schedule
of rates, fees, and charges effective as of the date of ths Offcial Statement is included in the followig tables.
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WATER AND SEWER RATES
(Effective since July 1, 2008)

SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS

Water and sewer customers are biled every two months and pay both a service charge and a volume
charge for water and sewer services.

Bi-Monthly Servce Charge

Servce Chage for Residences

(5/8" meter)........ ........................... .............. .......... ........ ........... .......................... ...............
(ffwater is not metered there is aj/at charge of$47.90 for sewer service)

Volume Charge

The chage for each hundred cubic feet
CCF(l) of water used................... ............ ...... ........ .......... ..... ........ ................... ...................
If 6 CCF or less .................................................................................................................

COMMRCIA AN INUSTR CUSTOMERS

Bi-Monthly Servce Charge

5/8" Meter........ .................. .... .... ............. ......... ........ .......... .......... ..... .................... ............
1" Meter ...........................................................................................................................
1~" Meter ...... ........ ... ........................ ................. ......... ........... ....................... ............ ........
2" Meter .................... .................... ........ ............... ....... ........ ..... ... .......... ... ... .............. ..... ...
3" Meter. .................... ............ ..... .......... ......... ....... .......... ............. ...... .................... ...........
4" Meter.. ................... ... ......... ............... ....... ........... ......... ............ ... .................... ..............
6" Meter..... ........................ ............. ...... .......... ........ .................................... ... ...................
8" or 1 0" Meter..................................................................................................................

Volume Charge Per CCF

Firt lO,OOO CCF ...............................................................................................................
Next 70,000 CCF ............. ......... ............. .......... ....................... .................. ................. ........
Over 80,000 CCF............................. ................. ........... ......... ....... .............................. ........

Water Sewer

$ 9.80 $ 19.70

Water Sewer

$ 2.25 $ 2.38
1.40 1.46

Water Sewer

$ 9.80 $ 19.70
23.10 32.70
42.50 47.90
65.30 69.10

107.70 116.90
173.00 184.90
341.40 368.20
654.40 630.30

Water Sewer

$ 2.25 $ 2.38
1.53 1.0
1.0 1.53

(1) Hundred cubic feet. One hundred cubic feet is approxitely 748 galons.
(2) Industr customers are subject to surchages for dischage of strong wastes in addition to sewer servce and volume chages

lite above.
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WATER AND SEWER CONNECTION FEES
(Effective since October 1, 2007)

Single Famly Residential with existig

well and/or septic system ............................
Single Famly Residential includig semi-

detached dwellings ......................................
Multi-Famy Residential Apts.,

Townouses, Condos, & Cluster
Homes; Duplexes ........................................

Motel and Hotel...............................................
HospitaL.......................................................... .
Nursing Homes and Dormtones .....................
Facilities providig perment housing for

elderly or hadicapped persons and
operated by chantab1e, non-stock, non-
profit organations which are exempted
by § 501(c)(3) of the Internl Revenue
Code............................................................

All other business, industral & public
buildigs based on meter size

as follows:

5/8" ....................................
1 "........................................

1-1/2.. .................................

2"........................................
3"........................................
4"........................................
6"........................................
8"........................................
lO"......................................

Water Sewer

Connection
Fees

Local
Facilties

Fees(A)
Connection

Fees

Local
Facilties

Fees(B)

$ 860+ $1,355 $1,720+ $2,025

$1,720+ $1,355 $3,465+ $2,025

$2,370 (per unt) (A) $5,225 (per unt) (B)
$815 (perroom) (A) $1,720 (perroom) (B)
$2,525 (per bed) (A) $6,935 (per bed) (B)
$1,080 (per bed) (A) $2,645 (per bed) (B)

$615 (per unt) $1,280 (per unt)(A) (B)

$ 1,720 (A) $ 3,465 (B)
6,155 (A) 13,515 (B)

12,280 (A) 27,050 (B)
24,375 (A) 53,650 (B)
48,760 (A) 107,735 (B)
84,945 (A) 187,980 (Bl

182,465 (A) 401,905 (B)
456,165 (A) 1,004,380 (B)
731,425 (A) 1,612,305 (B)

(A) Local facilties fee wi be due where local facilities are avaible to connector's proper and the costs have not been
previously assessed agait the proper. Ths fee is to be $1,355 for 5/8" meter, $1,560 for 1 ii meter, $2,440 for 1 W' meter
and $2,730 for 2" meter. The Director of Public Utities wi detere ths fee for meter size in excess of 2". Local
facilities are those portons of the County's water and sewer systems which are used to, respectively, delver water to or
collect wastewater from individua users in local areas, subdivisions and developments. Included are local water distbuton
mas and valves, local wastewater collection mas, water serce lines, meter setters, meter boxes, wastewat lateral lies
to the user's premises and fie hydrants.

(B) Local facilties fee is $2,025 for sewer when applicable.
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INSTALLATION CHARGES
(Effective since October 1, 2007)

WATER INSTALLATION CHARGE TABLE
(Not including cost of meter)

METER SIZE SERVICE SIZE INSTALLATION CHGE

5/8"
5/8"
5/8"
1 "

l"
1 "

1-ll2"
l-1/2"
2"

%"
1 "

1-1/2"
1 "

L-L/2"
2"
1-1/2"
2"
2"

$l,355
1,355
1,485
l,355
1,560
1,700
2,440
2,730
2,730

SEWER INSTALLATION CHARGE TABLE

1) 4" or 6" sewer lateral intalation charge = $2,025

2) COUNTY SEWER & WATER MA EXTENSION COSTS:

Sewer. $50 per foot for vacant lot or $25 per foot for existig single family residence, plus
sewer instalation charge for each connection, plus basic connection fee.

Water: $30 per foot for vacant lot or $15 per foot for existig single family residence, plus
water installation charge for each connection, plus basic connection fee.
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WATER AND SEWER CONNECTION FEES
(Effective since January 1,2010)

Single Famly Residential with existig

well and/or septic system ............................
Single Famy Residential includig semi-

detached dwellings ......................................
Multi-Famy Residential Apts.,

Townouses, Condos, & Cluster
Homes; Duplexes ........................................

Motel and Hotel...............................................
HospitaL........................................................... .
Nursing Homes and Dormtories .....................
Facilities providig perment housing for

elderly or hadicapped persons and
operated by chatable, non-stock, non-

profit organations which are exempted
by § 501(c)(3) of the Internl Revenue
Code............................................................

All other business, industral & public
buildigs based on meter size

as follows:

5/8" ....................................
1 "........................................

1-1/2" ................................
2"........................................
3"........................................
4"........................................
6"........................................
8"........................................
lO"......................................

Water Sewer

Connection
Fees

Local
Facilties

Fees(A)
Connection

Fees

Local
Facilties

Fees(B)

$ 1,935+ $2,160 $2,365+ $3,190

$3,870+ $2,160 $4,730+ $3,190

$3,870 (per unt) (A) $4,730 (per unt) (B)
$2,315 (per room) (A) $2,835 (per room) (B)
$5,350 (per bed) (A) $6,540 (per bed) (B)
$3,565 (per bed) (A) $4,360 (per bed) (B)

$1,375 (per unt) $1,680 (per unt)(A) (B)

$ 3,870 (A) $ 4,730 (B)
13,850 (A) 18,460 (B)
27,635 (A) 36,945 (B)
54,855 (A) 73,275 (B)

109,730 (A) 147,140 (B)
191,165 (A) 256,740 (B)
410,630 (A) 548,915 (B)

1,026,580 (A) 1,371,760 (B)
1,646,040 (A) 2,202,050 (B)

(A) Local facilities fee wi be due where local facilties are available to connector's proper and the costs have not been
previously assessed agait the propert. Ths fee is to be $2,160 for 5/8" meter, $2,640 for 1 ii meter, $4,190 for 1 WI meter
and $4,190 for 2" meter. The Director of Public Utities wi detere ths fee for meter size in excess of 2". Local

facilties are those portons of the County's water and sewer systems which are use to, respectively, deliver water to or
collect wastewater from individua users in local aras, subdivisions and developments. Include are local water distbution
ma and valves, local wastewater collection ma, water serce lies, meter setters, mete boxes, wastewater lateral lies
to the user's premises and fie hydrants.

(B) Local facilties fee is $3,190 for sewer when applicable.
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INSTALLA nON CHARGES
(Effective since January 1,2010)

WATER INSTALLA nON CHARGE TABLE
(Not including cost of meter)

METER SIZE SERVICE SIZE INSTALLATION CHGE

5/8"
5/8"
5/8"
I"
I"
I"
1-112"
1 -1/2"
2"

%"
I"
1 -1/2"
I"
1 -1/2"
2"
1 -1/2"
2"
2"

$2,160
2,160
2,640
2,290
2,640
2,640
4,190
4,190
4,190

SEWER INSTALLA nON CHAGE TABLE

1) 4" or 6" sewer lateral installation charge = $3,190

2) COUNTY SEWER & WATERMA EXTENSION COSTS:

Sewer: $50 per foot for vacant lot or $25 per foot for existing single famy residence, plus
sewer intalation charge for each connection, plus basic connection fee.

Water: $30 per foot for vacant lot or $15 per foot for existig single famy residence, plus
water intalation charge for each connection, plus basic connection fee.

Biling and Collection Procedures

The County renders a monthy bil to certai industral accounts for water and sewer servces and to
Hanover County and Goochland County for water and sewer servce. Al other customers of the System are
biled once every two months. If an account remai unpaid 30 days afer the billing date, a notice is mailed to
the customer whose account is deliquent and a late payment fee is imposed on the account. Ten days
thereafter, if the account sti has not been paid, servce may be discontinued by the County. The County is
authoried to enforce the collection of delinquent accounts by judicial proceedigs, if necessar. For the five

fiscal years ended June 30,2009, the Deparent estiates that collection of water and sewer servce charges

averaged 1% of total bilgs durng such period.

Largest Accounts

The followig table lists the 10 largest accounts of the System (excluding Hanover County and
Goochland County, which purchase water and sewer servce from the County on a wholesale basis, and
excludig the County governent) durg the fiscal year ended June 30,2009.
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Customer
Fiscal Year

2009 Billings

% of Total
System Operating

Revenue(l)

Qimonda Richmond, LLC (2)
Mid Atlantic Coca Cola
Parha Road Aparent Association
Forest City Development
Capita Region Aiort Commssion
Crofton Squae Association
Wyeth
Essex Aparents Association
Seven Gables 1580
Chelsea Squae Aparents

Total

$3,440,898
510,346
377,472
348,329
288,039
281,258
261,361
256,777
239,860
227.704

$6,232,043

4.0%
0.6
0.4
0.4
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.3
7.3%

(I) System operatig revenue does not include other revenue.

(2) On Febru 20, 2009, Qionda Richmond, LLC, fùed for banptcy under Chapter 11. It has terted its operations,
which were located in the east par of the County, and is in the process ofliquidatig its assets. The FY20lO-11 budget
for the System wi not anticipate any revenue from th tapayer. See also "Fiscal Yea 2010" below.

Fiscal Year 2010

The County closely monitors the System's fiancial performance, with specific focus on operatig
revenues and expenditues. The curent fiscal year's budget cals for operatig revenues of approxiately
$92.5 million, operating expenses of approxiately $58. i millon, and capital spendig (includig debt

servce) of approxiately $49.2 million. See "WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM CAPITAL
IMROVEMENT PLAN" below. As described above, the County has not budgeted revenues from Qimonda,
the System's largest customer, due to its Februar 20,2009 Chapter i 1 banptcy filig. To help aleviate the
pressure from the closing of Qimonda the majority of a $5.65 mion debt servce saving, resulting from the
Februar 2009 refinancing of $70.4 miion in outstandig debt, was alocated durg FY2009-10 and
FY201 0- 11. As of ths date, the County is expectig that it wi finsh the 2010 fiscal year substantially as
budgeted.

Agreements with the City of Richmond

As mentioned above, the County purchases some of the System's water requiements from the City of
Richmond. Approxiately 60 percent of the County's demand is met by the County's 55 MGD water
treatment facilty which opened in Apri 2004. In FY 2009 the County purchased 7,809,364 ccfs (one ccfis
equal to 100 cubic feet or 748 galons) from the City of Richmond and treated 10,646,498 ccfs at the County's
plant. The City treats a liited quantity of wastewater originatig from the System. Both water supply and

wastewater treatment are provided by the City pursuant to agreements with the County described below.

Water Supply

On September 28, 1994 (effective as of September 29, 1994), the Board of Supervsors approved a
water supply contract (the "Contract") under which the City supplies the County with treated water, which
replaced a contract which was effective July 1, 1985, between the City and the County. The Contract provides
that the City wi supply the County with water from the City's distrbution system at varous points around the
City, and that the County will distrbute the water to the customers of its System. The Contract also provides
that the County may resell the water to customers of the System located outside the County (e.g., Hanover
County and Goochland County). The Contract requies the County to purchase substatialy all of its water
requiements from the City until the Henrco water treatment plant opened, which occured contractualy on
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July 1, 2004. The Contract allowed the County to constrct a water treatment facility to begin operation on or
afer Januar 1, 2003 to meet increased County demands. The County has exercised its option under the
Contract requesting that, afer Januar 1, 2007, the City provide the County up to 35 MGD of capacity.
Pusuant to the Contract, the County must provide the City with an anual projection of its water requirements
for the next 10 years and the City must advise the County within 90 days of any modifications or
improvements to its water system necessar to supply the County's projected requiements. The County must
concur in the makng of any modifcations or improvements if the costs of such modifications or
improvements are to be borne by the County. The Contract provides that the County shall be responsible for
providig water distrbution facilities withn the County and that the County wi maitai water storage and
pumping facilities adequate to provide servce in the County under the Contract.

The volume of water supplied by the City to the County is measured by meters and the City renders a
monthly bil to the County. Charges payable by the County are determed as set fort in the Contract, based
on a mutually agreed upon cost of service study which is updated each year. The Contract is for a term until
July 1, 2040 and, thereafer, until cancelled upon five years' notice by either par. See also the section
"WATER AN SEWER SYSTEM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN.

Wastewater Treatment

Pror to July 1, 1976, wastewater originating in the County was treated by the City pursuant to an

agreement dated July 1, 1968, between the County and the City. Such agreement was to have been effective for
a term of20 years.

Between 1976 and November 1989, the County undertook the development of the Wastewater
Treatment Facility in the County which opened in November 1989. Since then, the County and the City have
operated under the terms of an agreement effective November 1, 1989. Ths agreement provides for the City
to treat limited flows from the County and for the County to treat lited flows from the City. See also the
subsection "Propertes and Servces" located above.

System Statistics

Fiscal Years Ended June 30

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Water:

Number of Customers 88,212 90,015 91,482 94,186 94,886
Mies of Water Mas 1,403.45 1,431.9 1,462.52 1,492.48 1,515.09
Hydrants in Serce 10,412 10,709 11,054 11,442 11,751
Average day flow (mgdi1) 29.4 34.8 34.6 36.5 32.2

Wastewater:
Number of Customers 86,624 88,391 89,790 90,936 91,631
Mies of Sewer Ma 1,345.06 1,364.19 1,390.58 1,414.29 1,432.22
Average day flow (mgdi1) 28.0 28.7 29.6 30.6 28.6

(1) (mgd) mion galonsday. Average daly flow is based on meteed consumption as biled Wastewater flow is basd on
meteed water consumption and calculated as provided by the County ordice for bilg. Calcultion of residenti sewer

bilg is based on a fied chage, plus a volume chage. Additiona alowance is made for increaed consumption of water

in the suner, which is not related to sewer serce.
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SUMMRY OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE SYSTEM

The followig schedule sets fort the revenues and expenses (excluding depreciation and interest

expenses) of the System for the five fiscal years ended June 30, 2009. The financial data for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2005 though June 30, 2009 have been derived from the audited fmancial statements of the
System. The financial data set fort below should be read in conjunction with the financial statements for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2009 and notes thereto and the report on the 2009 financial statements of
independent auditors, which are included as Appendix B.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Operatig Revenues:
Water System ......... ....................... $32,284,332 $38,531,281 $39,931,003 $41,510,963 $41,401,576
Sewer System.......... ........... ...... ..... 36,654,354 40,673,880 40,912,796 43,237,251 44,l49,602
Oter............................................ . 1500248 1.44.585 573.976 755.834 660288

Tota Operatig Revenue.................... $70,438,934 $80,749,746 $81,4l7,775 $85,504,048 $86,211,466
Operatig Expnses

Water System

Sources of Supply ..................... $ 9,898,877 $8,117,248 $6,173,566 $ 8,841,277 $ 9,946,483

Puping and Treatment ............ 5,338,784 6,840,260 6,858,505 7,995,013 7,933,005
Tranmission and Distbution... 3,461,252 4,077,672 3,748,523 4,363,096 4,270,130
Customer Biling and Serces... 931,755 966,376 1,010,517 1,071,969 1,206,707
Genera and Admsttive....... 6.902.677 6.622285 6209.5l1 4.659295 5.064.753

Tota Water System............. $26,533,345 $26,623,841 $24,000,622 $26,930,650 $28,421,078
Sewer System

Treatment and Disposal............. $ 5,502,797 6,106,027 $ 7,300,810 $ 7,911,991 $ 9,026,975

Collection................................ . 2,789,032 2,596,128 2,975,875 3,306,775 3,532,478
Puping... .................. ... ........... 3,566,924 3,486,109 5,170,582 7,936,001 7,418,941
Customer Biling and Serces... 914,983 949,046 991,828 1,034,980 1,165,312
Genera and Admsttive....... 7.004.721 7228.197 6.984288 4.936,918 5,044.534

Tota Sewer System............. $19.778.457 $20365.507 $23.23383 $25.126.665 $26.1 88240
Tota Operatig Expenses .... $4631 1.802 $46.989348 $47.424.005 $52.057315 $54.609318
Net Operatig Revenues ...... $24,127,132 $33,760,398 $33,993,770 $33,446,733 $31,602,148

Non-Operatig Income

Investment Income......... ..... ........... $ 787,816 $ 691,699 $ 5,811,620 $ 4,788,297 $ 1,015,330
Connection Fees (1) ....................... 11,299,505 12,637,681 10,980,755 11,767,586 12,200,151
Miscellaneous............................... . 206.812 174.173 -744.786 -382354 -1225.166

Tota Oter Income................... $12,294,133 $13,503,553 $16,047,589 $16,173,529 $11,990,315
Tota Amounts Available for

Debt Serce....................... $36 42l 265 $47263 951 $50 041 359 $49 620 262 $43 592 463

(1) Connection Fees are not included as "Net Operatig Revenues" for the puises of calculatig debt serce coverage.

Payments in lieu of taes (pnor to FY 2008 when they were e1inted) are subtrcted from expenses an bond payments

made from the general fud are added for puioses of calculatg debt serce coverage. See the section "HITORICAL
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE".

mSTORICAL DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE

As shown on the System's fiancial statements, the System's net operatig revenues were 2.03 ties

the System's anual debt servce requiement for the fiscal year ended June 30,2009 and 1.98 ties, for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. See Note 3 in the fiancial statements attached in Appendi B. There can be
no assurances that the System wi maita simlar debt servce coverage ratios in the futue.
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WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN

The Board of Supervsors anually adopts a Five Year Capital Improvement Plan for the System (the
"CIP"), approving the first year of the CIP for implementation and the remaining four years for planng
puroses. The projects set fort in the CIP provide for extensions of servce by the System and improvements
to the System to upgrade existig servce. The 2009-2010 though 2013-2014 CIP anticipates the following
expenditues, as described in the following subsections:

Fiscal Year Endig June 30 Projected eip Amount

2010
20ll
2012
2013
2014

$ 33,802,600

39,660,343
88,159,592
69,378,454

171.978361
$402,979,350Total

The County expects that net revenues and debt proceeds will fud the CIP, with "pay as you go"

fudig accountig for approximately 50% and with debt accounting for approxiately 50%. It should be

noted that many of the projects and improvements in the CIP are in the plang stages, with cost estiates

that are prelimnar and contracts that have not been awarded. Hence, the overal timing and sizing of the CIP

is subject to change.

Sewer System

In Januar 1977, the County completed a comprehensive study of the County's wastewater treatment
system (the "Wastewater Treatment Study") to evaluate existig facilties and to provide a specifc plan of

development for wastewater tranportation and treatment needs for the County. The study explored varous
alternatives and recommended that the County design and build a regional wastewater transport and treatment
system. In response to that study, the County constrcted the County Wastewater Treatment Facility which
was placed in servce in November 1989. As County wastewater collection and pumping systems were

connected to the County Wastewater Treatment Facilty, wet-weather flows increased significantly due to
inltration and inow ("1&1"). The increased 1&1 resulted in the County enterig into a consent agreement in

June 1993 with the State Water Control Board that requires the County to take certai actions to identi and

mitigate 1&1. . To meet its obligations under the consent agreement, the Board of Supervsors awarded a
contract in Februar 1994 to M.A. Mortenson Company for expansion of the County Wastewater Treatment
Facilty from 30 mgd to 45 mgd and to constrct nutrent removal facilities to meet new permt lits for

phosphorus, amonia and nitrogen. In addition, a contract was awarded for replacement and expanion of
effuent fiters. The fiter replacement and expanion was substantially completed August 19, 1996 and the

expanion and nutrent removal project was substantially completed March 14,1997.

The Water and Wastewater Facilties Plan completed in July 1997 by Montgomery Watson
recmmended expanion of the Wastewater Treatment Facilty (now the Water Reclamation Facilty) to
75 MGD. On Janua 28, 1998, the Board of Supervsors authoried a contract with Hazen & Sawyer to design
improvements and expansion of the Water Reclamation Facilty to 75 MGD. The project was designed and
constrcted in seven phases. The expanion to 75 MGD was complete in August 2005 at a cost of
approxiately $101,000,000. As par of the expanion project the Water Reclamation Facilty wi meet the
curent nutrent requiements of the Chesapeake Bay Act. The curent major facilty constrction project
which began in fiscal year 2007 and should be completed in fiscal year 2011 for $21.0 mion will alow the
facility to meet the futue requiements of the Chesapeake Bay Act.
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The County entered into a second consent order in Januar 2003 with the State Water Control Board
that requied the County to submit certai manuals and reports relatig to the operation of the wastewater
collection and treatment systems as well as settng a completion schedule for 30 Inltration and Infow
removal projects. Al manuals and reports have been submitted and all projects are on schedule.

In March 2005, the consent order was amended to set the completion of the Water Reclamation
Facility expansion to 75 MGD on or by August 15, 2005 and to set a schedule for the completion of the
Fourile Creek Tru Sewer Rehabilitation Project. The Project schedule has been set from Apri 1, 2007 to
August 1,2015 and remais on schedule.

Water System

The County's decision to buid the Water Treatment Facility began in August 1987, when a
comprehensive study of the County's water system (the "Comprehensive Water Study") was completed by
Wiley & Wilson, consultig engineers for the County. The Comprehensive Water Study evaluated existing
facilties for water supply, storage and distrbution, including an updating of a model for use in evaluatig the
County's existing facilities and projecting the need for futue improvements.

The Comprehensive Water Study recommended that the County constrct a water treatment facility to
meet the long-term needs of the County. In 1988, the Board of Supervsors approved inclusion of the Water
Treatment Facility in the CIP and in June 1988, the County submitted an application for the requied permts
from the U.S. Ary Corps of Engieers (the "Corps of Engineers") and State Water Control Board to
constrct a water supply intake strctue and to withdraw water from the James River for treatment at the

Water Treatment Facility. The Board of Supervsors approved a contract with Camp, Dresser & McKee,
consulting engineers, to perform studies and design the Water Treatment Facilty and to conduct an Instream
Flow, Incremental Methodology Study of the James River as par of the Corps of Engineers' permt review

process. That study was completed in September 1991 and an envionmental report was completed in Januar
1994. The Corps of Engineers prepared an envionmental impact statement and issued the requied permt for

the water supply intake strctue in the James River on October 18, 1996.

The Water Treatment Facilty was completed in April 2004. The total cost of the plant and al related
inastrctue was $185,000,000. Anual operatig and maitenance costs are budgeted at approxiately
$8,200,000 for fiscal year 2010. Since the plant starp, the facility has met al State and Federal requiements.

The next expansion ofthe Water Treatment Facilty to 80 MGD is planed for fiscal years 2018 at a
cost of approximately $10,350,000.
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- KPMG LLP
Suite 2000
1021 East Cary Street
Richmond, VA 23219-4023

Independent Auditors' Report

The Honorable Members ofthe Board of Supervisors
County of Henrico, Virginia:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of the Water and Sewer Fund (the Fund) of the County
of Henrico, Virginia as of June 30, 2009, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in
fund net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibilty of
the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note i to the financial statements, the financial statements present only the Fund and do
not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the County of Henrico, Virginia as of
June 30, 2009, the changes in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the year then
ended in conformity with U:S. generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Water and Sewer Revenue Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia as of June 30,
2009, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 2 through 8 and the schedule of
fuding progress on page 22 are not a required par of the basic financial statements, but are supplementar
information required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. We have applied certain limited
procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement
and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information
and express no opinion on it.

KPM.G- LCP

November 23, 2009

KPMG LLP. a u.s. limited liability partnership, is the U.S.
member firm of KPMG Internatronal, a Swiss cooperative.



COUNTY OF HENRCO, VIGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia)

Management's Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2009

The following discussion and analysis of the County of Henrco, Virginia (the County) Water and Sewer
Revenue Fund's (the Fund) financial performance provides an overview of the Fund's financial activities for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. Please read it in conjunction with the Fund's financial statements, which follow
this section.

Financial Highlights for FY 2009

The Fund's Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets reported net income of
$24.9 milion in Fiscal Year 2009 (FY 2009) compared to net income of $37.6 milion in Fiscal Year 2008 (FY
2008).

The Fund's total net capital assets were $1,036.0 milion at June 30, 2009, compared to $1,000.1 millon at
June 30, 2008. The Fund's net assets were $977.0 milion as of June 30, 2009, up from $952.1 milion at June 30,
2008.

Overview ofthe Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Fund's basic financial statements. The
Fund's basic financial statements are comprised of three statements and the notes to the financial statements: (1)
balance sheet; (2) statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net assets; and (3) statement of cash
flows.

The balance sheet presents information on all of the Fund's assets and liabilities, with the difference between the
two reported as net assets. The Fund's net assets are one way to measure the Fund's financial health, or financial
position. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a I.seful indicator of whether the financial
position of the Fund is improving or deteriorating. Nonfinancial factors also need to be considered when
evaluating the Fund's financial condition, such as the condition of the Fund's infrastructure, potential for growth
of the customer base, and the stabilty of the local economy.

The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net assets presents information on revenues, expenses,
and how the Fund's net assets changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported
as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the changes occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash
flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in the statement for some items that wil only result in cash
flows in future fiscal periods. The increase or decrease in net assets may serve as an indicator of the effect of the
Fund's current-year operations on its financial position.

The statement of cash flows summarizes all of the Fund's cash flows into three categories: cash flows from
operating activities; cash flows from capital and related financing activities; and cash flows from investing
activities. The statement of cash flows, along with the related notes and information in the other financial
statements, can be useful in assessing the following:

· The Fund's ability to generate future cash flows,

· The Fund's abilty to pay its debt as it matures,

· Reasons for the difference between the Fund's operating cash flows and operating income, and

2 (Continued)



COUNTY OF HENRCO, VffGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrco, Virginia)

Management's Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2009

. The effect on the Fund's financial position from cash and noncash transactions from investing, capital, and

financing activities.

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the
data provided in the financial statements.

Financial Analysis ofthe Water and Sewer Fund

The following table reflects the condensed balance sheet for the Fund as of June 30, 2009 and 2008 (in millons):

2009 2008 Change Change

112.9 132.4 (19.5) (14.7)%
32.9 35.4 (2.5) (7.1 )

1,036.0 1,000.1 35.9 3.6
8.1 7.8 0.3 3.9

1,189.9 1,175.7 l4.2 1.2%

17.8 20.6 (2.8) (13.6)%
16.6 17.9 (1.) (7.3)

178.5 185.1 (6.6) (3.6)

212.9 223.6 (10.7) (4.8)

Current assets
Restricted assets
Capital assets
Other assets

$

Total assets $

$Current liabilties
Deferred revenues

Long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Fund net assets:
Invested capital assets-net

of related debt
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total liabilties and
net assets

883.4 861.8 21.6 2.5
15.1 15.7 (0.6) (3.8)
78.5 74.6 3.9 5.2

977.0 952.1 24.9 2.6

$ 1,189.9 1,175.7 14.2 1.2%

Total net assets

The Fund's total net assets increased to $977.0 millon from $952.1 milion as a result of net income of
$24.9 milion comprised mainly of: $4.6 milion from operations, $12.2 millon from connection fees,
$12.4 milion from donated infrastructure assets, $1.0 milion from investment income, and $1.0 milion debt
service contribution.

3 (Continued)



COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An :tnterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia)

Management's Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2009

The following table shows the revenues and expenses of the Fund's activities for the years ended June 30, 2009
and 2008 (in milions):

2009 2008 Change Change

Revenues:
Operating revenues:

Water system

Sewer system

Other
Nonoperating income:

Connection fees
Donated assets
Debt service contributions
Investment income

$ 41.4 41. (0.1) 0.2%
44.1 43.2 0.9 2.1

0.7 0.8 (0.1) (12.5)

12.2 11.8 0.4 3.4
12.4 19.5 (7.1) (36.4)

1.0 1.2 (0.2) (16.7)
1.0 4.8 (3.8) 79.0

112.8 122.8 (10.0) (100.0)

28.4 27.1 1. 4.8
26.2 25.0 1.2 4.8
27.0 25.6 1.4 5.5

5.1 7.1 (2.0) (28.2)
1. 0.4 0.8 200.0

87.9 85.2 2.7 3.2

24.9 37.6 $ (12.7) 33.8%

952.1 914.5

977.0 952.1

Total revenues

Expenses:
Water systèm operating expenses
Sewer system operating expenses
Depreciation expense
Interest expense, net of capitalized

interest
Other

Total expenses

Change in net assets

Net assets at July 1.

Nt:t asst:s at J UlIt: 30 $

Revenues

For FY 2009, operating revenues from the sale of water and sewer services totaled $86.2 milion. This is an
increase in water and sewer operating revenues of $700,000, or approximately 1 %, from FY 2008. Revenues
have remained fairly flat for FY 2009 given a 5% rate increase over the prior year. The loss of revenues for
Qimonda, when it fied for banuptcy protection, as a major customer and a tight economy contrihuted to this
minimal decrease in revenues. Also, a wet winter and spring further decreased revenues for FY 2009.

FY 2009 nonoperating income was $26.6 milion, a decrease of $10.7 milion, or 29%. This decrease is mainly
due to a $7.1 milion decrease in donated infrastructure assets due to the slow down in residential and
commercial construction as a result of the downturn in the economy over the last fiscal year. The remainder of
the decrease is due to the $3.8 milion decrease in investment income due to a reduction in the income earned on
unexpended bond proceeds, since more of proceeds have been spent on capital projects during ihis fiscal year.

4 (Continued)



COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund ofthe County of Henrco, Virginia)

Management's Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2009

Expenses

For FY 2009, expenses totaled $87.9 milion, a $2.7 milion, or 3.2% increase from the prior fiscal year. The
majority of this increase is due to an increase in chemical costs for the water treatment plant and general inflation
on all line items. Also, the water from the City of Richmond (the City) continues to increase in cost based on
peaks and the City not having someone to purchase its excess capacity.

Budgetary Analysis ofthe Water and Sewer Revenue Fund

For FY 2009, the Fund rellects a tutal 1"wiù net assel balarice of $977.0 millon. Included in the fund net asset
balance of $977.0 milion are $24.9 milion of revenues in excess of expenses. The primar reason for the Fund's
increase in fund net asset balance mirrors those highlighted in the financial analysis:

Water and Sewer Revenue Fund Budget

Original* Revised
(In milions)

Actual

Revenues:
Water system operating revenues
Sewer system operating revenues
Other operating revenues
Nonoperating income

Total revenues

$ 41.8
42.7

3.1
18.1

105.7

41.8
42.7

3.1
18.1

105.7

41.4
44.1

0.7
25.4

1 i 1.6

Expenses: .
Operating expenses
Depreciation
Interest expense, net of capitalized

interest

53.8 57.5 54.6
27.0

Total expenses

Change in net assets $

18.1

71.9

33.~

16.0

73.5

32.2

5.1

86.7

24.9

* Donated assets are not budgeted in revenues; however, they are included in actual revenues. The entire
debt service payment including principal is budgeted in expenses; however, only interest expense less
capitalized interest costs were included in the actual expenses. Also, the Fund does not budget for
depreciation but it is included in the actual expenses.

5 (Continued)



COUNTY OF HENRCO, VIGIN
WATER AND SEWER REVENU FUN

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia)

Management's Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2009

Water and Sewer Revenue Fund Budgetary Highlights

Revenue and other income exceeded expenditures by $24.9 millon for FY 2009. Actual Fund revenues exceeded
original budgeted revenues by $5.9 millon during FY 2009. This increase is attibutable in par to development,
resulting in $12.4 millon in donated assets. The Fund does not budget for donated assets as they are noncash
transactions. This revenue was offset by a $3.7 milion reduction in connection fees due to a decline in
constrction and the rolling back of connection fees to the 2008 rates. Actual operating revenues were more than
the original budget by $2.7 milion, which was due to a slight increase in sewer revenue due to a 5% rate
increase. This was offset by less growth than budgeted. Actual growth was less than 1 % whereas budgeted
growth was 1.5%. Other operating revenue was less than budgeted due to actual interest rates being lower than
budgeted, and a $1.0 milion arbitrage payment on the 1999 Bonds. Actual FY 2009 operating expenses were
$800,000 more than the original FY 2009 budget. This is due to the cost of water purchased from the City and
the chemicals to treat the Henrico sewage that is sent to Goochland to be treated were up $2.4 milion. Finally,
interest was approximately $1,400,000 less than budgeted due to the interest rate on the variable rate bonds and
the 2009 refunding.

During FY 2009, the County's Board of Supervisors amended the budget once. This budget amendment was to
reestablish available funds carried forward from the prior fiscal year.

Capital Assets

At the end ofFY 2009, the Fund had net capital assets totaling $1,036.0 milion, which represents a net increase
of $35.9 milion or 3.6% over the FY 2008 balance. The majority of this increase is due to capital spending on
construction projects, some of which were completed during the year while others are stil in construction in
progress. The FY 2009 net additions to capital assets, including capitalized interest costs, totaled $35.9 millon
and included improvements to pump stations, construction of mains and basins, and water and sewer
rehabilitation. The Fund recognized $12.4 milion in donated infrastructure from developers who donated their
water and sewer assets to the utilty after completion of their construction projects. The increase in accumulated
depreciation is a result of depreciation expense offset by retirements. For more detailed information on the
Fund's capital assets, see note 2 to the financial statements.

6 (Continued)



COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrco, Virginia)

Management's Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2009

The following table shows a summar of the changes in capital assets during FY 2009 (in milions):

Balance Balance
June 30, 2008 Change June 30, 2009

16.7 0.2 16.9
64.1 26.9 91.0

318.0 3.5 321.5
815.0 27.8 842.8
108.4 2.5 110.9

1.4 1.4
(323.5) (25.0) (348.5)

1,000.1 35.9 1,036.0

Nondepreciable assets:
Land
Construction in progress

Depreciable capital assets:
Building
Infrastructure
Equipment
Improvements other than buildings
Accumulated depreciation

Total

$

$

Long-Term Debt and Restriction on Resources

At the end ofFY 2009, the Fund had total revenue bonds payable outstanding of$181A milion.

On February 19,2009, the County issued $70,360,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund the entire
outstanding balance of the 1999 bond series. The interest rate on these bonds is between 2.25% and 5% and the
final maturity wil occur on May 1,2028. The principal payments range from $315,000 to $5,065,000. Although
the advance refunding resulted in the recognition of an accounting gain of $2, 150,208 for the year ended June 30,
2009, the Fund reduced its aggregate debt service payments by $5,649,738 over the next 20 years and obtained
an economic gain (difference between the present value of the old and new debt service payments) of
$4,144,487.

The Fund's revenue is pledged as collateral for components of its long-term debt, including the 2009 Refunding
Issue, the 2006 Revenue and Refunding Issue, the 2002 Refunding Issue, and the 1997 Revenue Issue,
(collectively, the Bonds).

The covenants of the Bonds require that in each year the net operating revenues of the Fund be at least equal to
1.25 times the debt service requirement for the year. In addition, the covenants prohibit the County from issuing
any bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness, or other evidence of indebtedness having in any way a lien and
charge on the revenues of the water and sewer system prior to the lien and charge created by the covenants for
the payment of and collateral for the outstanding Bonds.

Also, the interest due on the Bonds as of July 1, 2009 has been accrued as of June 30, 2009, as required by the
related covenants. Cash has been restricted for these accruals. In addition, net assets have been restrcted, and
equity in County cash and cash equivalents has been restricted in an amount equal to the maximum annual debt
service requirements for the Bonds. See note 3 to the financial statements for more information concerning the
Fund's long-term debt.

7 (Continued)



COUNTY OF HENRCO, VffGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund ofthe County of Henrico, Virginia)

Management's Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2009

Economic Factors

In the last five years, the Fund has added approximately 8,500 water and 6,800 sewer customers with the total
water and sewer customers being just under 94,900 and 91,700, respectively, as of June 30, 2009. Most of this
gain is attibutable to residential customers. Growth in customers for FY2009 was less than one percent which is
low compared to the previous increases of approximately 2%-3% anually. This is a result of the decline in
residential and commercial growt and development in the County that is further reflected in the decrease in
connection fee revenue and donated assets, which have occurred as a result of the slow down in the economy that
started in fiscal year 2008 and has continued into this fiscal year.

Contacting the Fund's Financial Management

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a
general overview of the Fund's finances and to demonstrate the Fund's accountabilty for the revenues it collects.
Questions concerning this report or requests for additional financial information should be directed to the
Director of Public Utilities, P.O. Box 27032, Henrico, VA 23273-7032.
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Hemico, Virginia)

Balance Sheet

June 30, 2009

Assets

Current assets:
Equity in county cash and cash equivalents

Accounts and notes receivable:
Water and sewer
Due from other County funds
Other
Less allowance for doubtful accounts and notes

Net accounts and notes receivable

Inventory - materials and supplies

Prepaids

Total current assets

Restricted assets:
Equity in County cash and cash equivalents restricted for:

Maximum annual debt service
Long-term debt principal - current portion
Long-term debt interest
Cash held by custodian
Cash held by trustee

Total restricted assets

Capital assets (see note 2):
Depreciable capital assets:

Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Infrastructure
Equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

Net depreciable capital assets

Construction in progress
Land

Total capital assets

Other assets:
Capacity rights, net
Miscellaneous - other assets

Total other assets, net

Total assets

9

$ 86,679,593

17,718,028
5,771,393
1,876,135
(283,900)

25,081,656

1,103,877
20,000

112,885,126

15,129,150
5,845,000

723,758
9,887,015
1,320,417

32,905,340

321,534,655
1,426,652

842,830, ILL
110,843,162

(348,557,178)

928,077,402

90,981,728
16,922,813

1,035,981,943

5,163,393
2,979,351

8,142,744

$ 1,189,915,153

(Continued)



COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGIN
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund ofthe County of Henrico, Virginia)

Balance Sheet

June 30, 2009

Liabilties and Fund Net Assets

Curent liabilties payable from current assets:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deposits payable
Arbitrage liabilty
Accrued compensated absences - current portion

Total current liabilties payable from current assets

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Long-term debt - current portion
Accrued interest payable
Capital lease obligation - current portion

Total current liabilties payable from restricted assets

Deferred revenue

Other long-term liabilities:
Pension liability - noncurrent portion

Long-term debt - noncurrent portion
Plus unamortized bond premium, net

Net long-term debt

Total liabilities

Fund net assets:
Invested in capital assets - net of related debt
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$ 7,581,964
1,032,137

704,712
1,086,180

10,404,993

6,640,000
723,758

2,729

7,366,487

16,584,198

232,003

174,765,000
3,536,553

178,301,553

212,889,234

883,366,202
15,129,150
78,530,567

977,025,919

$ 1,189,915,153



COUNTY OF HENRCO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrco, Virginia)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets

Year ended June 30, 2009

Operating revenues:

Water system

Sewer system

Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:

Water system:
Source of supply
Pumping and treatment
Transmission and distribution
Customer bilings and services
General and administrative

Total water system operating expenses

Sewer system:
Treatment and disposal
Collection
Pumping
Customer bilings and services
General and administrative

Total sewer system operating expenses

Operating income before depreciation expense

Depreciation expense

Operating income

Nonoperating income/(expense):
Connection fees
Donated assets
Debt service contribution
Investment income
Other expense

Total nonoperating income, net

Income before interest expense

Interest expense - net of capitalized interest

Change in net assets

Net assets - July 1,2008

Net assets - June 30, 2009

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$ 41,401,576
44,149,602

660,288

86,211,466

9,946,483
7,933,005
4,270,130
1,206,707
5,064,753

28,421,078

9,026,975
3,532,478
7,418,941
1,165,312
5,044,534

26,188,240

31,602,148

26,952,909

4,649,239

12,200,151
12,428,346

982,601
1,015,330

(I ,225,166)

25,401,262

30,050,501

5,126,001

24,924,500

952,101,419

$ 977,025,919



COUNTY OF HENRCO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County ofHemico, Virginia)

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended June 30, 2009

Operating activities:
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Net cash provided by operating activities

Capital and related financing activities:
Interest payments
Proceeds from issuance of bonds
Principal payments
Debt service payments by County General FUnd
Contractors - connection fees

Purchase of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Principal payments on capital lease obligation
Grant funds

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities

Investing activities - investment income received

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents - begining of year

Total cash and cash equivalents - end of year

Reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet:
Equity in County cash and cash equivalents
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total equity in County cash and cash equivalents

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense
Increase in accounts and notes receivable
Increase in inventory
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase in deposits payable
Increase in accrued compensated absences
Decrease in deferred revenues

Net cash provided by operating activities

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and capital and related financing activities:
The Water and Sewer Revenue Fund received donated assets in the fonn of water and
sewer infrastrctue provided by developers of new subdivisions throughout the County.

The value of these capital assets and others received for the year ended June 30, 2009 was
$12,428,346. The amount of interest costs capitalized for the year ended June 30, 2009
was $2,176,705.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$ 83,913,675
(36,361,634)
(19,856,587)

27,695,454

(7,337,533)
71,965,000

(80,632,079)
982,601

12,200,151
(49,504,373)

34,139
(4,989)
35,395

(52,261,688)

1,015,330

(23,550,904)

143,135,837

$ 119,584,933

$ 86,679,593
32,905,340

$ 119,584,933

$ 4,649,239

26,952,909
(1,346,952)

(148,966)
(1,558,096)

396,595
56,418

(1,305,693)

27,695,454$



COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

(1) Summary of Signifcant Accounting Policies

Fund Structure and Purpose - The Water and Sewer Revenue Fund (the Fund) of the County of Henrico,
Virginia (the County) is accounted for as an enterprise fund. Enterprise funds account for operations that
are financed and operated in a maner similar to private business enterprises. The intent of the Fund is that
the cost of providing services wil be financed or recovered through charges to users of such services. The
accrual basis of accounting is used for the enterprise fund. Under the accrual method, revenues are
recognized in the accounting period in which they are eared, while expenses are recognized in the

accounting period in which the related liabilty is incurred. The purpose of this fud is to account for the
construction, operations, and maintenance of the County-owned water and wastewater utilty.

Capital Assets and Depreciation - Capital assets are recorded at cost or estimated historical cost, net of
accumulated depreciation. Cost of capital assets at the creation of the Fund was determined by an appraisal
firm based on original documents when, such documents were available, and an appraised value adjusted
for price levels at the date of purchase of the paricular asset involved, when original documents were not
available. Capital asset additions since that date have been recorded at original cost. Capital asset additions
received through gifts or contributions are recorded at their estimated fair value at date of receipt. When
capital assets are sold or retired, their cost and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and any gains or losses are reflected in the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund
net assets. Depreciation expense is determined using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets (ranging from 4 to 65 years). The Fund's capitalization threshold is $5,000 for land and
equipment and $50,000 for buildings, improvements, and infrastructure.

Inventory - Materials and Supplies - Materials and supplies inventory consists mainly of supplies held for

consumption, which are costed by methods that approximate average cost.

Equity in Cash and Cash Equivalents - Certain cash balances of the Fund are pooled and invested with
other County funds. Substantially all cash and cash equivalents represent investments in securities
guaranteed by a United States government agency, baners' acceptances, certificates of deposit,
commercial paper, and repurchase agreements, which have maturities of 90 days or less, which in
accordance with Governental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No.3 i, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools, are stated at amortized
cost, which approximates fair value. Disclosures in accordance with GASB Statement No.3, Deposits with
Financial Institutions, Investments (including Repurchase Agreements) and Reverse Repurchase
Agreements, and GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosurse - an amendment of
GASB Statement No. 14, are included in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the County.

In accordance with GASB Statement No.9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable

Trust Funds and Governmental Entites That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, a statement of cash flows
has been presented for the Fund. For purposes of this statement, restricted cash, which meets the definition
of cash and cash equivalents as noted above, has been included.

Equity in cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments that are both
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have original maturities of 90 days or less.
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June 30, 2009

Other Assets - During FY 2006, the Fund purchased capacity in the Goochland Force Main and Pump
Station. The carring amount as of June 30, 2009 was $5,836,660, less $673,267 of accumulated

amortization. The underlying assets are owned by the County of Goochland and the Fund has purchased
the rights to a certain capacity based on an agreement dated June 11, 2002 that is in effect until June 30,
2032.

Interest - In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (F ASB) Statement No. 62,

Capitalization 0/ Interest Cost in Situations Involving Certain Tax-Exempt Borrowings and Certain Gifs
and Grants, the cost of properties for the Fund includes net interest costs on funds borrowed to finance the
acquisition or construction of major facilties. These costs are capitalized during the period of construction

only. The Fund incured interest expense of$7,302,706 in 2009, of which $2,176,705 was capitalized.

Unamortized Bond Discounts/Issuance Costs - Bond discounts and certain issuance costs, presented as
Other Assets in the accompanying Balance Sheet, are deferred and amortized as a component of interest
expense using the interest method over the terms of the related issues.

Accrued Compensated Absences - Annual leave is granted to all permanent County employees. County
employees can earn anual leave at the rate of 4 hours for every 80 standard hours worked up to a
maximum of 7 hours for every 80 standard hours after 20 years of service. While there is no requirement
that anual leave be taken, the maximum permissible accumulation is 364 hours for County employees.

Accumulated anual leave vests, and the County is obligated to make payment even if the employee
terminates. The liabilty for unused and unpaid annual leave attributable to the Fund is charged to expense
and the corresponding liabilty established in the Fund.

County employees can earn sick leave at the rate of 4 hours for every 80 standard hours worked. Sick leave
is nonvesting, with the exception of employees retiring from County service. Retiring employees are

vested at a rate of $2.50 for every hour of sick leave eared with a maximum payment of $5,000. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences, the liabilty has been
estimated using the termination payment method.

Deferred Revenue - This balance represents advance payments from current customers for future capacity
to be used of the water reclamation facility and the water treatment plant.

Connection Fees - All new customers connecting to the Fund's water and wastewater system are required
by code to pay connection fees and local facilities fees before being connected to the system. These fees
cover the cost of water and wastewater facilties to serve new customers, as well as future repairs and
maintenance on these facilties. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial
Reporting/or Nonexchange Transactions, these fees are recorded as nonoperating income.
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GASB Statement No. 20 Election - GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, requires
proprietar activities to apply all applicable GASB pronouncements as well as Financial Accounting
Standards Board (F ASB) pronouncements, Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and Accounting
Research Bulletins issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless these pronouncements conflct with or
contradict GASB pronouncements. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 20, management has elected
not to apply FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989.

Inspection and Engineering Costs Certain inspection and engineering costs related to private
development have been capitalized by the Fund in order to account for these costs in the same maner as
the private development assets contributed to the County. The costs are capitalized based on an hourly rate
for time spent by County employees on these projects. For the year ended June 30, 2009, the amount
capitalized approximated $1,871,000.

Revenues - The Fund's operating revenues include charges for water and sewer services. All revenues not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating income.

Expenses - The Fund's operating expenses include all expenses for providing water and sewer services to
its customers. Examples of nonoperating expenses are depreciation, amortization, interest and any losses
on the sale of capital assets.

New Accounting Pronouncement - The Fund adopted GASB Statement No. 49, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations, in fiscal year 2009. This Statement provides
guidance on how to calculate and report the costs and obligations associated with pollution cleanup efforts.
The adoption of GASB Statement No. 49 had no material impact on the Fund's financial statements or
disclosures for the year ended June 30, 2009.

Estimates - The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted

accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilties and disclosures of commitments and contingencies at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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(2) Capital Assets

A summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2009 follows:

Balance Balance
June 30, 2008 Increases Decreases June 30,2009

Nondepreciable capital assets:
Land $ 16,643,887 278,926 16,922,813
Constrction in progress 64,075,099 51,169,638 (24,263,009) 90,981,728

Depreciable capital assets:
Buildings 318,029,558 3,505,097 321,534,655
Equipment 108,408,812 3,842,557 (1,408,207) 110,843,162
Improvements other than buildings 1,426,652 1,426,652
Infrastructure 814,999,456 29,576,215 (1,745,560) 842,830,111

Total capital assets 1,323,583,464 88,372,433 (27,416,776) 1,384,539,121

Accumulated depreciation (323,489,813) (26,952,909 ) 1,885,544 (348,557,178)

Total - net of
accumulated

depreciation $ 1,000,093,651 61,419,524 (25,531,232) 1,035,981,943
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(3) Long-Term J)ebt

A summary of changes in long-term debt for fiscal 2009 and the individual components of long-term debt
at June 30, 2009, follows:

Balance Refunding Balance
June 30, 2008 issuances Payments June 30, 2009

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds:
1997 Revenue Issue, $32,000,000

variable rate $ 26,310,000 (755,000) 25,555,000
1999 Revenue Issue, refunding

and new money $101,000,000
3.1%to 5.25% 76,210,000 (71,965,000) (4,245,000)

2002 Refunding Issue,
$17,345,000,3.0% to 4.625% 6,685,000 (1,445,000) 5,240,000

2006 Revenue Issue, refunding
and new money
$86,265,000,4.25% to 5.00% 82,485,000 (1,920,000) 80,565,000

2009 Refunding Issue, $70,360,000
2.25% to 5.0% 70,360,000 (315,000) 70,045,000

Total bonds 191,690,000 $ (1,605,000) (8,680,000) 181,405,000

Premium on debt issued 1,538,758 $ 2,150,208 (152,413) 3,536,553
Current portion oflong-term debt

payable from restricted assets (8,365,000) (6,640,000)

$ 184,863,758 $ 178,301,553

Balance Balance Balance due
June 30, 2008 Additions Retirements June30,2oo9 within one year

Other liabilities:
Accred compensated absences $ l,029,761 56,419 l,086,180 1,086,180
Pension liability 231,543 460 232,003
Capital lease obligation 7,718 (4,989) 2,729 2,729

On Februar 19,2009, the County issued $70,360,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund the
entire outstanding balance ofthe Series 1999 Bonds. The interest rate on these bonds is between 2.25% and
5% and the final maturity wil occur on May 1, 2028. The principal payments range from $315,000 to

$5,065,000. Although the advance refunding resulted in the recognition of an accounting gain of
$2,150,208 for the year ended June 30, 3009, the Fund reduced its aggregate debt service payments by
$5,649,738 over the next 20 years and obtained an economic gain (difference between the present value of
the old and new debt service payments) of $4, 1 44,487.
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On July 6, 2009, the County sold Revenue Bonds Series 2006A $81,470,000 of new money Bonds and
Series 2006B $4,795,000 of refunding Bonds. Series 2006B refunded the County's then outstanding Series
1994 Bonds. The proceeds of the Bonds were used to finance capital additions and extensions to the Water
and Sewer System. The Bonds mature on May 1st in each of the years 2007 through 2036.

The Fund issued debt to refund existing issues and for construction of capital assets. The 2002 and 2009
bonds were Refunding Issues. The 1997 and 1999 Revenue Issues were for the construction of a new water
treatment plant, including the raw water pump station and intake and transmission mains leading from the
plant to the distribution system. The funds were also used to fund the project to expand the capacity of the
water reclamation facilty and to constrct the facilties to provide water and wastewater service to an

industrial development site in the eastern part of the County.

De/eased Debt - In prior years, the County defeased certain Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds by placing
the proceeds of new bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old
bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the
Fund's financial statements. At June 30, 2009, $32,990,000 of Water and Sewer System Revenue and
Refunding Bonds, which were considered defeased in prior years, remained outstanding.

Variable Rate Debt - The variable rate on the 1997 Bonds shall be determined by the Remarketing Agent.
The Variable Rate wil be equal to the minimum rate that, in the judgment of the Remarketing Agent,
takng into account prevailng market conditions, would enable the Remarketing Agent to sell all of the
1997 Bonds on the Adjustment Date at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest,
if any, thereon. The Variable Rate shall be determined by the Remarketing Agent in its sole discretion
based on prevailing market cQnditions and may, but need not, be established by reference to one or more
recognized financial indices. As of June 30, 2009, the rate in effect on these Bonds was 2.5%.

Debt Service and Covenants - The Fund's revenue is pledged as collateral for the 2009 Refunding Issue,
the 2006 Revenue and Refunding Issue, the 2002 Refunding Issue, and the 1997 Revenue Issue,
(collectively, the Bonds).

The General Fund of the County has assumed responsibility of certain project costs and is obligated to pay
debt service in the amount of $23,10 1 ,314 or 72.1 9% of the $32 milion revenue bond issue. The General
Fund transferred $982,601 to the Fund during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, to cover its portion of
the debt service requirements. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, these transfers were recorded as other nonoperating income by
the Fund and as an expenditure in the County's General Fund.

The covenants of the Bonds require that in each year the net operating revenues of the Fund, as defined by
the covenants, which in the opinion of Bond Counsel do not include depreciation expense or payments in
lieu of taxes as an expense, be at least equal to 1.25 times the debt service requirements for the year

(principal and interest on the Bonds and interest on any outstanding Bond Anticipation Notes). In addition,
the covenants prohibit the County from issuing any bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness, or other
evidences of indebtedness having in any way a lien and charge on the revenues of the Water and Sewer
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System pnor to the lien and charge created by the covenants for the payment of and collateral for the
outstanding Bonds.

The Fund may issue additional bonds payable which may be collateralized equally with the outstanding
Bonds for any purpose connected with or pertaining to the Fund, upon compliance with the following
conditions, among others:

· One-half of the net operating revenues of the Fund, as defined during any 24 consecutive months out
of the 30 months immediately preceding the issuance of the additional bonds, shall have been not
less tlian 1.25 times the maximum annual debt service requirement on all bonds then outstanding and
the proposed additional bonds; and

· The net operating revenues of the Fund, as defined during the first full fiscal year following the date
upon which the project or undertaking for which the proposed additional bonds are being issued is
anticipated to be completed, shall be estimated by a nationally recognized consulting engineer to be
not less than 1.25 times the maximum anual debt service requirement on account of all bonds then
outstanding and the proposed additional bonds.

Net operating revenues were 2.03 times the annual debt service requirement for the year ended June 30,
2009.

Also, the interest due on the Bonds as of July 1,2009 has been accrued as of June 30,2009, as required by
the related covenants. Cash has been restricted for this accrual. In addition, net assets have been restricted,
and equity in cash and cash equivalents has been restricted, in an amount equal to the maximum annual
debt service requirements for the Bonds.

Arbitrage - The 1999 Revenue Issue was subject to a possible rebate under the federal arbitrage rebate
regulations. The bond proceeds were on deposit with the Virginia State Non-Arbitrage Program and an
annual estimate of the arbitrage liability is performed at the end of each fiscal year. The estimate of the
arbitrage liabilty owed by the Fund as of June 30, 2009 was $704,712.
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Principal and interest payments on the Bonds for the five fiscal years subsequent to June 30, 2009, and
thereafter are as follows:

Principal

Years:
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2016 - 2019
2020 - 2024

2025 - 2029
2030 - 2034

2035 - 2036

Total

$ 6,640,000
7,100,000
9,285,000
9,500,000
7,625,000

30,345,000
38,395,000
41,920,000
20,765,000

9,830,000

$ 181,405,000

Interest

8,761,735
8,505,190
8,235,349
7,829,067
7,411,510

33,029,050
24,790,494
13,770,819
5,673,000

743,250

118,749,464

(4) Nonmonetary Contributions

Nonmonetary contributions consist of contributions from developers for water and sewer infrastructure
constructed by the developer and donated to the County. The value is calculated based on an average cost
per foot of pipe donated. The County Inspector determines the footage of pipe. Cost of pipe is determined
as the cost that the County would incur if the County had constructed the asset. In accordance with
GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reportingfor Nonexchange Transactions, the value of
these capital assets is included in nonoperating income.

(5) Defined Benefit Pension Plan - Agent Multiple-Employer

Plan Description - The Fund contributes to an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the Virginia Retirement System (VRS or System). All full-time, salaried permanent
employees must participate in the VRS. Benefits vest after five years of service. Employees are eligible for
an unreduced retirement benefit at age 65 with five years of service (age 60 for paricipating local law
enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheriffs) or at age 50 with at least 30 years of service if elected by
the employer (age 50 with at least 25 years of service for paricipating local law enforcement offcers,
firefighters, and sheriffs) payable monthly for life in an amount equal to 1.7% of their average final
compensation (AFe) for each year of credited service. Benefits are actuarially reduced for retirees who
retire prior to becoming eligible for full retirement benefits. In addition, retirees qualify for anual
cost-of-living increases limited to five percent per year beginning in their second year of retirement. AFC
is defined as the highest consecutive 36 months of salary. Paricipating local law enforcement offcers,
firefighters, and sheriffs may receive a monthly benefit supplement if they retire prior to age 65. The VRS
also provides death and disabilty benefits. Title 51. of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, assigns
the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the General Assembly of Virginia.
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The System issues a publicly available comprehensive anual financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementar infonnation for VRS. A copy of that report may be downloaded
from their website at http://www.varetire.org/pdf/2008, AnnuRept.pdf or obtained by writing the System at
P. O. Box 2500, Richmond, Virginia 23218-2500.

Funding Policy - Plan members are required by Title 51. of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, to
contribute five percent of their anual salar to the VRS. The employer may assume this five percent
member contribution. In addition, the County is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessar to
fund its paricipation in the VRS using the actuarial basis specified by the Code of Virginia and approved
by the VRS Board of Trustees. The County and School Board Non-Professional üroup's contribution rates
for the fiscal year ended 2009 were 11.01 % and 20.06%, respectively, of anual covered payrolL.

Annual Pension Cost - For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, the Fund's anual pension cost (APC) of
$1,565,222 was less than the required and actual contributions. The required contribution was detennined
as par of the June 30, 2008 actuarial valuation using the entry age nonnal actuarial cost method. The
actuarial assumptions included (a) 7.5% investment rate of retu, (b) projected salar increases ranging

from 3.75% to 5.60% per year, and (c) 2.5% per year cost-of-living adjustments. Both (a) and (b) included
an inflation component of 2.5%. The actuarial value of the Fund's assets is equal to the modified market
value of assets. This method was detennined using techniques that smooth the effects of short-tenn
volatilty in the market value of assets over a five-year period. Unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being
amortized as a level percentage of payroll on an open basis within a period of 20 years or less. The Net
Pension Obligation (NPO) at June 30, 2009 is calculated as follows:

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $
Interest on NPO
Adjustment to the ARC

Annual Pension Cost (APe)

Contributions made

Decrease in NPO

NPO - Begining of year

NPO-End of year $
Trend Information for the Fund

1,564,762
17,322

(16,862)

1,565,222

(1,564,762)

460

231,543

232,003

Fiscal year ended

Jine 30,2007
Jine 30,2008
Jine 30,2009

Pension
cost

$ 1,162,662
1,633,866
1,565,222

21

Percentage
of APe

contributed

100.01% $
100.01
99.90

Net pension
obli~ation

231,711
231,544
232,003
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Schedule of Funding Progress for the Fund (Unaudited)

Unfunded
Actuarial actuarial UAAL as a

Actuarial accrued accrued Ratio percentage
value of liabilty liabilty funded Covered of covered

Actuarial valuation date assets (AAL) (UAA) obligation payroll payroll

June 30, 2006 $ 35,217,952 43,066,003 7,848,051 81.78% $ 10,880,380 7213%
June 30, 2007 44,589,439 52,559,671 7,970,232 84.84 12,691,267 62.80
June 30, 2008 49,486,369 58,008,205 8,521,836 87.27 13,593,363 46.82

(6) Other Postemployment Benefits

Fund retirees are included in the County of Henrico's other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plan which
provides retiree health benefits. The County paricipates in and was a founding member of the Pooled
OPEB Trust Fund established by the Virginia Municipal League in 2008.

Expenses associated with retirees' health benefits are funded annually on a cash basis. Current Henrico
County retirees who qualifY for health benefits receive an implicit rate subsidy by participating in the
active employee health care risk pool. The County of Henrico also offers a health care credit based upon
years of service.

Eligibility for health care benefits is based on the retiree being immediately eligible to receive a Virginia
Retirement System (VRS) monthly retirement payment. Under age 65, the retiree and their dependents can
remain in the County of Henrico health and dental plans and pay the full active premium. Over age 65, a
retiree and his or her dependents move to a Medicare carve out plan. Certain classes of employees, such as
teachers and public safety, are eligible for a health care credit paid through VRS.

Retirees who are not eligible for the VRS Health Care Credit may qualifY for the County of Henrico
supplement. Retirees must have a minimum of 20 full years of VRS service, 10 years of which must be
with the County. The supplement wil be paid only to eligible retirees who choose to remain in the County
of Henrico group plan. This supplement is $3 per month for each full year of service.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, an actuarial evaluation was prepared calculating the County
of Henrico postemployment health care cost as of July I, 2009. The actuaral evaluation estimated an
$85.18 millon Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liabilty (UAAL) and a $9.07 milion Annual Required
Contribution (ARC) for the County of Henrico. This calculation was based on a discount rate of 7.0
percent and a 30-year amortization of the unfunded actuarial liabilty. The ARC was fully funded by the
County of Henrico and consists of $6.72 millon contributed to a OPEB pooled trust fund and a
"pay-as-you-go" amount of $2.34 milion expended in the County's self-insured health care plan during
fiscal year 2009. The actuarial evaluation reflects that the "Employer Contribution as a Percent of OPEB
Cost" was 139.2% as of June 30,2009. The County has a Net OPEB Asset of $6.55 milion for fiscal year
2009. The County has budgeted an additional $6 milion contribution to the OPEB Pooled Trust Fund for
fiscal year 2010.
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(7) Related-Party Transactions

The County furnishes the Fund with data processing services, accounting services, vehicle maintenance
services, risk management, office space, and the use of certain County-owned vehicles by the Fund. For
these services, the County charged the Fund approximately $4,839,000 in fiscal 2009.

The Fund received $1,777,782 in fiscal year 2009 from the County for water and sewer services provided
at established biling rates.

The Fund loaned the County $9,618,989 to be repaid over a 30-year term with interest equal to the average
rate paid on the Bonds to mature on June 30,2028. The County wil pay 1/30 of the loan pnncipal anually
with interest applied to the remaining principal balance. At June 30, 2009, the principal balance was
$5,771,393. The County recognized the principal and interest payments as expenditures, and the Fund
recognized the principal and interest received as a reduction to notes receivable and interest income,

respectively.

(8) Commitments

At June 30,2009, the Fund had contractual commitments for the constrction of the Wastewater Treatment
Plant and Water Plant Projects approximating $10,200,000 and $400,000, respectively.
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The County of Henrco, Virgia (the "County") is situated in central Virginia and surounds
the City of Richmond (the "City" or "Richmond") on the nort side of the James River. Although much of the
County's 244.06 square miles consists of highly developed urban and suburban areas, there is also a
considerable amount of undeveloped agrcultual and forest land. In Virginia, cities and counties are distinct
unts of governent and do not overlap. Thus, the County is responsible for providig al local governent
servces to its residents. The population of the County was 311,692 for 2009 and is expected to contiue to
grow in the foreseeable futue.

COUNTY GOVERNNT

Form of Government

The County is governed by a five-member Board of Supervsors which establishes policies
for the admstration of the County. Each member of the Board of Supervisors is elected by the voters of the
magisterial distrct in which such member resides. The Chaian of the Board of Supervsors is elected
anuay by the members. Members of the Board of Supervsors serve four-year terms.

The County elected in 1934 to organze under the County Manager Form of Governent (as
defined under Virginia law). Under ths form of governent, the Board of Supervsors appoints a County
Manager to serve as the chief executive offcer of the County. The County Manager serves at the pleasure of
the Board of Supervsors, implements its policies, appoints deparent heads and diects business and
admnistrative procedures. Also under the County Manager Form of Governent, a County Code and modem
zonig ordiances are admstered and enforced.

Elected Offcials

David A. Kaechele, Chaian was elected from the Three Chopt Magisterial Distrct in
November of 1979 and was re-elected in 1983, 1987, 1991, 1995, 1999, 2003 and 2007. Mr. Kaechele is a
graduate of Michigan State University and was a Senior Development Engieer at Reynolds Metals Company
prior to his retiement in Apri 1993 .

Patrcia S. O'Banon, Vice Chaian, was elected from the Tuckahoe Magsterial Distrct in
1995 and re-elected in 1999, 2003 and 2007. MS.O'Banon is a graduate of Virgia Commonwealth
University in Richmond. She was formerly an English teacher in the Henrco County school system and an
editor of a local newspaper.
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James B. Donati, Jr., was elected from the Vara Magisterial Distrct in November of 1991
and re-elected in 1995, 1999, 2003 and 2007. Mr. Donati received his education from Virginia
Commonwealth University and is the owner of a landscape contractig business.

Richard W. Glover was elected from the Brookland Magisterial Distrct in November of 1987
and was re-elected in 1991, 1995, 1999, 2003 and 2007. Mr. Glover received his education from Virginia
Commonwealth University and J. Sargent Reynolds Community College, and is a retied marketing consultant.

Fran J. Thornton was elected to the Board of Supervsors in 1995 and re-elected in 1999,
2003 and 2007 to represent the Faield Magisterial Distrct. Mr. Thornton is a graduate of Virginia Union

University in Richmond and The American University, Washigton, D.C. He is employed as a professor of
French at Virginia Union University.

Certain County Staff Members

Virgil R Hazelett, P.E., was appointed County Manager on Januar 14, 1992. He previously
served the County as Deputy County Manager for Administration/Chief of Staf, Deputy County Manager for
Communty Development, County Engineer/Director of Public Works, Deputy Director of Public Works and
Trafc Engineer. Pror to coming to the County in 1972, he received a Bachelor's degree in Civil Engieerig
from West Virgia Institute of Technology and a Master's degree in Civil Engieering from West Virginia
University, and held engieerig positions in High Point, Nort Carolina, and West Virginia.

Leon T. Johnson was appointed Deputy County Manager for Admnistration in 1995. Pror to

his appointment he was employed by the City of Sufolk, Virgina, where he served as Director of Finance and
Assistant City Manager. Mr. Johnson's educational achievements include a Bachelor's degree in Business
Admistration and a Master's degree in Public Admstration, both from Old Domion University in
Norfolk, Virginia. He recently completed his Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) in Public Policy and

Adminstration from Virginia Commonwealth University.

Robert K. Pinerton was appointed Deputy County Manager for Community Operations in
December 1994. He previously served Henrco County in the Deparent of Public Works where he was
Director from 1990 unti his appointment as Deputy County Manager in 1994. Pror to his work in Henrco
County, Mr. Pinerton worked as an engineer in the City of Richmond, Deparent of Public Works. Mr.
Pinerton received a Bachelor's degree in Civi Engineering from the Virgina Militar Institute and a Masters
of Business Admstration from Virginia Commonwealth University.

George T. Druwrght, Jr., was appointed Deputy County Manager for Community Servces

in 1995. He previously has served the County as the Deputy County Manager for Admstration, as the
Deputy County Manager for Human Services, and as an Admistrative Assistant to the County Manager for
Human Resources. Pror to coming to the County in 1977, Mr. Druwrght worked as an Admstrative
Analyst to the City Manager in the City of Norfolk. Mr. Druwrght holds a Bachelor's degree in Business
Admstration from Old Dominion University and a Master's degree in Public Admstration from The
American University.

Angela N. Harer, AICP, was appointed Deputy County Manager for Special Services in
September 1997. She began her career with Henrco County in 1971 in the Plang Offce and was the
Director from 1990 unti her promotion. Ms. Harer holds a Bachelor's degree in political science from
Memphis State University and Masters of Plang and Urban Design from the University of Virgia. She is

the past president of the Virgia Chapter of the American Plang association and a past at-large member of
the national board of the American Plang Association. On Januar 5, 1999, she received the Local Ofcial
of the Year Award for Region A from the National Association of Home Buiders.

Radal R Silber, a Henrco County employee since 1985, was appointed Deputy County

Manager for Communty Development effective Januar 5,2008. Pror to his appointment, he worked as a
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County Planer and Prcipal Planer before being named Assistant Director of Planng in 1996. He served

as the Planng Director from 2004 until 2008. Mr. Silber holds a Bachelor's degree from the University of
Marland and a Master's degree from the University of Nortern Colorado.

Joseph P. Rapisarda, Jr., Esquie, County Attorney, was appointed in 1982. He served as an
Assistant County Attorney for Henrco County for five years before being appointed County Attorney. Pror
to his servce with Henrco County, he served for two years as an associate attorney with May, Miler &
Parsons. He is a graduate of the University of Virginia Law SchooL. Mr. Rapisarda is a curent member and
past president of the Local Governent Attorneys of Virginia and the Henrco County Bar Association. He is
also a Fellow of the Virginia Law Foundation and a former member of the Professionalism Faculty of the
Virginia State Bar.

John A. Vithoulas was appointed Director of Finance on Januar 5,2008. He has served the
County as the Director of the Offce of Management and Budget and as the Acting Director of Finance. Pror
to joing the County in 1997, Mr. Vithoulas served Chesterfeld County, Virginia, as the Lead Analyst in the
Deparent of Budget and Management. Mr. Vithoulkas holds a Bachelor's degree from Virginia
Commonwealth University and a Masters of Public Administration from the University of Nort Carolina at
Charlotte. He has served as a Governent Finance Offcers Association (GFOA) Distiguished Budget
Reviewer since 1993.

CERTAIN FINANCIAL PROCEDURS

Annual Financial Statements. The County's general purose financial statements have been
audited and reportd on by independent certed public accountants for over 29 fiscal years. The financial
statement of Henrco County, Virginia Water and Sewer Revenue Fund as of and for the year ended June 30,
2009, included in this Offcial Statement as Appendi B, has been audited by independent auditors, as stated in
their report appearg herein. The County has been awarded a Certcate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reportg by the GFOA of the United States and Canada for its anual fiancial statements each year
since the fiscal year ended June 30,1981. The Certcate of Achievement is awarded anualy for excellence,
clarty and comprehensiveness in financial reportg. The County has also been awarded the Distingushed
Budget Award by the GFOA of the United States and Canada for its Anual Fiscal Plan for the past 20 fiscal
years.

The County's comprehensive anual fiancial reports are avaiable for inspection at the offce
of the Director of Finance, County of Henrco, Parham and Hungar Sprig Roads, Post Offce Box 90775,
Henrco, Virginia 23273-0775, and are also avaiable online at:

htt://ww.co.henrco.va.us/deparents/finance/divisions/accounting -division!

Description of Funds. The accounts of the County are organed on the basis of funds, each
of which is considered to be a separate accountig entity. The operations of each fud are accounted for by
providig a separate set of self-balancing accounts, which comprise its assets, liabilties, fund balance,
revenues and expenditues. The following is a description of the fuds included in the fiancial records of the
County.

General Fund. The General Fund accounts for al revenues and expenditues of the County,
which are not accounted for in the other fuds. Revenues are priary derived from general propert taes,
local sales taxes, license and permt fees and revenues received from the Commonwealth. A signcant par of
the General Fund's revenues is used to maitai and operate the general governent, which is accounted for in

the General Fund, or is tranferred to other fuds pricipaly to fud debt servce requiements and capita
projects. Expenditues include, among other thngs, those for general governent, education, public safety,
highways and streets, welfare, cultue and recreation.
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Special Revenue Funds. Special Revenue Funds account for the proceeds of specifc revenue
sources that are legally restrcted to expenditues for specified puroses. These funds account for the resources
obtaied and used relatig to State and Federal Grants, Mental Health and Mental Retardation programs, the

Utility Deparent's Solid Waste and Street Lighting operations and School Cafeterias.

Enterprise Funds. Enterprise Funds account for operations that are financed in a maner
similar to private business enterprises, where the intent of the County is that the cost of providing servces to
the general public be fianced or recovered though charges to users of such servces. These Funds account for
the operation, maintenance and constrction of the County-owned water and sewer system (considered a single
segment for financial reportng puroses) and the operation of a County-owned golf course.

Debt Service Fund. Ths fud accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the
payment of interest and principal on all long-term debt other than that accounted for in Enterprise Funds. Debt
Servce Fund resources are derived from transfers from the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds.

Internal Service Fund. An Internal Servce Fund accounts for the fiancing of goods or
servces provided by one deparent to other deparents of the governent on a cost-reimbursement basis.

The Internal Servce Fund accounts for the County's Central Automotive Maitenance operations, Technology
Replacement Fund operations, and self-funded health insurance fund. Resources for these funds come from
interdeparenta charges.

Agency Funds. Agency Funds account for fiduciar funds admstered by the County, are
custodial in natue, and do not involve measurement of results of operations.

Capital Projects Fund. The Capital Projects Fund accounts for all capital projects other than
those accounted for withi Enterprise Funds.

Budgetary Procedure

. Virgia law requies the County to maintai a balanced budget in each fiscal year. The

County lacks legal authority to borrow in anticipation of futue years' revenues, except by the issuance of
bonds or bond anticipation notes.

Pror to the beging of each fiscal year the Board of Supervsors adopts a fiscal plan

consistig of contemplated expenditues and estimated revenues for such fiscal year. On the basis of the
approved fiscal plan, the Board of Supervsors appropriates funds for expenditues and establishes tax rates
sufficient to produce the revenues contemplated in the fiscal plan.

The anual budgetig process for a fiscal year begis early in the second quarr of the
previous fiscal year with the issuance by the County Manager to al deparent heads and other key offcials of
the pertent gudelies to be observed. Each deparent or division head wi submit al desired personnel

change requests and detailed budget requests.

The County Manager and his staf hold heargs with the varous deparents and afer

review submit a proposed fiscal plan to the Board of Supervsors. The Board of Supervsors also holds
heargs with the deparents and, afr revisions, authorizes a fial budget for publication and public hearg.
Afer the public hearg, fuer changes may be made before fial adoption, which generaly occurs in the

month of Apri precedig the star of the fiscal year on July 1.

Appropriations are then made on an anual basis to the varous deparents, offces and
agencies based on anual requests reviewed by the Deparent of Finance for conformty with the approved
anual plan.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMTION

General Fund Revenues and Disbursements. The General Fund is maintained by the County
to account for revenue derived from County-wide ad valorem taes, other local taxes, licenses, fees, permts,
certai revenue from Federal and State governents and interest eared on invested cash balances in the
General Fund. General Fund disbursements include the costs of general County governent, School
Operations and transfers to the Debt Servce and Capital Projects Funds to pay debt servce on the County's
general obligation bonds and for certai capital improvement projects.

The following is a discussion of the General Fund revenue strctue and major classifcations

of General Fund disbursements. Following this discussion is a five year summar of General Governent
revenues, expenditues and fund balances and a summar of the fiscal plan for fiscal year 20 I O. Please refer to
the County's audited General Puose Financial Statements for a detaied review of General Fund revenues
and expenditues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. The County's audited financial statements are
available online at: htt://ww.co.henrco.va.us/deparents/finance/divisions/accounting -division!

Revenues

Property Taxes. An anual ad valorem tax is levied by the County on the assessed value of
real and tangible personal propert located with the County as of Januar 1. The ratio of the assessed value
of propert to its appraised value is 100% in the case of real propert and vares for the several classes of
personal propert but generaly is 100%. Both real and personal propert taxes are collected on June 5 and
December 5. There is no limit at the present time on the propert tax rates which may be established by the
County. In the fiscal year ended June 30,2009, propert taxes (includig penalties for late payment of prior
years' taxes) represented approximately 41.3% of total General Fund and School Operatig receipts. Propert

taxes attach as an enforceable lien on propert as of Januar 1. Taxes are levied in Apri and are payable in
two intalents on June 5th and December 5th. The County bils and collects its own propert taxes.
Propert taxes levied are recorded as receivables, net of alowance for estiated uncollectible accounts, to the
extent that they are curently due.

In Apri 1998, the Virgia General Assembly passed the Personal Propert Tax Relief Act of

1998. The Act provides for the Commonwealth to reimburse a porton of the tangible Personal Propert Tax
levied on personal use cars, motorcycles and trcks. Intially, the reimbursement was 12.5% of the tax on the
fist $20,000 of the value of the qualifg vehicle in tax year 1998. The reimbursement rate was 27.5% for

tax year 1999 and increased to 47.5% for tax year 2000 and 70% for tax years 2001 though 2005. Begig
in 2006, the reimbursement rate was capped at $950 mion statewide, to be distrbuted to localities on a
prorated basis (based on assessment totals). The reimbursement rate therefore is determed by the State based
on each localty's share of the $950 million allocated by the Commonwealth for personal propert ta relief on
qualng vehicles. For tax year 2009, the State reimbursement receivable is reflected as a due to other
governents. Revenue for the State reimbursement is recorded as non-categorical aid from the State.
Localities wi continue to assess and administer the Personal Propert Tax program.

Other Local Taxes. The County levies varous other local taxes includig a 1% sales ta
(collected by the State and remittd to the County), varous business, professional and occupational license
taxes, propert tranfer recordation taes, motor vehicle and other vehicle taxes. These receipts represented

approxiately 13.8% of total General Fund and School Operatig receipts in the fiscal year ended June 30,
2009.

Revenues from the Commonwealth of Virginia. The County is reimbursed by the

Commonwealth of Virgina for a porton of shared expenses includig certai expenditues for social servces,
the Sheris offce, cours, the offce of the Commonwealth Attorney and the Clerk of the Circuit Cour. The

County also receives a signcant amount of State aid in support of public school operations. Revenue from
the Commonwealth of Virgina represented approxiately 41.4% (includig Federal Aid) of total General
Fund and School Operatig receipts in the fiscal year ended June 30,2009.
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Other Revenue. Other sources of revenue including charges for servces, recovered costs,
permits, priviege fees, regulatory licenses, fines and fodeitues and revenues from the use of money and
propert accounted for approximately 3.5% of total General Fund Revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2009.

Disbursements

Costs of Education. The County pays from the General Fund the costs of operatig the public
school system. Federal governent and Commonwealth of Virginia funds are credited to the Schools' revenue
accounts and used exclusively to fiance Schools' operatig expenditues. No debt servce on School general
obligation bonds is paid from funds from the federal governent or the Commonwealth of Virgia. This
classifcation represented approxiately 51.4% of the total General Fund and School Operatig disbursements
for the fiscal year ended June 30,2009.

Costs of General County Government. The County pays from the General Fund the costs of
general County governent. These costs include expenditues for public safety (police, fire, etc.), cours,
admstration and support, social servces, librares, health, recreation, communty development and street and
highway maintenance. This classification represented approxiately 48.6% of total General Fund and School
Operatig disbursements in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. Included in the costs of general County
governent are the tranfers to debt servce and capital project fuds discussed below.

Transfer to Debt Service Funds. The County transfers from the General Fund to the Debt
Servce Fund an amount sufcient to pay pricipal and interest on County general obligation bonds. Transfers
to the Debt Servce Fund represented approxiately 6.8% of total General Fund and School Operatig
disbursements in the fiscal year ended June 30,2009.

Transfer to Capital Projects Funds. The County tranfers from the General Fund to the
Capital Proj ects Fund moneys to pay the cost of certai capital improvements. The General Fund transfer to
the Capital Projects Fund represented approximately 4.9% of total General Fund disbursements in the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2009.
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Summary of General Fund Revenues, Expenditures and Fund Balances

The financial data shown in the following table represents a summar, for each of the five
fiscal years ended June 30,2009, of the County's General and School Operatig Fund revenues, expenditues
and fund balances. This sumar has been derived from the audited financial statements of the County for
fiscal years ended June 30, 2005 though June 30, 2009 and should be read in connection with those financial
statements and notes thereto.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Revenues:

General Propert Taxes $ 284,217,911 $ 313,844632 $ 342,936,509 $ 368,043,749 $ 374,883,798
Oter Local Taxes 118,319,653 125,617,029 125,926,766 122,795,902 125,309,276
Perts, Privilege Fees & 4,780,738 4,695,699 4,969,852 4,325,129 3,431,170
Reguatory Licenes
Fines & F odeitues 2,150,209 2,444587 2,639,646 2,403,679 2,332,651
Revenues from Use of Money & 6,400,350 9,207,632 16,792,176 20,690,210 9,393,060
Propert
Charges for Servces 10,467,199 10,474829 7,581,696 3,620,160 3,607,380
Micellaneous 5,642,594 3,592,904 5,223,516 5,833,158 7,374,985
Recovered Costs 5,309,597 5,545,140 5,368,467 5,410,026 6,388,914
Integoverenta 277,274,096 298,77L962 337.555,646 360,715,320 376.200,591
Total Revenues $ 714,562,347 $ 774,194,414 $ 848,994,274 $ 893,837,333 $ 908,921,825

Expenditures:

General Govi Adm. $ 56,183,872 $ 59,955,298 $ 61,180,647 $ 65,172,004 $ 63,511,154
Judicial Adm. 5,752,492 6,087,437 6,742,617 7,423,785 7,785,360
Public Safety 120,126,158 135,132,897 145,197,144 155,156,994 163,180,370
Public Works 33,239,392 32,934722 34,663,842 36,916,303 39,272,010
Health & Social Servces 20,231,080 21,625,209 22,320,464 23,392,438 24,161,728
Education 315,453,330 346,348,185 365,597,451 396,452,750 405,917,940
Pars, Recreation & Cultual 23,224,989 24,638,107 27,208,578 30,370,534 31,680,905
Communty Development 17,154,317 18,833,325 20,769,114 21,635,686 20,769,200
Miscellaneous 9,387,359 1,710,424 13,507,132 20,091,978 21,545,006
Debt Service Prcipal Retiement 4,945,441 8,188,768 8,818,669 9,611,381 11,278,678
Debt Servce Interest 680,809 332,659 177.582 675,134 750.564
Total Expenditues $ 608,379,239 $ 655,789,031 $ 706,183,240 $ 766,898.987 $ 789,852,915
Excess of Revenue over $ 104,183,108 $ 118,405,383 $ 142,811,034 $ 126,938,346 $ 119,068,910
Exenditues

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Issuance of Cap. Lease Obligation $ 1,564,860 $ 18,432,287 $ 12,692,300 $ 12,541,835 $ 1,296,071
Operating Tranfers In 3,091,093
To Debt Servce Fund (37,212,785) (38,695,291) (48,057,065) (51,944,013) (53,773,254)
To Capital Project Fund (35,958,434) (45,780,865) (80,885,680) (36,908,153) (38,375,046)
To Oter Funds (13,729.571 ) (14,799,312) (18,186,427) (18,373.628) (18,66.543)
Total Oter Financing Sources $ (85,335,930) $ (80,843,181) $ (134,436,872) $ (94,683,959) $ (106,227,679)
(Uses)

Excess (deficiency) Revenue &
Other
Sourc Over Expend. & Other $ 20,847,178 $ 37,562,202 $ 8,374,162 $ 32,254,387 $ 12,841,231
Uses
Fund Balance, July I 140,669,798 161.16.976 199,079.178 207,453,340 239,707,727
Fund Balance June 30 $ 161,516,976 $ 199,079,178 $ 207,453,340 $ 239,707,727 $ 252,548,98

Anysi of Fund Balance
Fund Balances:
Resered & Designatd $ 53,131,994 $ 85,441,913 $ 84,029,351 $ 106,862,268 $ 113,094,430
Undesignatd 108,384,982 113,637.265 123,423.989 132,844,459 139,454.528

TOTAL $ 161,516,976 $ 199,079,178 $ 207,453,340 $ 239,707,727 $ 252,54,958

Source: County of Henco Comprehenive Anua Fiscal Report for fiscal year endigs 2005 though 2009.
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Summary of Annual Fiscal Plan for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2010

Like the prior year's anual fiscal plan, the Anual Fiscal Plan for 2010 was created in a
highly uncertai economic envionment, with regional business failures and job losses increasing, and
residential and commercial real propert assessment growt dropping to levels not seen for years. Despite the
curent economic climate, the County has continued to utilize the conservative methodology it has historically
employed with respect to revenue projections and expenditues. In facing the difficult decisions that had to be
made and evaluatig financial options, Henrco County has been able to avoid employee layoffs, maitain
existing tax rates and fees, and continue existing servce levels for its residents.

The Anual Fiscal Plan for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2010 was established based on
thee core ideals: 1) refraing from increasing the tax or fee burden on County residents; 2) contiuig to

provide services at existing levels; and 3) continuig the County's long history of avoiding layoffs.

Local revenue estimates have been prepared with exteme caution, parcularly elastic
revenues such as the local sales tax, Business, Professional and Occupational License (BPOL) tax, business
personal propert tax, and fees associated with new buildig permts. Local sales tax receipts decreased 2.3%
in FY09 compared to FY08. In addition, revenues generated by Short Pump Town Center mall, including retail
sales tax, BPOL, real estate, and business personal propert taxes that have been used since the opening of the
mall in 2003 to pay Community Development Authority (CDA) debt requiements, can now be recogned in
the budget for the first tie due to the CDA commitment being fuled durng FY2008-09. Finally, the
success of the address initiative, which changed the priar address in eleven zip codes in the County to
"Henrco", has resulted in an estimated $8.0 milion in additional revenue that the County began to recognze
in Januar of 2009.

The County has also taken several steps related to expenditues in the curent fiscal year, such
as reducing operational expenses, and increasing effciencies through the continual monitorig and analysis of
expenses made at the deparental level to ensure adequate resources are avaiable and cautiously expended
thoughout the course of the fiscal year. In addition, in the FY2009- 1 0 Anual Fiscal Plan the County has not
deviated from its long-term financial plan requig that continuig General Fund operational expenditues are
met with a 5.0 percent maxum theshold. In fact, the County has limited incrementa spendig growt for
operations to 0.86 percent in the FY2009-10 Anual Fiscal Plan, the smalest year over year growth in 15
years.

Henrco County will continue to monitor revenues and expenditues closely. Due to the
contiued use of conservative revenue projections and cost saving intiatives that have been implemented, it is
proj ected that Henrco wil meet its established fiancial guideline of maintaing a level of undesignated fud
balance at 18.0 percent of General Fund Expenditues in FY2009-10. The Board of Supervsors adopted the
FY2009-10 Anual Fiscal Plan on Apri 28, 2009, which may be found online at:

htt://ww.co.henrco.va.us/deparents/finance/divisions/offce-of-management-and-budget/

As set fort in the Anual Fiscal Plan, General Fund revenues, expenditues and tranfers are

sumared below for the fiscal year endig June 30,2010:
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Revenues and Transfers

Genera propert taes

Other local taes
Revenue from use of money and

propert
Intergovernenta revenue

Permts, fees & licenses
Fines and forfeitues

Chages for servces
Miscellaneous
Transfers to other fuds
Total Projected Revenues and

Transfers

Population

$ 409,500,000

114,615,000

8,533,200
317,295,700

3,859,200
2,727,900
3,176,800
6,940,700

(94.448.930)

$ 772,199,570

Expenditures

Genera governent admstration

Finacial admstrtion
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare

Education
Parks, recreation and cultual
Judicial admstation
Communty development
Miscellaneous

Total Budgeted Expenditures

$ 46,560,457

12,806,463
157,800,222
35,935,899
20,439,876

424,250,000
33,169,410
8,311,621

20,668,681
12.256,941

$ 772,199,570

The County's population has increased steadily since 1990, as shown in the following table:

Calendar Calendar
Year Population Year Population

1990 221,287 2000 267,031
1991 223,729 2001 271,447
1992 226,684 2002 274,847
1993 230,729 2003 281,069
1994 235,229 2004 288,735
1995 239,683 2005 293,382
1996 243,273 2006 299,443
1997 247,832 2007 302,518
1998 254,194 2008 305,580
1999 259,179 2009 311,692

Source: Contiuig, Comprehensive and Coordited Traorttion Data for Henrco County, Virgi by Trafc

Zone (3-C Repor), 1990 - 2008. Data for 2009 was estited on a basis oflnstoric growt.

Taxable Retail Sales Data

The followig table presents the calendar year taable retai sales, fiscal year sales tax
revenue and taxable retai sales per capita. As in many other metro areas in the Mid-Atlantic region, the
County's taable retai sales per capita have steadily increased since 1998. Economic activity in the County
has matched the population growt noted above. The followig table also reflects the increasing income levels
of its residents and the County's increasing importance as a regional commercial and reta center.
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Calendar Year Fiscal Year

Calendar
Taxable Local Taxable
Retai Sales Tax Retai SalesYear Population(l) Sales (000) (2) Reyenue (000) (4) Per Capita

1999 259,179 $3,829,852 $39,519 $14,777
2000 267,031 4,054,871 43,602 15,185
2001 271,447 3,902,580 45,086 14,377
2002 274,847 4,080,038 43,992 14,845
2003 281,069 4,195,664 47,096 14,928
2004 288,735 4,619,827 49,258 16,000
2005 293,382 4,444,650(3) 52,850 15,150
2006 299,443 4,695,500(3) 56,145 15,681
2007 302,518 5,074,052 57,794 16,773
2008 305,580 4,928,864 57,400 16,130
2009 311,692 N/A 56,101 N/A

Sources:(l) Contiuig, Comprehensive, and Coordited Trasporttion Data for Henrco County, Virgi by
Trafc Zone (3-C Report), 1998 - 2008.

(2) Commonwealth of Virgia, Deparent of Taxation. Data excludes automobile and prescription drg

sales.
(3) Estite from Deparent of Finance due to computer error at State Deparent of Taxtion.

(4) Reflects actu revenue received.

Construction Activity

In the twelve-year period noted below, the County experienced steady constrction activity
which has clearly peaked and falen off. The curent recessionar economic envionment is impactig the

level of constrction activity in both the residential and commercial development areas in the County.

Buildig Permits and Value

Fiscal Total Dwelline Units (1) Total Permts Issued (2)
Year No. Value No. Value
1998 1,815 $174,510,589 19,590 $577,495,134
1999 2,083 209,258,966 20,336 529,785,425
2000 1,683 172,007,574 18,758 609,571,108
2001 1,641 175,048,202 18,880 672,373,503
2002 1,672 182,444,684 16,409 473,056,295
2003 2,024 245,754,322 18,485 674,204,598
2004 1,890 257,518,182 20,535 561,332,629
2005 1,986 302,172,160 21,917 670,363,278
2006 1,733 302,181,248 20,907 711,987,201
2007 1,338 258,791,133 18,506 741,847,309
2008 1,122 226,276,115 18,218 913,437,876
2009 602 115,162,605 12,819 450,538,582

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Buildig Constrction and Inspections.
(1) Dwellg Unit is defied as a single-famy residence.
(2) Includes al residential and commercial constrction.
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Building Construction Permit VaIues

By Classification
Fiscal Years Ended June 30

(OOO's omitted)

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Single Famy $302,188 $302,181 $258,791 $226,276 $115,163
Multi-Farly 16,164 11,238 35,625 44,769 1,466
Industral 180 0 6,185 0 842
Ofce 20,440 36,913 23,801 51,438 3,837
Insttutional 3,231 18,149 0 15,011 36
Commercial & Etc. 194.682 173.963 198.570 343.535 182.971
Tota $536,885 $542,881 $522,972 $681,029 $304,315

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Buidig Constrction and Inspections.

Housing

The data in the table below present the charcteristics of residenti housing in the County. As of
December 31, 2008, single famy housing unts represented approxiely 65% of all residenti housing. The

percentage of housing stock consistig of multiamy unts has remaed faily constat thoughout the period, with
a slight increase in 2008 to 35%.

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009*

%of %of %of %of %of
Units Housinl! Units Housl! Units Housinl! Units Housinl! Units Housinl!

Single Famly 81,235 66% 82,577 66% 83,443 66% 84,155 65% 85,838 64.5%
Multamy,
Condominium,
Aparents &
Town Houses 42.222 34% 43.395 34% 43.603 34% 44.374 35% 47.257 35.5%

T ota 123,457 100% 125,972 100% 127,046 100% 128,529 100% 133,095 100%

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Plang. Calenda year 2008 data most recenty published.
* 2009 data is composed of prelimina estmates produced by the Henrco Coun Deparent of Planng based on a 2% historic growt rate

Commerce, Industry and Employment

Whle the County's economic and tax bases have historicaly grown, both have been afected
by the severity of the curent recession. Since Januar, 2008 the Richmond Metropolitan Area has lost over
13,000 jobs due to reductions in staf or business closings. Many of these jobs, includig 3,991 with Circuit
City and 2,550 with Qimonda, were located in Henrco County. In May of 2009 the County's unemployment
rate exceeded the State's unemployment rate for the fist tie since 2001. The recession has also afected the

real estate market in Henrco in both the residential and commercial sectors.

Residential foreclosures, for 2008 and 2009, are well over the average of the previous seven
years. In 2008, there were 467 foreclosures spread thoughout the County. As of September 2009, Henrco
had seen 450 foreclosures, which anualed puts the County on pace for 600 foreclosures. Commercial real
estate values in the region have been negatively impacted due to a high number of vacancies. In the Richmond
Metropolitan Area, the overal offce vacancy rate was 13.3 percent in the 3rd quarr of 2009. Henrco cares
much of ths burden with vacancies in some areas amountig to 20 to 30 percent. As a result, investment grade
propert values have declied an estiated 20.0 percent in the past year. Both of these factors are leadig to a
declie in revenue projections movig forward in the short term.

Whe al of these indicators do not look promising, the County is well positioned to weather
these conditions and prosper durg a recovery period. The Board of Supervsors has created a business-
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frendly envionment with low tax rates and fees. This combined with a well-educated workforce will help
Henrco recover from these challenging times.

Employment

The following tables ilustrate the level of employment, its diversity, and the income of
County residents. Employment in the County is domiated by the non-manufactung sector and consists
primary of wholesale, retai, and governent employment. Financial and medical servces also provide a
significant employment base for County residents. On average, the County is responsible for one-thd of the
metropolitan area's non-manufactug employment and one-fourh of the manufactung employment.
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Median Household Income

Calendar Calendar Calendar Calendar Calendar
Year Year Year Year Year
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Henrco County $51,201 $53,009 $55,284 $57,143 $58,194
Chesterfeld County 61,907 63,931 66,625 67,658 69,583
Commonwealth of Virginia 54,783 51,141 54,207 56,297 59,575
United States 43,318 44,334 46,326 48,451 50,740

Source: Virginia Employment Commssion/.S. Census Bureau. Latest information available. Inormtion is reportd on a Bi-Anua! Basis.

Numerous business tyes are located withn the County and offer employment in such

diversifed areas as wholesale distrbution, contract constrction, research and techncal manufactung,
marketing and banng. The following table presents data regardig some of the pricipal employers in the
County.

2009 2008
Percent Percent
of Tota of Tota 

Employer(li Employees Ra Employment Employees Ra Employment

Henrco County School Board 5,000-9,999 1 4.3% 5,000-9,999 1 4.0%
Coun of Henrco 1,000-4,999 2 2.6% 1,000-4,999 2 2.5%
Capita One Ban 1,000-4,999 3 2.5% 1,000-4,999 3 2.5%
Bon Secour Richmond Health System (2) 1,000-4,999 4 2.0% 1,000-4,999 4 19%
Anthem (Blue Cross & Blue Shield) 1,000-4,999 5 2.0% 1,000-4,999 5 1.9%
Henrco Doctors' Hospita (HCA) 1,000-4,999 6 2.0% 1,000-4,999 9 1.9%
Ban of Amerca 1,000-4,999 7 2.0% 1,000-4,999 8 1.9%
Circuit City Stores, Inc. (4) 1,000-4,999 8 2.0% 1,000-4,999 6 1.9%
Admal Securty Serces 1,000-4,999 9 2.0% 1,000-4,999 12 1.9%
Ukops 1,000-4,999 10 2.0% 1,000-4,999 10 1.9%
GNA Corporation 1,000-4,999 11 2.0% 1,000-4,999 11 1.9%WaJ 1,000-4,999 12 2.0% 1,000-4,999 14 1.9%
Altra Corporate Serces Inc 1,000-4,999 13 2.0% 1,000-4,999 N/A 1.9%
First Union Nationa Ban 1,000-4,999 14 2.0% 1,000-4,999 13 1.9%
Qimonda Nort Amercan Corp (5) 1,000-4,999 15 2.0% 1,000-4,999 7 1.9%
Domion Resources 500-999 16 0.5% 500-999 17 0.5%
Verzon Virgia, Inc. 500-999 17 0.5% 500-999 19 0.5%
Virginia Deparent of Socia! Serces 500-999 18 0.5% 500-999 16 0.5%
Markel Serce, Inc. 500-999 19 0.5% 500-999 N/A 0.5%
Kroger 500-999 20 0.5% 500-999 18 0.5%

Tota 35.9% 33.7%

Tota County Employment (3) 153,486 160,459

Source: Virgi Employment Commssion.
(I) Data for each year is from quarly census of employment and wages CQCEW) for previous year 4th qua.
(2) Non-Resident Employer of Henrco County Citiens.
(3) Tota County Employment is non-seasonay adjusd as of June.
(4) In November 2008, Circuit City Stores fied for banptcy under Chapte 11 and is in the process of liquidatig its assets

afr havig terted its business operatons.
(5) On Febr 20,2009, Qionda Richmond LLC fied for banptcy under Chapter 11. It ha terted its operations,

which were located in the easter pa of the County, and is in the process of liquidatig its assets.
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Economic Development

Excellence in customer servce, prudent financial management and sustaiable economic
development has enabled Henrco County to become a community of choice. The County's residents live and
work in a low-tax, high-quality community with a solid local economy and one of the premier public school
systems in the nation. This envionment is fostered by the Board of Supervsors, which has over time,

consistently demanded innovation, effective planing and fiancial prudence when alocatig public resources
while consistently reducing tax rates.

Henrco County was named the number thee U.S. metro center for business by Dow Jones
MarketWatch in October, 2007. However, in the curent economy several businesses have been forced to
reexamne their curent business practices and staffing needs. Three high-profie examples include

LandAerica Financial Group, Circuit City Stores, and Qimonda Richmond LLC. In November 2008,
LandAerica Financial filed for banptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Banptcy
Code and has sold its major subsidiares. Also in November 2008, Circuit City Stores was forced to liquidate
its assets and the company has termnated operations, which has resulted in the loss of nearly 4,000 jobs
localy. On Februar 20, 2009, Qimonda Richmond LLC fied for banptcy under Chapter 11. It has
termated its operations, and is in the process of liquidatig its assets. Closing the facility, located in the
eastern par of the County, has resulted in the loss of 2,550 jobs. In Januar 2009, Genwort Financial
termated 1,000 jobs nationally, with 400 of those jobs in Henrco County, due to the recessionar economic
envionment. In all, the Metropolitan Richmond Area (as defied in footnote (1) to the table "Employment by
Industr Type" above) has lost 13,470 jobs from Januar 1,2008 though October 1,2009.

Whle much of the news continues to be negative there has been some positive news.
Engineerig fir AECOM is moving into 84,000 square feet of offce space in western Henrco and is
expected to hie approxiately 350 people. Also relocatig its headquarers to the County is the U.S.
operations of Welsh auto inurer Elephant Insurance, which has recently brought approxiately 200 jobs to the
County. Domion Fiber Technologies is expandig its existig operation in Henrco by building a new
30,000 square foot facility. T Mobile is also makng a signcant investment in Henrco County, moving into
over 92,000 square feet of offce space in the far west end of the County. It is expected to add 650 new
employees. Other companes makg signcant investments in Henrco County include South University,
Acision, Sunse Constrction, LLC, and Krafabisco. Combined, they will occupy 369,000 square feet of
offce and warehouse space, and are expected to create approxiately 215 new jobs in the County. Whe
these are small in comparson to the number lost in the region, it does reflect the desire of business to expand
and operate in Henrco County even durg these dicult economic ties.

Retail sales are quite strong in Henrco County which rans second to only Faiax County
statewide. Henrco has been able to establish itself as a destiation for shoppers starg with Regency Square
Shopping Center, which was buit in the 1970s, and more recently with Short Pup Town Center. Bolsterig
the futue as a shopper's destiation, the Shops at Whte Oak Vilage in eastern Henrco opened in October,
2008 and West Broad Village in the western par of the County (at ths wrtig) is 60 percent completed. The

Shops at Whte Oak represents the fist major shopping center in the east end of the County, and includes over
900,000 square feet of reta space on 136 acres.

In addition to West Broad Vilage and the Shops at Whte Oak, Short Pup Station, Reynolds
Crossing and Rocketts Landig are examples of other projects that are recently completed or are curently
under constrction and are expected to be completed in the near futue. Al of these include new retai and

commercial space and, in the case of Rocketts Landig, substatial residential spac in mied-use
envionments.

The presence of these companes and reta centers would not be possible without the
favorable business envionment that Henrco County has cultivated over the years. Since 1978, the Board of
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Supervsors has decreased the Real Estate Tax rate six times. Additionally, Henrco has consistently been
recognized by the 13 City/County Comparisons (compiled by the City of Chesapeake) as the lowest taxg
large locality in Virginia. Ths low tax burden combined with a record of conservative fiscal management and
high-caliber servces creates an enticing environment for businesses that are looking for new locations or to
expand their curent operations.

TAX BASE DATA

The following data are presented to ilustrate characteristics of the assessed value of real and
personal propert, which are major sources of County-derived revenue. Of Henrco's $35.0 billion in taxable
real estate, nearly 31 % is classifed as commercial.

Assessed Value of All Taxable Property
Last Ten Calendar Years

Assessed Value
Public Servce Corp.(1)

Assessed Total
Calendar Value Personal Real Personal Assessed

Year Real Estate Property Estate Property Value

2000 $15,276,400,550 $2,749,570,928 $782,847,363 $5,229,877 $18,814,048,718
2001 16,857,471,650 2,853,452,157 827,287,178 5,820,189 20,544,031,174
2002 18,339,624,550 2,859,762,405 851,848,275 4,521,265 22,055,756,495
2003 19,801,485,950 2,790,989,192 869,735,658 6,961,396 23,469,172,196
2004 22,303,454,800 2,792,061,898 889,990,680 7,090,354 25,992,597,732
2005 25,334,155,800 3,030,117,354 797,889,897 5,487,090 29,168,250,141
2006 29,281,500,300 3,721,479,562 801,743,073 3,788,794 33,808,511,729
2007 32,787,682,100 3,807,727,203 850,902,357 3,418,990 37,449,730,650
2008 34,740,075,000 4,022,203,876 851,141,635 3,803,163 39,617,223,674
2009 34,975,868,000 3,789,013,000 913,716,000 2,763,000 39,681,360,000

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Fince.
(1) Source: State Corporation Commssion.
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Property Tax Rates

Propert tax rates are established each year by the Board of Supervsors durg the anual
budget process. Propert tax rates for the past ten calendar years are as set fort in the table below:

Tax Rates

(per $100 of Assessed Value)

Calendar Real Personal Machinery
Year Estate Property and Tools Aircraft

2000 $0.94 $3.50 $1.00 $1.60
2001 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60
2002 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60
2003 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60
2004 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60
2005 0.92 3.50 1.00 1.60
2006 0.90 3.50 1.00 1.60
2007 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60
2008 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60
2009 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60

Source: Director of Fince, Henrco County.

Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Current Deliquent
Year Collections Taxes as

Current Percent Collection Total as Percent Outstanding(2) Percent of

Fiscal Current(l) Taxes of of Prior Taxes of Current & Delinquent Current
Year Levy Collected Levy Year Taxes Collected Levy Taxes Levy

1999 $220,182,735 $208,625,574 94.8% $4,331,072 $212,956,646 96.7% $17,456,967 7.9%
2000 236,817,128 223,791,021 94.5 2,368,741 226,159,762 95.5 15,904,301 6.7
2001 250,133,476 240,101,152 96.0 1,765,024 241,866,176 96.7 19,879,337 8.0
2002 260,396,014 258,347,048 99.2 1,491,398 259,838,446 99.8 16,826,456 6.5
2003 273,732,728 272,012,365 99.4 2,041,874 274,054,239 100.1 17,632,788 6.4
2004 296,552,199 291,656,599 98.4 1,246,013 292,902,612 98.8 17,244,904 5.8
2005(3) 318,422,848 316,046,683 99.3 1,253,773 317,300,456 99.6 19,774,591 6.2
2006 332,812,356 335,366,613 100.8 1,865,024 337,231,637 101.3 15,563,275 4.7
2007 346,079,992 341,061,107 98.5 2,132,861 343,193,968 99.2 14,947,729 4.3
2008 369,929,993 364,474,006 98.5 3,822,660 368,296,666 99.6 16,349,654 4.4
2009 380,661,375 374,038,171 99.2 3,866,473 377,904,644 99.3 20,492,346 5.4

Source: Henco County Deparent of Fince.
(1) Updated to include Sta Corporaton Commssion (Pblic Serce Corporation) Levies.
(2) For FY2008:

- $7,053,869 or 1.9% Deliquent (Taxes Due in CY2007 and prior)
- $9,295,785 or 2.5% Oustdig (First Ha Taxes Du as of June 5th CY2008)

(3) Begig with 2005, the Cuent Levy colum excludes the Short Pup Town Center special asessment.
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Vehicle and Business License Receipts

Fiscal Vehicle Business Fiscal Vehicle Business
Year Receipts Receipts Year Receipts Receipts

2000 $5,103,630 $22,253,067 2005 $5,974,167 $25,510,344
2001 5,292,185 23,092,646 2006 5,872,248 28,628,015
2002 5,226,643 22,315,226 2007 6,155,519 31,173,501
2003 5,434,279 23,013,363 2008 6,234,901 30,847,775
2004 5,637,493 24,042,472 2009 6,171,378 29,848,398

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Finace CAF Exlbit #11 for year endig June 30, 2009.

Principal Taxpayers
as of June 30, 2009

The following data show the assessed value of the real and personal propert of the 10 largest
holders of real propert and personal propert in the County:

Taxaver

Qimonda Richmond, LLC(2)
Virgina Power Company
Forest City (Short Pump TC, etc)
Highwood Realty, L.P.
Libert Propert, LP
The Wilton Companes etas
Vernon
General Servce Corp. (V AC LP)
United Dominion Realty Trust
Weinstein Famy

Tvoe of Business

Industral
Utity
Retail and Offces
Offce & Warehouse

Offce & Warehouse

Offces, Retail, Warehouse
Utity
Aparents
Aparents
Aparents
Total

Assessed
Valuation

$ 839,253,471

430,387,857
428,025,200
310,557,600
266,853,400
253,981,100
247,528,949
235,519,900
199,589,300
183.006.800

$3,394,703,577

Percentage
of Total
Assessed

Valuation(l)

2.1%
1.1
1.1
0.8
0.7
0.6
0.6
0.6
0.5
0.5
8.6%

Source: Henrco County Comprehensive Anua Fincia Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009.
(I) Tota Real Estate and Persona Propert Assessed Valuation for calenda year 2009 was $39,681,360,000.
(2) On Febru 20, 2009, Qimonda Richmond LLC filed for banptcy under Chapter 11. It has termted its

operations, which were located in the eastern pa of the County, and is in the process of liquidatig its
assets.

The assessed value of real and personal propert of these large entities in the County
represents 8.6% of the total assessed value of al real propert and personal propert of $39,681,360,000. Ths
total also includes Public Servce Corporation propertes assessed by the State Corporation Commssion.
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DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Issuance and Authorization of Bonded Indebtedness

Pusuant to the Constitution of Virginia and the Public Finance Act of 1991, Chapter 26, Title
15.2 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, a county in Virginia is authorized to issue general obligation
bonds secured by a pledge of its full faith and credit. For the payment of such bonds the governng body of a
county is requied to levy, if necessar, an ad valorem tax on all propert in the county subject to local
taxation. Although the issuance of general obligation bonds by Virgia counties is not subject to any

limtation on amount, counties are prohibited from issuing general obligation bonds uness the issuance has
been approved by public referendum, is for refuding bonds or is though the Virginia Public School

Authority, the Literar Fund, or other state agency as permitted by law. Payment of general governent and
school bonded indebtedness is provided for in the Debt Servce Fund of the County.

Revenue bonds of a county are payable from revenues of the undertakng and do not requie a
referendum thereon. Payment of water and sewer utilty revenue bonds is provided for in the County's Water
and Sewer Revenue Fund.

Payment of lease revenue bonds is subject to the anual appropriation of the Board of
Supervsors of the County.

As of June 30, 2009, the County's outstandig bonded indebtedness was as follows:

General Obligation Bonds
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds
Lease Revenue Bonds *

Subtotal
Less: Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds

Total Net Debt

$ 458,800,000
181,405,000
40,745,000

680,950,000
(181,405,000)
$ 499,545,000

*See "Bond Amortation Requiements - Tota Genera Lease Obligations" herein.
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Bond Amortization Requirements

Prcipal and interest payments on the outstanding general obligation bonded indebtedness of

the County as of June 30, 2009 are presented in the following table:

TOTAL GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND SCHOOL BONDS

Endin~ June 30 Principal Interest Total

2010 $ 33,245,000 $ 19,559,621 $ 52,804,621
2011 31,025,000 18,459,201 49,484,201
2012 29,525,000 17,091,116 46,616,116
2013 29,460,000 15,813,566 45,273,566
2014 29,400,000 14,522,288 43,922,288
2015 27,740,000 13,307,244 41,047,244
2016 27,710,000 12,078,010 39,788,010
2017 27,640,000 10,835,597 38,475,597
2018 26,115,000 9,588,530 35,703,530
2019 26,065,000 8,448,069 34,513,069
2020 26,050,000 7,265,571 33,315,571
2021 24,250,000 6,123,041 30,373,041
2022 21,630,000 5,038,295 26,668,295
2023 20,305,000 4,055,819 24,360,819
2024 17,795,000 3,134,150 20,929,150
2025 17,795,000 2,337,600 20,132,600
2026 15,850,000 1,590,719 17,440,719
2027 11,965,000 966,700 12,931,700
2028 8,365,000 504,125 8,869,125
2029 6,870,000 157,613 7,027,613
Total $ 458,800,000 $ 170,876,874 $ 629,676,875

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Finance. 

Note: Totas may not add due to roundig.
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Prcipal and interest payments on outstanding Economic Development Authority leases of

the County as of June 30, 2009 are presented in the following table:

TOTAL GENERAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Fiscal Year
Endine June 30 Principal Interest Total

2010 $ 2,710,000 $ 2,217,398 $ 4,927,398
2011 2,860,000 2,075,545 4,935,545
2012 3,015,000 1,928,382 4,943,382
2013 3,170,000 1,769,973 4,939,973
2014 3,350,000 1,600,608 4,950,608
2015 3,540,000 1,418,508 4,958,508
2016 3,735,000 1,223,023 4,958,023
2017 3,960,000 1,009,656 4,969,656
2018 3,185,000 777,603 3,962,603
2019 2,560,000 586,550 3,146,550
2020 2,720,000 424,850 3,144,850
2021 2,885,000 258,606 3,143,606
2022 3,055,000 87,831 3.142,831
Total $ 40,745,000 $ 15,378,533 $ 56,123,533

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Fince. 

Note: Totas may not add due to roundig.
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Debt Ratios

The following data are presented to show trends in the relationship of the net long-term
indebtedness of the County to the estiated market value of taxable propert in the County, its estiated

population and the trend of debt servce requiements as a percentage of General Fund and School Operatig
disbursements. In addition to General Obligation bonds, net long-term indebtedness includes General Lease

Obligations and certai Literar Fund loans as of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, briging the total to
$492,123,456.

Net Long-Term Indebtedness Per Capita

Fiscal Year
Endin2: June 30

Net Long-Term
Indebtedness

1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

$275,145,750
246,705,297
266,836,991
272,737,939
300,311,090
316,343,709
293,563,168
371,646,511
390,206,592
386,627,916
492,123,456

Estimated
Population(l)

Indebtedness
Per Capita

259,179
267,031
271,447
274,847
281,069
288,735
293,382
299,443
302,518
305,634
311,692

$1,061.61
923.88
983.02
992.33

1,068.46
1,095.62
1,000.62
1,241.13
1,289.86
1,265.00
1,578.88

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Fince.
(1) All years from Henrco County Deparent of Plang.

Trend of Net Long-Term Indebtedness as a Percentage of
Assessed Value of Taxable Property

Net Long-Term
Indebtedness

Fiscal Year
Endin2: June 30

1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

$275,145,750
246,705,297
266,836,991
272,737,939
300,311,090
316,343,709
293,563,168
371,646,511
390,206,592
386,627,916
492,123,456

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Fince.

Assessed Value Percenta2:e

$17,621,137,667
18,814,048,718
20,544,031,174
22,055,756,495
23,469,172,196
25,992,597,732
29,168,250,141
33,808,511,729
37,449,730,650
39,617,223,674
39,681,360,569

1.56%
1.31

1.30
1.24
1.28
1.22
1.01

1.10
1.04
0.98
1.24
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Trend of Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation Bonds as a
Percentage of General Disbursements

Fiscal Year Debt Service
Endine: June 30 ReQuirements(l) Disbursements(2) Percentae:e

1999 $32,678,696 $498,059,838 6.56%
2000 30,963,749 542,227,420 5.71
2001 31,754,565 584,838,845 5.43
2002 33,833,406 625,648,555 5.41
2003 37,132,336 648,669,165 5.72
2004 37,893,071 698,135,652 5.43
2005 37,212,785 742,635,904 5.01
2006 42,230,291 798,083,024 5.29
2007 48,038,472 858,946,018 5.59
2008 51,678,822 927,989,584 5.57
2009 52,623,443 953,967,019 5.52

Source: Henrco County Deparent of Fince.
(I) Includes interest and other debt servce costs.
(2) Includes Genera, Special Revenue and Debt Servce Funds.

Lease Commtments and Contractual Obligations

The County is obligated to make payments under varous capital and operatig leases for
computer hardware, automotive vehicles, equipment, and the leasing of an offce buidig. In accordance with

legal requiements, all lease obligations are contigent upon the Board of Supervsors appropriatig fuds for
each year's payments. Futue mium lease payments on obligations entered into though June 30, 2009
under these capital and operatig leases for fiscal years endig June 30 are as follows:

Fiscal
Year Amount

2010
2011
2012
Thereafer
Total mium lease payments

$12,559,080
8,605,097
6,902,256

41.317.209
$69,383,642

$16.313.361

$53.070.281

Less amount representing interest

Present value of al futue mium lease
payments

The amounts shown above include lease payments due from the County with respect to the
fiancing of regional jai facilties through the Economic Development Authority of Henrco County, Virgina.
They do not include any projected savigs from the County of Henrco, Virgia, Water and Sewer System
Refudig Revenue Bonds Series 2009A or Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B. See "Bond Amortation
Requiements - Tota General Lease Obligations" herein.

C-24



Contingent Liabilties

Richmond Metropolitan Authority (''R'') Baseball Stadium Facility. In connection with

the RM's responsibility for maintaing and operatig the Richmond metropolitan area's baseball stadium

facility, the County Board of Supervsors entered into a non-binding moral obligation under which fundig
would be requested for the County's share (one-thd) of any anual net operatig losses and any deficit in debt
servce on the $3,810,000 RM Revenue Bonds. The RM Revenue Bonds were issued under the terms of a
bond resolution dated August 28, 1984. In September, 1994, the Authority issued $2,750,000 in revenue

bonds in order to satisfy outstanding obligations on the 1984 bonds. The revenue bonds were paid in full as of
June 30,2005.

Environmental Risk. The County is the owner of closed landflls, underground storage tans,
sewage lagoons and other potential sources of toxic substances. Ownership of these propertes exposes the
County to risk of thd par pollution liability. At this time no claim exists nor is there lmowledge of any
condition which impairs a thd par's propert or person.

Joint Ventures

Capital Region Airport Commission. The Capital Region Aiort Commission (the

"Commission") was created in 1975 pursuant to Virgina statute. On Januar 1,1976, the County and the City
of Richmond entered into an intergovernental joint ventue for the operation of the Richmond International
Aiort ("Aiort") by the Commssion. As par of the ventue, the City of Richmond conveyed the Aiort
propert to the Commission, and the Commssion in tu agreed to reimbursement of the outstandig debt of
the City relatig to the propert. The County also made a contrbution to the Commission, for a 40 percent

interest in the ventue. The Counties of Chesterfeld and Hanover became Commssion parcipants in fiscal
year 1984 and fiscal year 1986, respectively.

The Commission is comprised of a fouren-member board of diectors, with four members
each being appointed by the governng bodies of the City of Richmond, the County of Henrco and the County
of Chesterfeld and two members being appointed by the County of Hanover governng body. The
Commssion generates its revenues from service charges to users of the Aiort facilities to recover the costs of
maintaing, repaig and operatig the Aiort. Virgina statute requies that the Commission anualy

submit a budget showig estiated revenues and expenditues to the governg bodies of the City of
Richmond and the thee counties for their approval. Afer approval of the proposed budget by the governng
bodies, if the Commission's budget contains estimated expenditues which exceed estimated revenues, then the
governg bodies are requied to fud the deficit in proporton to their fiancial interests in the Commssion.
If however, actual revenues are less than estimated revenues (resulting in a deficit), the City of Richmond and
the thee counties may, at their discretion, appropriate funds necessar to fud the deficit. The County has
agreed to fud its porton of the deficit, if any.

The percentage shares of the jursdictions involved include the followig:

City of Richmond
County of Henrco
County of Chesterfeld
County of Hanover

29.27%
31.44
30.17

9.12
100.00%

This fiancial interest is determed by applyig the percentage of the total approxiate
population of each jursdiction to the combined total population of al jursdictions. The above percentages are
based on the fial 1990 census figures provided by the Richmond Regional Plang Distrct Commission.
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Durg fiscal year 2009, the Commission's budget was not formally approved by the County;
the Commission did not receive any significant subsidies from the County; and the County did not receive any
fuds from the Commission for repayment of its contrbution.

Complete financial statements for the Capital Region Airort Commission can be obtaied
from its administrative offce at South Airort Drive, Henrco, Virginia 23231.

Greater Richmond Convention Center Authority. The Greater Richmond Convention Center
Authority (the "Convention Authority"), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virgia, was created

on Januai 9, 1998, pursuant to the Public Recreational Facilties Authorities Act, Chapter 56 of Title 15.2,
Code of Virginia (1950). The local governents parcipating in the incorporation of the Convention

Authority were the City of Richmond and the Counties of Henrco, Chesterfeld and Hanover. The Convention
Authority is governed by a five-member board comprised of the chief administrative offcer of each of the four
incorporatig local governents and the President/CEO of the Retai Merchants Association of Greater

Richmond.

The Convention Authority was created to acquie, finance, expand, renovate, constrct, lease,
operate and maintain the facility and grounds of a visitors and convention center or centers including the

facility and grounds curently known as the Richmond Centre. The priai purose of the Convention
Authority is to issue revenue bonds to fiance the expansion of the Richmond Centre facility and to constrct
access, streetscape, or other on-site/off-site improvements. Once the expansion is complete, the Convention
Authority wi have responsibility for the operation and maitenance of the convention center.

The Convention Authority has issued $158,415,000 in Hotel Tax Revenue Bonds, which are
secured by an 8 percent tranient occupancy tax imposed and collected by the localties. The County recorded
an expenditue of $9,905,219 for tranient occupancy tax to the Convention Authority durg the year ended
June 30, 2009.

Complete fiancial statements for the Convention Authority can be obtaied from
Chesterfeld County, Accountig Deparent, Post Offce Box 40, Chesterfeld, Virgia 23832.

Employee Retirement and Pension Plans

Al full-tie salared permanent employees of Henrco County are automaticaly enrolled in

the Virgina Retiement System ("VR"), except law enforcement offcers, who are enrolled in the Law
Enforcement Offcers Retirement System, which is also adminstered by VR. Retiement, group lie

insurance coverage, disabilty and death benefits are provided under these plan. Professional intrctional

personnel in the Henrco County School System are also automatically enrolled in the VR, but in accordance
with Chapter 1, Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), the employer contrbution costs are paraly borne
by the Commonwealth of Virgina.

Other Post Employment Benefits

Expenses associated with retiees' health benefits are fuded anualy on a cash basis.
Curent Henrco County retiees who qual for health benefits receive an implicit subsidy by parcipatig in
the active employee health care risk pool; as well, the County offers a health care credit based upon years of
servce.

Eligibilty for health care benefits is based on the retiree being imediately eligible to receive
a Virgina Retiement System (V) monthy retiement payment. Under age 65, the retiee and his or her
dependents can remai in the County's health and dental plan and pay the full active premium. Over age 65,
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a retiee and his or her dependents move to a Medicare care out plan. Certai classes of employees, such as
teachers and public safety, are eligible for a health care credit paid through VRS.

Retiees who are not eligible for the VR Health Care Credit may qualif for the County
supplement. Retiees must have a mimum of 20 full years of VRS service, 10 years of which must be with
the County. The supplement wil be paid only to eligible retiees who choose to remain in the County's group
plan. This supplement is $3 per month for each ful year of servce.

In preparation for the GASB 45 Accounting and Financial Reportg for OPEB, an actuaral
evaluation was prepared calculatig the County's post retiement medical cost as of July 1, 2007. That
evaluation estiated the Unfded Actuaral Accrued Liability for both County and Schools combined to be

$82.87 milion and the Anual Requied Contrbution (ARC) to be $8.92 milion. This scenaro is based on a
discount rate of 7.0 percent and a 30-year amortation of the ununded actuaral liability. The County fuy
fuded the resulting $6.7 milion Net OPEB Obligation durg FY2008-09. An actuaral update for June 30,
2009 reflects that the "Employer Contrbution as a Percent of OPEB Cost" stood at 139.64%. It should be
noted that durng FY2007 -08 Henrco County became a founding member of the OPEB Trust Fund established
by the Virgina Muncipal League. The County continues to fully fud its GASB 45 obligations. The
FY2009-10 budget includes funding of $6.0 millon for this commitment.

Capital Improvement Program

The Capital Improvement Program (the "CIF") represents those infastrctue improvements
needed over the next five years by the County and provides for the orderly and systematic fiancing and
acquisition of public improvements. In evaluatig each of the proposed projects, the CIP process takes into
account such factors as population growt density, economic development concerns, the County's fiscal
abilty, and the desired servce levels.

The amount appropnated for capital projects each year is based on the CIP in effect at the
time of the development of the budget. Recommendations in subsequent CIF's may result in revisions to the
amounts appropnated for specifc projects.

The approved Capital Budget for fiscal year 2010 is $52,993,200, and includes fundig for
projects that alows the County to continue to provide existig service levels to the citizens. All projects have
a known fundig source. It must be noted that due to the curent instabilty in the economy and the uncertaity
of futue economic growt, the County made the diffcult decision to delay the issuance of $77.5 million in
General Obligations (GO) bonds that were onginally planed for FY2009-10. Delayig the issuance of these
GO bonds was necessar due to the estiated increase in debt servce requiements in FY2010-11 in the
curent economic enviornent. Because the issuance of GO bonds has been delayed, capita projects for
Schools, Librares and Fire are not included in the FY2009-10 Adopted Capita Budget. Once the economy
begis to recover and the outlook for futue revenue growt appears more certai, the issuance of these GO
bonds and the projects associated with the bonds wil be included in the budget. This could occur though the
budget amendment process or durg the development of the FY2010-11 budget.

Shown on the followig two pages is a sumar of the approved CIF for fiscal year 2010 and
proposed expenditues for the five-year plan, in addition to a sumar of projected fudig sources:
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APPENDIX D

SUMMRY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS

The followig statements are brief sumares of certai provisions of the Resolutions. Such

statements do not purort to be complete, and reference is made to the Resolutions, copies of which are on fie
and available at the offce of the Clerk of the Board of Supervsors.

Construction Fund

The proceeds of any Additional Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes issued for the purose of

financing the acquing, constrcting, reconstrcting, improving, extending or enlarging of the System are to

be deposited into the Water and Sewer System Constrction Fund (the "Constrction Fund").

Moneys in the Constrction Fund shal be used only in cang out the acquing, constrcting,

reconstrcting, improvig, extending or enlarging of the System and shal be so applied by the County,

including the reimbursement of any advances made by the County from its General Fund or other avaiable
fuds of the County for such puroses. If, afer payment of all such costs, any moneys remain in the

Constrction Fund, the balance shall be applied to other improvements, extensions and enlargements of the

System. All earngs derived from investments made from moneys in the Constrction Fund shall be credited
to that fud and shal be applied as are other moneys to the credit of such fud.

Collection and Disposition of Revenues

The Bonds, together with the interest thereon, shal be payable solely from the Revenues of the
System, which are pledged to the payment of the pricipal of and interest on the Bonds and to the securty

thereof in accordance with the Bond Resolution. The County has covenanted that it wil pay into the Water
and Sewer Revenue Fund (the "Revenue Fund") al Revenues of the System and that al Revenues shal be
trst funds in the hands of the County and shal be applied only as provided in the Bond Resolution.

The Revenues shal be applied and expended for the followig puroses and in the followig order of

priority (except as otherwse permttd by the Bond Resolution and as provided for in the Supplemental
Resolution) to the following accounts, heretofore created, in the Revenue Fund:

1. Operation and Maintenance Account: On the fist business day of each month there shal be

credited to the Operation and Maitenance Account in the Revenue Fund such moneys as are determned to be
necessar to pay the expenses of operatig and maitaig the System durng such month. Such expenses of

operation and maitenance shal include (a) salares, wages, employee benefits, costs of materials and supplies,
costs of water, costs of power, costs of routie repais, renewals, replacements and alterations occurg in the
usual course of business, costs of billigs and collections, costs of inurance, costs of audits, taxes, if any, a
properly alocable share of County admstrative and overhead expenses, and any other costs with respect to
any servces, facilties or commodities which are requied for operatig and maitag the System and
(b) payments for water, water supply, water treatment and water tranmission for water distrbuted by the

System or for the tranmission, treatment and disposal of sewage collected by the System (i) made to other
governental bodies or (ii) made for the use, servces and facilties of or commodities supplied by plants and
propertes of the County which are acquied, constrcted or operated as separate utiity systems. The moneys
credited to the Operation and Maitenance Account shal be applied to the payment of the expenses of
operatig and maitag the System

2. Interest Account, Principal Account and Sinking Fund Account: For the purose of providig

for the payment of the interest on the Series 2009 Bonds, not later than May 1,2010 and on or before each
May 1 and November 1 thereafer, there shal be credted to the Interest Account an amount such that, if the
same amount were so paid and credited to the Interest Account on each May 1 and November 1 thereafer and
prior to the next date upon which an intalent of interest fals due on the Series 2009 Bonds, the aggregate of
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the amounts so credited to the Interest Account, would on such date be equal to the installment of interest then
falling due on the Series 2009 Bonds. The County has provided or shall provide in the Supplemental
Resolutions authorizig the Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes for such credits to be made in such amounts
and at such times sufficient to pay when due each such installment of interest. The Supplemental Resolutions
providing for the Series 2009 Bonds provide for such credits in such amounts and at such time sufficient to pay
when due each such installment

For the purose of providing for the payment of the principal of the Series 2009 Bonds issued as

Serial Bonds, not later than May 1, 2014 and on or before May 1 thereafer, so long as any Series 2009 Bonds
issued as Serial Bonds are Outstanding, there shall be credited to the Prncipal Account an amount such that, if
the same amount were so credited to the Prcipal Account on May 1 of each succeeding year thereafter and
prior to the next date upon which an instalment of principal falls due on the Series 2009 Bonds issued as
Serial Bonds, the aggregate of the amounts so credited to the Prncipal Account, together with any other
moneys theretofore credited to the Prncipal Account, would on such date be equal to the installment of
pricipal of such Bonds then falling due. For the purose of providing moneys to retie any Series 2009 Term
Bonds, not later than May 1 in the year of the fist redemption date of Series 2009 Term Bonds, and on and
before May 1 in each year thereafer, so long as any Series 2009 Term Bonds are Outstanding, there shall be
credited to the Sinkng Fund Account for the purose of retig the Series 2009 Term Bonds an amount such
that, if the same amount were so paid and credited to the Sinng Fund Account to provide for the retiement of
the Series 2009 Term Bonds on May 1 of each year thereafer and prior to the next date upon which a Sinkg
Fund Account installment falls due, the aggregate of the amounts so credited to such account would on such
date be sufcient to redeem the Series 2009 Term Bonds in the principal amount as provided herein. The
County has provided or shall provide in the Supplemental Resolutions authoriing the Bonds for such credits
to be made in such amounts and at such times sufcient to pay when due each such installment of pricipal or

sinng fund payment. The Supplemental Resolutions providig for the Series 2009 Bonds provide for such
credits in such amounts and at such tie sufcient to pay when due each such installment.

With respect to the Bonds issued in term form, moneys shal be credited monthy to the Sing Fund
Account in such amounts and at such times sufcient to redeem such term Bonds in the pricipal amounts and

at the ties specified in the supplemental resolution authorizing such term Bonds. The moneys credited to the
Sing Fund Account to provide for the retiement of any Bonds issued in term form shal be applied by the
County's Director of Finance, without fuher authoriation or direction, to the redemption of such Bonds on
each date on which a Sinkg Fund Account installment for such Bonds is due, in the respective pricipal
amounts requied to be credited to such account on such dates, or, if so diected by the County, semianually
on both such due date and the day six (6) months prior to such date (exclusive of the day which is six (6)
months prior to the fist of such due dates), in the respective pricipal amounts on credit to such account on
such days so that the aggregate amount so applied in each calendar year wil equal the respective pricipal

amount requied to be credited to such account on such Sing Fund Account intallment dates; provided that
amounts to be applied on the stated matuty date of any such Bonds shal be applied to the payment on that
date of such Bonds of that matuty without calg such Bonds for redemption on that date. The County's

Director of Finance may apply the moneys credited to the Sing Fund Account for the retiement of Bonds
issued in term form to the purchase of such Bonds, in which event the pricipal amount of such Bonds requied
to be redeemed on the next respective ensuig Sing Fund Account intalent date shall be reduced by the
pricipal amount of such Bonds so purchased. Any purchase of Bonds pursuant to the foregoing may be made
with or without tenders of Bonds and at either public or private sale, but in any event at a purchase price
(includig accrued interest and any brokerage or other charge) not to exceed the then applicable redemption

price of such Bonds, plus accrued interest. The Supplemental Resolutions providig for the Series 2009 Bonds
provide for such credits in such amounts and at such tie sufcient to pay when due each such intalment.

In the event of the issuance of Additional Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes (as defied herein), the
foregoing credits are requied to be increased as may be necessar to provide for the payment of principal of
and interest on such Additional Bonds and interest on such Bond Anticipation Notes.
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The moneys credited to such accounts shall be transferred by the County's Director of Finance to the
paying agents in such amounts and at such times as shal be necessar to pay the pricipal of and premium, if

any, and interest on the Bonds and interest on the Bond Anticipation Notes as the same become due and
payable.

3. Reserve Account: In order to provide a reserve for the payment of interest on the Bonds and
Bond Anticipation Notes and the pricipal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds, there shal be maintained on
deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the maxmum anual Debt
Servce Requiement (as defined in the Bond Resolution) for the Bonds. Subject to the provisions of the Bond
Resolution with respect to the credits to the Reserve Account upon the issuance of Additional Bonds, the
moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account shal always be maintaied at an
amount at least equal to the maxmum anual Debt Servce Requiement for any year for al Bonds at the tie
outstandig and if at any time the moneys in the Revenue Fund credited to the Reserve Account are less than
such amount, there shal be credited to ths account from the fist moneys available therefor in the Revenue
Fund, afr all credits referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2) above have been met, such amounts as shal be
necessar until there is agai on credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the maxum anual Debt
Servce Requiement. In the event of the issuance of Additional Bonds, uness upon the delivery of such
Additional Bonds there shall aleady be on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an
amount equal to the maxmum anual Debt Servce Requiement to be in effect after the issuance of such
Additional Bonds, (1) there shall be paid into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account such
amount, if any, of the proceeds of the sale of such Additional Bonds as the County may determine, so that
there shall then be on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the
maxmum anual Debt Servce Requiement to be in effect imediately afer the issuance of such Additional
Bonds, or (2) if there shall not be paid into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account proceeds of
such Additional Bonds in an amount so there shall then be on credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal
to the maxum anual Debt Service Requiement to be in effect immediately afr the issuance of such
Additional Bonds, there shal be credited to the Reserve Account from tie to tie such amounts as the
County may determine, of the moneys avaiable therefor afer all credits referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2)
above have been met, so that no later than five (5) years from the date of such Additional Bonds there shal be
on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the maxmum anual
Debt Servce Requiement to be in effect afr the issuance of such Additional Bonds. The moneys in the
Revenue Fund to the credit of the Reserve Account shal be applied solely for the purose of payig the
interest on Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes and the pricipal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds when
due, whether at their matuty or upon the redemption or .purchase thereof, and shal be so used and applied
whenever there are inufcient moneys in the Revenue Fund on credit to the Interest Account, Prcipal
Account and Sing Fund Account for such puroses.

In lieu of the deposit of moneys into the Reserve Account, or in substitution therefor or any par
thereof from tie to tie, the County may cause to be so credited a surety bond or an inurance policy,

payable to the County for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, or a lettr of credit in an amount equal to the
difference between the maxum Debt Servce Requiement for such Bonds and the amounts then on deposit
in the Reserve Account. The surety bond, insurance policy or lettr of credit shal be payable (upon the givig

of notice as requied thereunder) on any interest payment due on which moneys wi be requied to be
withdrawn from the Reserve Account, and applied to the payment of the pricipal or interest on any Bonds and
such withdrawals canot be made by amounts credted to the Reserve Account The inurer providig such

surety bond or insurance policy shal be an insurer whose muncipal bond inurance policies inurg the
payment, when due, of the pricipal of and interest on muncipal bond issues results in such issues being rate
in the highest ratig category by any of Fitch Investors Servce, L.P., Standard & Poor's Corporation or

Moody's Investors Servce, Inc., or their successors, or any inurer who holds the highest policyholder ratig
accorded inurers by A.M. Best & Co. or any comparable servce. If Fitch Investors Servce, L.P., Moody's
Investors Servce or Standard & Poor's Corporation then rates the Bonds, the inurer shal be one whose
muncipal bond inurance policies are rate in the highest ratig category by the respective ratig agency
ratig the Bonds. The lettr of credt issuer shal be a ban or trst company which is rate not lower than the
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second highest ratig category by Fitch Investors Servce, L.P., Standard & Poor's Corporation or Moody's
Investors Servce, Inc., or their successors, and the letter of credit itself shall be rated in the highest category of
either such ratig agency; provided that if any of Fitch Investor's Servce, L.P., Moody's Investors Servce or
Standard & Poor's Corporation then rates the Bonds the letter of credit issuer and the letter of credit itself shall
both be rated in the aforementioned categories of the respective agency rating the Bonds. If a disbursement is
made pursuant to a surety bond, an insurance policy or a letter of credit provided pursuant to ths paragraph,
the County shal be obligated either (i) to reinstate the maxum limits of such surety bond, insurance policy
or letter of credit or (ii) to deposit into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account, funds in the
amount of the disbursement trade under such surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit, or a combination
of such alternatives, as shall provide that the amount credited to the Reserve Account, equals the maxum
Debt Servce Requirement, such amounts to be provided from the first available moneys afer payments to the
Interest Account, Prcipal Account and Sinng Fund Account in the Revenue Fund. Any interest or fees
shall be paid from available moneys afer payment to the Interest Account, Prcipal Account and Sinng
Fund Account in the Revenue Fund.

Any surety bond insurance policy or letter of credit must be unconditional and irevocable. To the
extent such surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit expires prior to the final matuty of the Bonds, the
County shall provide prior to termation of such bond policy or letter of credit a substitute surety bond,
insurance policy or lettr of credit complyig with the provisions hereof or shall provide from Revenues, an
amount such that there wil be deposit on the Reserve Account, an amount equal to the maxum Debt Servce
Requiement.

If the issuer of a surety bond, insurance policy or lettr of credit on deposit in the Reserve Account,
shall cease to have a ratig as described above, the County shal use reasonable efforts to replace such surety
bond, insurance policy or letter of credit with one issued by an insurer havig a ratig so described, but shall
not be obligated to pay, or commit to pay, increased fees, expenses or interest in connection with such

replacement or to deposit Revenues in the Account, in lieu of replacing such surety bond, inurance policy or
lettr of credit with another.

4. Accounts which may be created: In the event any payments on hedge agreements, support

agreements or other financial agreements, other than payments constituting pricipal of, premium, if any, and

interest on, Bonds, shall be secured by a lien on and pledge of Revenues on a party with the lien on and pledge
of the Revenues created for the payment and securty of the Bonds, a separate account shall be established in
the Revenue Fund for the payment thereof and payments to such account shal be made from Revenues at the
time and afr Revenues are disbursed to the Interest, Pricipal and Sinkg Fund Accounts in the Revenue
Fund.

5. Other purposes: Money on deposit in the Revenue Fund not requied to make the payments

or credits referred to in paragaphs (1), (2), (3) and (4) above shal constitute surlus fuds and may be used to
make al renovations, replacements, renewals and repais to the System as are necessar to maita the

System in good condition. Such moneys may, however, also be used for makg up insufciencies in any

account in the Revenue Fund; for payig the costs of acquisition or constrction of plants and propertes to
comprise par of the System; for payig the cost of reconstrctions, improvements, enlargements or extnsions
to the System; for redeemig or purchasing Bonds; for acceleratig the payments requied to be made into the
Reserve Account; for the makg of advances, in anticipation of repayment from evidences of indebtedness or
other moneys, for the purose of acquig and constrctig plants and propertes for the storage, supply and
treatment of water or the treatment and disposal of sewage, including associated tranmission facilties, which
the County has elected to acquie, constrct and operate as separate utity systems; for the carg out of any
other provisions of the Bond Resolution; for the payment of the pricipal of and premium, if any, and interest
on Bond Anticipation Notes; for the payment of bonds, notes, certcates of indebtedness or other evidences of
indebtedness secured by a lien on and pledge of the Revenues of the System junor to the payment and securty
of the Bonds; for the payment of taxes, assessments or other governental charges; or for any other lawfl

purose of the County with respect to the System.
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Covenant as to Rates and Charges

The County covenants to establish, maintain, revise and collect rates and charges for the servces,
facilities and commodities sold, furshed or supplied though the facilities of the System sufcient to provide
the followig:

A. Revenues to pay al costs of and expenses in connection with the proper operation and
maintenance ofthe System, to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds and interest
on any Bond Anticipation Notes, to pay all costs and expenses in connection with al necessar repais,
replacements or renewals of the System and al taxes, assessments or other governental charges lawfully
imposed on the System or on the Revenues therefrom or payments in lieu thereof, to make al credits to the
Interest Account, Prncipal Account, Sinng Fund Account and Reserve Account requied by the Bond
Resolution and to pay all other amounts which the County may now or hereafr become obligated to pay from
the Revenues of the System; and

B. Net Operatig Revenues (as defined below) in each year to be at least equal to 1.25 times the
aggegate of (a) the Debt Servce Requiement durg such year on all Bonds at the time outstanding and
(b) the interest durg such year on all Bond Anticipation Notes at the tie outstanding.

'"Net Operatig Revenues" as used in the Bond Resolution mean the Revenues of the System afer
deduction of the ordinar expenses of operation and maintenance of the System, but excluding from Revenues
in such calculation any income, revenues or moneys derived from (i) rates, charges, fees and rentals for the
privilege of connecting to the System, (ii) eargs on investments and the proceeds of the sale of investments,
(ii) the proceeds of the sale or other disposition of all or any par of the System and (iv) the proceeds of
insurance and condemnation awards received with respect to the System.

Issuance of Additional Obligations

The County shal not issue any bonds, notes, certficates of indebtedness or other evidences of
indebtedness havig in any way a lien and charge on the Revenues prior to the lien and charge created by the
Bond Resolution for the payment and securty for the Bonds.

Additional Bonds. The County may issue Additional Bonds payable and secured equally and ratably
with the Bonds then outstadig for any purose connected with or pertaig to the System, now or hereafer

authorized by law, upon compliance with the followig conditions:

1. The County shal not be in default of any provision of the Bond Resolution;

2. There shal not be any deficiency in any of the accounts in the Revenue Fund, includig the

Interest Account, the Prcipal Account, the Sinkg Fund Account or the Reserve Account in the Revenue
Fund; and

3. One-hal of the Net Operatig Revenues durg any 24 consecutive month (the "Base

Period") out of the 30 months imediately precedig the issuance of the Additional Bonds, shal have been not
less than i.25 ties the maxum Debt Servce Requiement to accrue durg any year on the Bonds then
outstadig and such Additional Bonds.

If any changes have been made and are in effect at the tie of the issuance of the Additional Bonds in
the rates and charges for the servces, facilities and commodities of the System (exclusive of changes in the
rates and charges for the privilege of connectig to the System) which were not in effect durg al or any par
of the Base Period, the Net Operatig Revenues for the Base Period shal be adjusted by the Consultig
Engineer to reflect the results which would have occured in the Net Opratig Revenues if such changes in
the rates and charges had been in effect durg al the Base Period; provided, however, that (i) uness the
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changes in the rates and charges shall result in a decrease in Net Operatig Revenues or (ii) unless the changes
in the rates and charges shall have been in effect at least six (6) months prior to the issuance of the Additional
Bonds, the adjustment in the Net Operatig Revenues for any par of the Base Period in which the changes in
the rates and charges were not in effect, shall reflect not in excess of seventy-five percent (75%) of the changes
in the Operatig Revenues resulting from the changes in the rates and charges.

In the event the expenses of operation and maintenance of the System durg the Base Period include
payments to the City of Richmond, Virginia, for the treatment and disposal of sewage of the County, the
acquisition and constrction of facilities for the treatment and disposal of which the Additional Bonds are
being issued (or for which Bond Anticipation Notes to be paid from the Additional Bonds have been issued),
then the Net Operatig Revenues durg the Base Period may be increased by an amount equal to fort percent
(40%) of such payments.

Bond Anticipation Notes. The County may issue bonds, notes, certcates of indebtedness or other
evidences of indebtedness payable as to interest ("Bond Anticipation Notes") on a party with the pricipal of

and interest on Bonds issued under the Bond Resolution, upon compliance with the Bond Resolution,
including the following conditions:

i. The County shall not be in default of any provision of the Bond Resolution;

2. There shall not be any deficiency in any of the accounts in the Revenue Fund, includig the

Interest Account, the Prncipal Account, the Sing Fund Account or the Reserve Account in the Revenue
Fund; and

3. Unless the proposed Bond Anticipation Notes are being issued solely for the purose of

extending or renewing other Bond Anticipation Notes, one-hal of the Net Operatig Revenues (as defined

hereinbefore) durg any consecutive twenty-four (24) month (the "Base Period") out of the th (30)

month imediately precedig the issuance of the Bond Anticipation Notes shal have been not less than one
and one-quarr (1.25) ties the maxum aggregate in any year of (a) the Debt Servce Requiement on the
Bonds then outstandig and (b) that amount which would be requied to pay the pricipal of and interest
(uness capitalized) on any Bond Anticipation Notes then outstandig (if any) and the proposed Bond
Anticipation Notes, on the assumptions that (i) the pricipal of al the Bond Anticipation Notes matued
anually over th (30) years from the date of the proposed Bond Anticipation Notes, commencing with the

fist anversar of the date of the proposed Notes, (ii) al the Bond Anticipation Notes bore interest at the rate
on the Bond Anticipation Notes to be issued, with such interest being payable anualy on each anversar of
the date of the proposed Bond Anticipation Notes and (iii) the totals in each year of the pricipal of and
interest payable on al the Bond Anticipation Notes and the Debt Servce Requiement on the Bonds then
outstandig shal be substantially equal.

Refunding Bonds. The County may issue Additional Bonds without compliance with any other
conditions for the purose of refudig at any tie within one year prior to matuty thereof any of the Bonds

for the payment of which the County does not have sufcient funds. Any Additional Bonds issued for such
purose shal matue, and any sing fund credit therefor shal commence, in a year later than the last stated
matuty of any Bond then outstandig which is not so refuded.

The County may also issue Additional Bonds without compliance with any other conditions for the
purose of refudig prior to matuty any of the Bonds; provided that the Debt Servce Requiement on
account of the Refudig Bonds and the Bonds which are not refuded shal not be greater in any year in
which the Bonds not refuded are to be outstandig than the Debt Servce Requiement in such year if the
Bonds to be refuded were not so refuded.

Subordinate Indebtedness. The Bond Resolution provides that nothg therein shal prohibit the
County from issuig other bonds, notes, certcates of indebtedness or other evidences of indebtedness havig
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a lien on the Revenues which is junor and subordinate to the lien on such Revenues created by the Bond
Resolution for the payment and securty of the Bonds.

Separate Utility System Indebtedness. The Bond Resolution provides that nothing contaied therein
shall prohibit the County from issuing bonds to acquire or constrct water or sewer facilities, which the County
has elected to acquie, constrct or operate as utility systems separate from the System, and which bonds are
payable solely from the revenues or other income derived from the ownership or operation of such separate
utility system; provided, however, that the Consulting Engineer shall certfy that the acquisition or constrction
or operation of such separate utility system wil not result in a reduction of the Revenues or Net Operatig
Revenues below the amounts covenanted by the County in the Bond Resolution to be produced.

Hedge Agreements, Support Agreements or Other Financial Agreements; Variable Rate Bonds. The
Bond Resolution provides that nothng shall prohibit or prevent, or be deemed or constred to prohibit or
prevent, (i) the County from enterig into hedge agreements, support agreements or other financial agreements
under which payments (includig but not limited to, fees, charges, expenses but excludig any termination,
indemnification or other payments intended to pay any person for loss of benefits under such agreement) are
payable from Revenues and secured by a lien on and pledge of Revenues on a party with the lien on and
pledge of the Revenues created for payment and securty of the Bonds; provided such payments shal meet the
requiements of the Resolutions and (ii) the County from issuing varable rate bonds.

Annual Budget

Pror to the commencement of each fiscal year there shall be filed with the Clerk of the Board of
Supervsors a proposed budget of contemplated expenditues and estiated revenues of the System durng
such ensuig fiscal year (the "Budget"). The Budget shall contai an itemized plan of al such expenditues
and revenues and such other inormation as may be requied by law. Not later than seven (7) days prior to the
commencement of such fiscal year, the Board of Supervsors shal hold a public hearg on the Budget at
which any Bondholder or his representative may appear and present objections to the Budget. Notice of such
hearg together with a copy of the Budget shall be maied, at least seven (7) days prior to the hearg, to each
Bondholder who has fied with the Board of Supervsors a wrttn request therefor.

Investments of Moneys

Moneys in the Revenue Fund on credit to the Interest Account, the Prncipal Account and the Sing
Fund Account shal be invested in Investment Securties (as defined below) so as to matue in amounts and at
ties (as permtted by law) so that the pricipal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds can be paid

when due, whether at matuty thereof or upon the redemption or the purchase thereof.

Moneys in the Revenue Fund on credit to the Reserve Account shall be invested in Investment
Securties of the tyes described in items (i) though (iv) of the defintion of Investment Securties below so as
to matue or be subject to redemption with such period as permttd by law but not to exceed twelve (12)
years from the date of investment and in any event not later than the fial matuty date of any Bonds then
outstandig.

Income derived from investments made pursuant to the precedig two paragaphs shal be treated as
Revenues of the System and used and applied as are al other Revenues but shal not be included in any
calculation of Revenues for puroses of the rate covenant of the County. See "APPENDIX D - SUMY OF
CERTAI PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Covenant as to Rates and Charges".

"Investment Securties" shal mean any of the following which are legal investments under the laws of
the Commonwealth of Virgina: (i) diect and general obligations of, or obligations unconditionally guaranteed
by, the United States of America, (ii) obligations of the Federal Land Ban, Federal Home Loan Ban,
Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Intermediate Credit Ban, Federal Ban for Cooperatives,
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International Ban for Reconstrction and Development and Asian Development Ban and diect and general
obligations of any agencies of the United States of America not included in the foregoing listing, (üi) diect
and general ful faith and credit obligations of the Commonwealth of Virginia, (iv) unimited tax direct and
general obligations of any political unt in the Commonwealth of Virginia, to the payment of which the full
faith and credit of such political unt is pledged; provided that such obligations are rated in either of the two
highest ratig categories by a nationally recognized bond ratig agency, and (v) certficates of deposit secured
as provided by law of national banng associations located in Virginia and bans and trst companes
organed under Virginia law.

Reports and Audits

The County shall keep, separate from all other records and accounts, proper books and accounts
showig correct and complete entres of all financial transactions pertaig to the System. The holders of any
of the Bonds shall have the right to inspect such books, records and accounts and to inspect the System.

With one hundred eighty (180) days following the close of each fiscal year the County shal cause an audit of
such books and accounts of the System to be made by an independent firm of certed public accountants,
showing the receipts and disbursements for and on account of the System. Each such audit shal include, inter
alia, (i) a statement of revenues, expenses and retaied eargs of the System for such fiscal year, including
operatig and maintenance expenses in reasonable detail and a statement of cash flow, and (ü) a balance sheet
as of the end of such fiscal year, showing separately the cash and investments credited to the funds and

accounts requied by the Bond Resolution.

A copy of each such audit report shall be sent to the nationaly recognzed bond ratig agencies and to
any Bondholder requesting in wrting a copy thereof.

Insurance

The County shal car insurance on the facilities comprising the System of the kids which are
usually cared upon simar water and sewer systems, including fire, extended coverage and general liability,
and additional insurance as shall be determined by the County; provided, however, that the County may self-
inure to the extent customar with utilities operatig simiar propertes. The proceeds of any policies for

general liabilty shall be paid into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Operation and Maitenance Account and
be used in payig the clais on account of which they were received. Al moneys received for other losses

shall be paid into the Revenue Fund and used for makg good the damage in respect to which they were paid;
provided, however, that the County shall not be requied to make good such damage, if in the judgment of the
County, the propert involved is no longer usefu or profitable in the operation of the System or necessar to
produce or maitai the Revenues thereof, or which is to be or has been replaced by other propert so as not to
impai the operation of the System

Additional Covenants of the County

The County (i) shal proceed with al reasonable dispatch with any acqmsition, constrction,

reconstrction, improvement, extension or enlargement to be fianced from the proceeds of any Additional

Bonds or otherwse fianced from the Revenues of the System, (ii) shal maintai al franchises, licenses and
permts necessar to the operation of the System or as may be requied by law, (ii) shal operate the System as
a revenue-producing facilty, (iv) shall maintai the System in good repai and workig order, (v) shal retai
management of, and control over, the System, includig the rates, fees and charges and revenues thereof,
(vi) shal fu al of its agreements, covenants and obligations contaed in cert agreements between the
County and the City of Richmond, Virgina, regardig wastewater facilities (see the section "TH SYSTEM-
Agreements with the City of Richmond" in Appendi A), (vi) shal ful al of its agreements, covenants and

obligations contaied in the Unication Agreement (as defied in the section "TH SYSTEM - History and
Development" in Appendi A), and shal not amend the same in any maner adverse to the interest of any
Bondholder, (vi) shall not acquie and constrct and operate plants and propertes used for or pertg to the
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storage, supply and treatment of water or the treatment and disposal of sewage, including associated

transmission facilities, as separate utility systems, uiess in the opinion of a consulting engineer such
acquisition and constrction and operation will not result in a reduction of the Revenues or Net Operating
Revenues below the amounts covenanted in the Bond Resolution by the County to be produced, (ix) shall
comply with the requiements of Section 103 and Sections 141 though 150 ofthe Internal Revenue Code of
1986 thoughout the term of the Bonds, (x) shall not permit bonds to be issued by any sanitar distrct, if such
bonds (a) shall be payable in any way from the Revenues prior to or on a party with the payments to be made
to the Operation and Maitenance Account, the Interest Account, the Prcipal Account, the Sinking Fund
Account and the Reserve Account or (b) shall be secured by a lien on the Revenues equal or superior to the
lien thereon of the Bonds, and (xi) shall not dispose of or encumber the System or propert thereof or interest
therein; provided, however, that nothig in the Bond Resolution shall prohibit the County from disposing of
any propert which in its judgment is no longer useful in the operation of the System, or necessar to produce
the Revenues thereof, or which is to be replaced by other propert so as not to impair the operations of the
System Any moneys received from such disposition may be used to acquie or constrct new propertes to
replace the propertes disposed of or to acquie or constrct new propertes to constitute par of the System.

Events of Default, Bondholder Remedies

The Bond Resolution provides that each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default:

1. Failure to pay the principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds when due;

2. Faiure to pay interest on any Bond or Bond Anticipation Note or any sinkng fund

installment, when due;

3. Faiure to perform any other covenant or agreement contained in the Bond Resolution, which

faiure shal have contiued for six (60) days afr notice thereof from the holders of not less than 20% of the
outstandig Bonds; provided, however, that if any such faiure shal be such that it canot be cured or corrected
withn a six (60) day period, it shal not constitute an Event of Default if curative or corrective action is
intituted with such period and diligently pursued until the faiure or performance is cured or corrected;

4. Except as permittd by the Bond Resolution, the sale or transfer of any propertes constituting

a par of the System, or the voluntar forfeitue of any of its licenses, franchises, permts, privieges, easements
or rights of way necessar in the operation of the System;

5. The institutig of any proceedig with the consent of the County for the purose of effectig

a composition between the County and its creditors, the claim of such creditors being payable from the
Revenues of the System or for the purose of adjustig the clai of such creditors pursuant to any federal or
State statute;

6. The enterig of an order or decree appointig a receiver of the System or any of the propertes

thereof or interests therein;

7. The assumption of control by a cour, under the provision of any applicable banptcy laws

of the System or any of the propertes thereof, and such control shal not be termated with 90 days from the
date of such assumption, or the approval by a cour of a petition for the reorganation of the System or
rearangement of the obligations of the County under the Bond Resolution; or

8. If the County shal for any reason be rendered incapable of fuing its obligations under the
Bond Resolution.
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Upon the occurence of an Event of Default, the holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in
pricipal amount ofthe Bonds then outstanding may declare the pricipal of all the outstanding Bonds, and all
accrued and unpaid interest thereon, to be due and payable immediately. That provision is subject to the
condition that, if at any time afer such declaration and before any furer action has been taken, all arears of
interest on the Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes and pricipal of the Bonds shall be paid and all other
Events of Default, if any, which shall have occured shal have been remedied, then the holders of a majority in
pricipal amount of the outstanding Bonds may waive such default and anul such declaration.

If an Event of Default shall have occured and be contiuing, the holders of not less than 25% in
pricipal amount of the outstanding Bonds may call a meeting of the holders of Bonds for the purose of
electing a bondholders' committee (the "Bondholders' Committee"). At such meeting the holders of not less
than a majority in pricipal amount of the outstanding Bonds must be present in person or by proxy in order to
constitute a quoru for the transaction of business. A quoru being present at such meeting, the Bondholders

present may, by a majority of the votes cast, elect one or more persons, who mayor may not be Bondholders,
to the Committee. The Bondholders' Committee is empowered to exercise, as trstee for the Bondholders, all
the rights and powers conferred on any bondholder in the Bond Resolution.

Upon the occurence of an Event of Default the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of
the Bonds then outstandig or any committee or trstee therefor shall be entitled to the appointment of a
receiver by any cour of competent jursdiction. Any such receiver may be appointed upon the application to
the Circuit Cour of the Foureenth Judicial Circuit of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or to any other cour of
competent jursdiction in the Commonwealth of Virgiia. Any receiver so appointed may enter and take
possession of the System, operate, maitai and repai the same, impose and prescribe rates, rentals, fees or
charges and receive and apply all Revenues thereafer arsing therefrom and in the same maner as the County
itself might do.

In case an Event of Default shall occur, subject to the provisions referred to in the three next precedig
paragraphs, the holder of any outstandig Bond shal have the right, for the equal benefit of al holders of the
Bonds, to protect the rights vested in such holders by the Bond Resolution by such appropriate judicial
proceedig as such holder shall determe, either by suit in equity or by action at law.

Modification of Bond Resolution

The County may without consent of any Bondholder make any modication of or amendment to the

Bond Resolution requied to cure any ambiguity or error contaied therein, make any amendments thereto to
grant to the Bondholders additional rights, or make an amendment thereto for the purose of providig for the
issuance of Additional Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes.

The holders of two-thds in pricipal amount of the outstandig Bonds shal have power to authorie
any modifications proposed by the County of the Bond Resolution; provided that without the consent of the
holder of each Bond afected thereby, no modification shal be made which wil (a) extend the tie of payment
of the pricipal of or the interest on any Bond or reduce the pricipal amount thereof or the rate of interest
thereon or the premium payable upon the redemption thereof, (b) give to any Bond any preference over any
other Bond secured equally and ratably therewith, (c) create any pledge prior to or on a party with the pledge
aforded by the Bond Resolution, (d) deprive any Bondholder of the securty aforded by the pledge of the
Bond Resolution or (e) reduce the percentage in pricipal amount of the Bonds requied to authorie any
modifcation to the Bond Resolution.

If payment of debt servce on a series of Additional Bonds is insured or otherwse credit enhanced, the
issuer of the policy or credit enhancement may, at the option of the County, be considered as the Bondholder
of such series for puroses of consenting to amendments.
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Defeasance

The obligations of the County under the Bond Resolution and liens, pledges and covenants of the
County therein provided for, shall be fully discharged and satisfied as to any Bond and such Bond shal no
longer be deemed to be outstanding thereunder when such Bond shall have been purchased by the County and
cancelled or destroyed, or when pricipal of such Bond and redemption premium, if any, plus interest on such
pricipal to the due date thereof, either (a) shall have been made or (b) shall have been provided for by
irevocably depositing with a payig agent for such Bond moneys sufcient to make such payment or diect
and general obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on wmch are guaranteed by, the United
States of America matug in such amounts and at such times as will insure the availability of sufficient
moneys to make such payment, as is more fuly set fort in the Bond Resolution.
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APPENDIX E

DESCRIPTION OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY
AND THE BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM

The description which follows of the procedures and recordkeeping with respect to beneficial
ownership interests in the Series 2009 Bonds, payments of principal and interest on the Series 2009
Bonds to The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York, its nominee, Participants,
defined herein, or Beneficial Owners, defined herein, confirmation and transfer of beneficial ownership
interests in the Series 2009 Bonds and other bond-related transactions by and between DTC,
Participants and Beneficial Owners, is based solely on information furnished by DTC.

DTC wi act as securties depository for the Senes 2009 Bonds. The Series 2009 Bonds wi be
issued as fully registered Senes 2009 Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's parership
nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authonzed representative of DTC. One fully
registered Senes 2009 Bond certcate will be issued in the aggregate pnncipal amount of each matuty of
each series of the Senes 2009 Bonds and wi be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest securties depository, is a limited-purose trst company organzed under the
New York Banng Law, a "banng organzation" within the meanng of the New York Banng Law, a
member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearg corporation" withn the meanng of the New York Uniorm
Commercial Code, and a "clearg agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17 A of the
Securties Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servcing for over 3.5 milion issues of US.
and non-US. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues and money market intrents (from over 100
countres) that DTC's parcipants ("Direct Parcipants") deposit with DTC. DTC also faciltates the post-
trade settlement among Direct Parcipants of sales and other securties transactions in deposited securties,
though electronic computenzed book-enti transfers and pledges between Direct Parcipants' accounts. This
eliates the need for physical movement of securties certcates. Direct Parcipants include both US. and

non-US. securties brokers and dealers, bans, trst companes, clearg corporations and certai other

organations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiar of The Depository Trust & Clearg Corporation
("DTCC"). DTCC is the holdig company for DTC, National Securties Clearg Corporation and Fixed
Income Clearg Corporation, al of which are registered clearg agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its
regulated subsidiares. Access to the DTC system is also avaiable to others such as both U.S. and non-US.
securties brokers and dealers, bans, trst companes and clearg corporations that clear though or maitai
a custodial relationship with a Direct Parcipant, either diectly or indiectly ("Indiect Parcipants"). DTC
has Standard & Poor's highest ratig: AA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Parcipants are on fie with the
Securties and Exchange Commssion. More inormation about DTC can be found at ww.dtcc.com and
ww.dtc.org.

Puchases of Senes 2009 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or though Direct
Parcipants, which wi receive a credit for the Senes 2009 Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership interest

of each actual purchaser of each Series 2009 Bond ("Beneficial Owner") is in tu to be recorded on the Direct
and Indiect Parcipants' records. Beneficial Owers wi not receive wrtten confation from DTC of their
purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive wrttn confations providig detais of the

transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdigs, from the Direct or Indiect Parcipant though
which the Beneficial Owner entered into the tranaction. Tranfers of ownership interests in the Senes 2009

Bonds are to be accomplished by entres made on the books of Direct and Indiect Parcipants actig on behal

of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owers wi not receive certcates representig their ownership interest in
Senes 2009 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-enti system for the Series 2009 Bonds is
discontiued.
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To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2009 Bonds deposited by Direct Parcipants with DTC
are registered in the name ofDTC's parership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Series 2009 Bonds with DTC and their registration in
the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC
has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2009 Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the
identity of the Direct Parcipants to whose accounts such Series 2009 Bonds are credited, which mayor may
not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indiect Parcipants will remain responsible for keeping account
of their holdings on behal of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Parcipants, by Direct
Parcipants to Indiect Parcipants and by Direct Parcipants and Indiect Parcipants to Beneficial Owners

will be governed by arangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be
in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shal be sent to DTC. If less than al of the Series 2009 Bonds withn an issue are
being redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Parcipant in
such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) wil consent or vote with respect to Series
2009 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Parcipant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its
usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnbus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible afer the record date. The
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consentig or voting rights to those Direct Parcipants to whose
accounts the Series 2009 Bonds are credited on the record date (identifed in a listing attached to the Omnbus
Proxy).

Prcipal and interest payments on, and payment of redemption proceeds of, the Series 2009 Bonds

will be made to Cede & Co. or such other nomiee as may be requested by an authoried representative of
DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Parcipants' accounts upon DTC's receipt offuds and corresponding
detai information from the Issuer or the Registrar and Payig Agent, on the payable date in accordance with
their respective holdigs shown on DTC's records. Payments by Parcipants to Beneficial Owners wi be
governed by standing instrctions and customar practices, as is the case with securties held for the accounts
of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name", and wi be the responsibility of such Parcipant
and not of DTC (nor its nomiee), the Issuer or the Registrar and Payig Agent, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requiements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of pricipal and interest payments and
payment of redemption proceeds to Cede & Co. (or such other nomiee as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC) is the responsibilty of the Issuer or the Registrar and Paying Agent, disbursement of
such payments to Direct Parcipants wi be the responsibilty of DTC and disbursement of such payments to

the Beneficial Owners wi be the responsibilty of Direct and Indirect Parcipants.

DTC may discontinue providig its servces as depository with respect to the Series 2009 Bonds at
any time by givig reasonable notice to the Issuer or the Registrar and Payig Agent. Under such
circumstances, in the event that a successor securties depository is not obtaed, Series 2009 Bond certcates
are requied to be pnnted and delivered.

The Issuer may decide to discontiue use of the system of book-en tr-only tranfers though DTC (or
a successor securties depository). In that event, Series 2009 Bond certcates wil be pnnted and delivered to
DTC.

The inormation in ths Appendi E concerng DTC and DTC's book-entr system has been obtaied
from sources that the Issuer believes to be reliable, but the Issuer takes no responsibilty for the accuracy
thereof.

E-2



APPENDIX F

CONTINUING DISCLOSUR CERTIFICATE

This Continuig Disclosure Certficate (the "Certcate"), dated December 22, 2009, is

executed and delivered in connection with the issuance of $22,915,000 pricipal amount of Water and Sewer
System Refudig Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A, dated December 22,2009, and $9,800,000 pricipal amount
of Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B (Taxable-Recovery Zone Economic Development
Bonds), dated December 22, 2009 (collectively, the "Bonds"), of the County of Henrco, Virginia (the
"County"), and pursuant to resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Supervsors of the County on May 12,
2009 and November 24,2009 (collectively, the "Resolution"). Capitalized term used in ths Certcate shal
have the respective meangs specifed above or in Arcle I hereof. Pursuant to the Resolution, the County
agrees as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINTIONS

SECTION 1.1. Definitions. The following terms used in ths Certcate shal have the
followig respective meangs:

(1) "Anual Financial Inormation" means, collectively, (i) the financial inormation and
operatig data with respect to the County for each fiscal year as set fort in Appendix A to the Official

Statement in the sections "THE SYSTEM - Rates and Charges", "THE SYSTEM - Largest Accounts", "THE
SYSTEM - System Statistics", "SUMY OF REVENUS AN EXPENSES OF THE SYSTEM",
"HISTORICAL DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE", "ANAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIMENTS" and
"WATER AN SEWER SYSTEM CAPITAL IMROVEMENT PLAN" and (n) information regardig
amendments to ths Certcate requied pursuant to Sections 4.2(d) and (e) of ths Certcate. Anual
Financial Inormation shall include Audited Financial Statements, if available, or Unaudited Financial
Statements.

The descriptions contaied in Section 1.l(l)(i) above of fiancial information and operatig
data constitutig Anual Financial Inormation are of general categories of financial inormation and operatig
data. When such descriptions include inormation that no longer can be generated because the operations to
which it related have been materialy changed or discontinued, a statement to that effect shal be provided in
lieu of such information. Any Anual Financial Inormation contaiing modifed fiancial inormation or
operatig data shal explai, in narative form, the reasons for the modification and the impact of the

modication on the tye of fiancial inormation or operatig data being provided.

(2) "Audited Financial Statements" means the anual financial statements, if any, of the

County, audited by such auditor as shal then be requied or permtted by State law or the Resolution. Audited
Financial Statements shal be prepared in accordance with GA.;provided, however, that, pursuant to Section
4.2(a) and (e) hereof, the County may from tie to tie, if requied by federal or State legal requiements,

modi the accountig priciples to be followed in preparg its financial statements. Notice of any such
modication requied by Section 4.2(a) hereof shal include a reference to the specifc federal or State law or
reguation describing such accountig priciples, or other description thereof.

(3) "Counsel" mean Hawki Delafeld & Wood LLP or other nationaly recogned
bond counselor counel expert in federal securties laws.
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(4) "GAA" means generally accepted accounting principles for governental unts as
prescribed by the Governental Accounting Standards Board, the Financial Accounting Standards Board or

any successor to the duties and responsibilities of either of them.

(5) "Material Event" means any of the following events with respect to the Bonds,
whether relating to the County or otherwse, if material:

(i) pricipal and interest payment delinquencies;

(ii) non-payment related defaults;

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt servce reserves reflecting financial diffculties;

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflectig financial diffculties;

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their faiure to pedorm;

(vi) adverse tax opinions or events afecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds;
(vii) modifcations to rights of Bondholders;

(viii) Bond calls (other than scheduled mandatory sinkng fud redemptions);

(ix) defeasances;

(x) release, substitution, or sale of propert securg repayment of the Bonds; and
(xi) ratig changes.

(6) "Material Event Notice" mean a notice of a Material Event.

(7) "MSRB" means the Muncipal Securties Rulemakng Board established pursuant to
the provisions of Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securties Exchange Act of 1934 or any successor thereto or to the
fuctions of the MSRB contemplated by ths Certcate.

(8) "Offcial Statement" means the Offcial Statement, dated December 8, 2009, of the
County relatig to the Bonds.

(9) "Rule" mean Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securties Exchange
Act of 1934 (17 CFR Par 240, §240.15c2-12), as in effect on the date of ths Certcate, includig any offcial
interpretations thereof issued either before or afer the effective date of ths Certcate which are applicable to
ths Certcate.

(10) "SEC" mean the United States Securties and Exchange Commission.

(11) "State" means the Commonwealth of Virgia.

(12) "Unaudited Financial Statements" mean the same as Audited Financial Statements,
except the same shal not have been audited.

(13) "Underwters" means Morgan Keegan & Company, Inc. and Davenport & Company
LLC.

ARTICLE II

TH UNERTAKG

SECTION 2.1. Puose. This Certcate is being executed and delivered solely to assist the
Underwters in complyig with paragraph (b)(5) of the Rule.

SECTION 2.2. Anual Financial Inormation. (a) The County shall provide Anual
Financial Inormation for the County with respect to each fiscal year of the County, commencing with fiscal
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year beginnng July 1, 2009, by no later than six months afer the end of the respective fiscal year, to the
MSRB.

(b) The County shall provide, in a timely maner, notice of any failure of the County to
provide the Anual Financial Information by the date specifed in subsection (a) above to the MSRB.

SECTION 2.3. Audited Financial Statements. If not provided as par of Anual Financial
Inormation by the dates requied by Section 2.2(a) hereof, the County shal provide Audited Financial
Statements, when and if avaiable, to the MSRB.

SECTION 2.4. Notices of Material Events. (a) If a Material Event occurs, the County shall
provide, in a tiely maner, a Material Event Notice to the MSRB.

(b) Any notice of a defeasance of Bonds shall state whether the Bonds have been
escrowed to matuty or to an earlier redemption date and the timing of such matuty or redemption.

SECTION 2.5. Additional Information. Nothng in ths Certficate shall be deemed to
prevent the County from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set fort in

ths Certcate or any other means of communcation, or includig any other inormation in any Anual

Financial Inormation or Material Event Notice hereunder, in addition to that which is required by ths

Certcate. If the County chooses to do so, the County shall have no obligation under ths Certcate to update

such additional information or include it in any futue Anual Financial Inormation or Material Event Notice.

SECTION 2.6. Additional Disclosure Obligations. The County acknowledges and

understands that other State and federal laws, includig but not limited to the Securties Act of 1933 and Rule
10b-5 promulgated under the Securties Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the County, and that under some
circumstances, compliance with ths Certcate, without additional disclosures or other action, may not fully
discharge all duties and obligations of the County under such laws.

SECTION 2.7. No Previous Non-Compliance. The County represents that, in the previous
five years, it has not faied to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakg in a wrttn
contract or agreement specified in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule.

ARTICLE II

OPERATING RULES

SECTION 3.1. Reference to Other Documents. It shall be sufcient for puroses of Section
2.2 hereof if the County provides Anual Financial Inormation by specific reference to documents

(i) available to the public on the MSRB Internet Web site (curently, ww.emma.msrb.org) or (ii) fied with
the SEC. The provisions of this Section 3.1 shal not apply to Material Event Notices pursuat to Section 2.4
hereof.

SECTION 3.2. Submission of Inormation. Anual Financial Inormation may be provided
in one document or multiple documents and at one tie or in par from tie to tie.

SECTION 3.3. Dissemiation Agents. The County may from tie to tie designate an

agent to act on its behal in providig or fig notices, documents and inormation as requied of the County
under ths Certcate and revoke or modi any such designation.

SECTION 3.4. Transmission of Notices. Documents and Inormation. (a) Unless otherwse

requied by the MSRB, al notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shal be provided to the
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MSRB's Electronic Muncipal Markets Access (EMMA) system, the curent Internet Web address of which is
ww.emma.msrb.org.

(b) All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shal be provided in
an electronic format as prescnbed by the MSRB and shall be accompaned by identifyng inormation as
prescnbed by the MSRB.

SECTION 3.5. Fiscal Year. (a) The County's curent fiscal year is July 1 to June 30, and
the County shall promptly notify the MSRB of each change in its fiscal year.

(b) Anual Financial Inormation shal be provided at least anually notwthstanding any
fiscal year longer than 12 calendar months.

ARTICLE IV

EFFECTIV DATE, TERMATION, AMNDMENT
AN ENFORCEMET

SECTION 4.1. Effective Date; Termination.

(a) This Certcate shall be effective upon the issuance of the Bonds.

(b) The County's obligations under ths Certcate shal termate upon legal
defeasance, pnor redemption or payment in ful of al of the Bonds.

(c) This Certcate or any provision hereof, shal be nul and void in the event that the

County (i) receives an opinon of Counsel, addressed to the County, to the effect that those portons of the Rule
which requie this Certficate, or any such provision, do not or no longer apply to the Bonds, whether because
such portons of the Rule are invalid, have been repealed or otherwse, as shall be specifed in such opinion,
and (n) shal have delivered copies of such opinon to the MSRB.

SECTION 4.2. Amendment. (a) Ths Certcate may be amended, by wnttn certcate of
the Director of Finance, without the consent of the holders of the Bonds, if al of the followig conditions are
satisfied: (i) such amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arses from a change
in legal (including reguatory) requiements, a change in law (includig rues or regulations) or in

interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, natue or status of the County or the tye of business
conducted thereby, (n) ths Certcate as so amended would have complied with the requiements of the Rule
as of the date of ths Certcate, afr takg into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as

well as any change in circumstances, (ni) the County shal have received an opinon of Counel addressed to
the County, to the same effect as set fort in clause (n) above, (iv) the County shal have received an opinon
of Counel, addressed to the County, or a determation by a person, in each case unafilated with the County
(such as Bond Counel) and acceptable to the County, to the effect that the amendment does not matenaly
impai the interests of the holders of the Bonds and (v) the County shal have delivered copies of such opinon
and amendment to the MSRB.

(b) This Certcate may be amended, by wntten certcate of the Director of Finance,
without the consent of the holders of the Bonds, if all of the followig conditions are satisfied: (i) an
amendment to the Rule is adopted, or a new or modifed offcial interpretation of the Rule is issued, afr the
effective date hereof which is applicable to ths Certcate, (n) the County shal have received an opinon of
Counsel, addressed to the County, to the effect that performance by the County under ths Certcate as so
amended wi not result in a violation of the Rule and (il) the County shal have delivered copies of such
opinon and amendment to the MSRB.
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(c) This Certcate may be amended, by wrtten certcate of the Director of Finance,
without the consent of the holders of the Bonds, if all of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) the County
shall have received an opinion of Counsel, addressed to the County, to the effect that the amendment is
permitted by rue, order or other offcial pronouncement, or is consistent with any interpretive advice or no-
action positions of the Staf of the SEC and (ii) the County shall have delivered copies of such opinion and
amendment to the MSRB.

(d) To the extent any amendment to this Certcate results in a change in the tyes of
financial information or operatig data provided pursuant to this Certcate, the fist Anual Financial

Inormation provided thereafer shall include a narative explanation of the reasons for the amendment and the
impact of the change in the tye of operatig data or financial inormation being provided.

(e) If an amendment is made pursuant to Section 4.2(a) hereof to the accounting
priciples to be followed by the County in preparg its financial statements, the Anual Financial Information
for the fiscal year in which the change is made shall present a comparson between the financial statements or
inormation prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the
former accounting principles. Such comparson shal include a qualitative and, to the extent reasonably
feasible, quantitative discussion of the differences in the accountig principles and the impact of the change in
the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial inormation.

SECTION 4.3. Benefit; Thid-Par Beneficiares: Enforcement. (a) The provisions of this
Certcate shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the holders from time to time of the
Bonds, except that beneficial owners of Bonds shall be thid-par beneficiares of this Certcate. The

provisions of this Certcate shal create no rights in any person or entity except as provided in this subsection

(a) and in subsection (b) of ths Section 4.3.

(b) The obligations of the County to comply with the provisions of this Certcate shall
be enforceable by the holders of the Bonds, includig beneficial owners thereof. The Bondholders' rights to
enforce the provisions of ths Certcate shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for
specifc pedormance, to compel pedormance of the County's obligations under ths Certcate and the

Resolution. In consideration of the thd-par beneficiar status of the beneficial owners of the Bonds

pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section 4.3, the beneficial owners shall be deemed to be holders of the Bonds
for puroses of ths subsection (b).

(c) Any failure by the County to pedorm in accordance with ths Certcate shal not
constitute a default under the Resolution and any rights and remedies provided by the Resolution upon the
occurence of a default shal not apply to any such faiure.

(d) This Certcate shal be constred and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the
State, without regard to its confct of laws rues, and any suits and actions arsing out of ths Certcate shal
be intituted and tred only in the Circuit Cour of the County of Henrco, Virgia; provided, however, that to
the extent this Certcate addresses matters of federal securties laws, includig the Ru1e, ths Cecate shal
be constred in accordance with such federal securties laws and offcial interpretations thereof.
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above wrtten.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certficate as of the date first

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIGINIA

By:
Director of Finance
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APPENDIX G

PROPOSED FORMS OF OPINONS OF BOND COUNSEL

Board of Supervsors
of the County of Henrco

Henrco, Virginia

Dear Members of the Board of Supervsors:

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA,
WATER AN SEWER SYSTEM REFUING REVEN1 BONDS,

SERIS 2009A, $22,915,000

At your request we have examed into the valdity of $22,915,000 pricipal amount of Water
and Sewer System Refudig Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A (the "Bonds"), of the County of Henrco, Virginia
(the "County"). The Bonds are dated the date of their issuance, are issuable in fully registered form in the
denomiation of $5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof, and are numbered from No. R-2009A-l upwards
in order of issuance. The Bonds matue on May 1 in each of the years and in the pricipal amounts set forth
below, with the Bonds matug in a parcular year bearg interest payable on May 1, 2010 and semiamualy

on each May 1 and November 1 thereafr at the interest rate per amum stated opposite such year, to wit:

Prcipal Interest Prcipal Interest
Year Amount Rate Year Amount Rate

2014 $1,175,000 2.00% 2022 $1,530,000 5.00%
2015 1,195,000 4.00 2023 1,605,000 5.00
2016 1,245,000 3.75 2024 1,685,000 5.00
2017 1,290,000 3.00 2025 1,770,000 5.00
2018 1,330,000 3.00 2026 1,855,000 5.00
2019 1,370,000 3.00 2027 1,950,000 5.00
2020 1,410,000 3.125 2028 2,050,000 5.00
2021 1,455,000 5.00

The Bonds matug on and afr May 1, 2020 are subject to redemption prior to their stated
matuties at the option of the County on or afr May 1, 2019 upon the terms and conditions and at the prices
set fort therein.
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The Bonds recite that they are issued by the County under and pursuant to and in full
compliance with the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including Chapter 26 of Title
15.2 of the Code of Virginia, 1950 (the same being the Public Finance Act of 1991), a resolution duly adopted
by the Board of Supervsors of the County on November 23, 1977 and resolutions supplemental thereto duly
adopted by such Board on May 12, 2009 and November 24, 2009 (collectively, the "Resolution"), for the
purose of refunding in advance of their stated matuties bonds heretofore issued by the County to finance the
costs of acquisition, constrction, reconstrction, improvement, extension and enlargement of the unfied water
supply and santar sewerage system in the County.

We have examined (i) the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia, (ii)
certed copies of the proceedings of the Board of Supervisors of the County authorizig the issuance, sale and

delivery of the Bonds, (iii) such other papers, instrents, documents and proceedings as we have deemed
necessar or advisable and (iv) a specimen Bond of such issue.

In our opinion, the Bonds have been duly authorized and issued in accordance with the
Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virgina and constitute valid and legaly binding special
obligations of the County payable solely from and secured equally and ratably solely by a lien and charge on
the revenues derived from the operation of the water and sewer system of the County on a party with bonds
heretofore issued on a party with the Bonds, and any bonds, and interest on bond anticipation notes, which
hereafer may be issued under the Resolution on a party with the Bonds, subject, however, to the prior
payment from such revenues of the expenses of operation and maintenance of the water and sewer system, al
as set fort and provided in the Resolution.

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof
may be subject to judicial discretion, to the exercise of the sovereign police powers of the Commonwealth of
Virgia and the constitutional powers of the United States of America and to valid banptcy, inolvency,
reorganation, moratorium and other laws afecting the relief of debtors.

In our opinon, under existing statutes and cour decisions and assuming contiuig
compliance by the County with certai tax covenants described herein, interest on the Bonds (i) is excluded
from gross income for federal income tax puroses pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986 (the "Code") and (ii) is not treated as an item of tax preference for puroses of the alternative mimum
tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted
curent eargs of certain corporations for puroses of calculating the alternative mium tax imposed on
such corporations. In rendering our opinon, we have relied on certai representations, certcations of fact

and statements of reasonable expectations made by the County in connection with the Bonds, and we have
assumed compliance by the County with cert ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requiements of

the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

It is also our opinon that under existig law of the Commonwealth of Virginia, such interest
is not includable in computig the Virgia income tax.

We express no opinon regardig other federal or Commonwealth of Virgia tax

consequences arsing with respect to the Bonds. We ar renderig our opinon under existig statutes and
cour decisions as of the issue date of the Bonds, and we assume no obligation to update our opinon afr the
issue date of the Bonds to reflect any futue action, fact or circumstace, or change in law or interpretation, or
otherwise. We express no opinon on the effect of any action taken in reliance upon an opinon of other
counsel on the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax puroses of interest on the Bonds

Very try yours,
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Board of Supervsors
of the County of Henrco

Henrco, Virginia

Dear Members of the Board of Supervsors:

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIGINIA,
WATER AN SEWER SYSTEM REVENU BONDS, SERIES 2009B

(TAXLE-RECOVERY ZONE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BONDS),
$9,800,000

At your request we have examned into the valdity of $9,800,000 pricipal amount of Water
and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B (Taxable-Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds)
(the "Bonds"), of the County of Henrco, Virginia (the "County"). The Bonds are dated the date of their
issuance, are issuable in fully registered form in the denomination of $5,000 each or any integral multiple
thereof, and are numbered from No. R-2009B-l upwards in order of issuance. The Bonds matue on May 1 in
each of the years and in the pricipal amounts set fort below, with the Bonds matug in a parcular year
bearg interest payable on May 1,2010 and semianually on each May 1 and November 1 thereafr at the
interest rate per anum stated opposite such year, to wit:

Prcipal Interest
Year Amount Rate

2029 $1,090,000 5.853%
2030 1,125,000 6.00
2036 7,585,000 6.153

The Bonds matug on and afr May 1, 2020 are subject to redemption prior to their stated
matuties at the option of the County on or afr May 1, 2019 upon the terms and conditions and at the prices
set fort therein. The Bonds are subject to extraordinar optional redemption prior to their stated matuties at
the option of the County upon the terms and conditions and at the prices set fort therein. The Bonds matug
on May 1 2036 are subject to mandatory sing fud redemption upon the terms and conditions and at the
prices set fort therein

The Bonds recite that they are issued by the County under and pursuant to and in fu
compliance with the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virgia, includig Chapter 26 of Title
15.2 of the Code of Virgina, 1950 (the same being the Public Finance Act of 1991), a resolution duly adopted
by the Board of Supervsors of the County on November 23, 1977 and resolutions supplemental thereto duly
adopted by such Board on May 12, 2009 and November 24, 2009 (collectively, the "Resolution"), for the
purose of financing the costs of acquisition, constrction, reconstrction, improvement, extnsion and
enlargement of the uned water supply and santar sewerage system in the County.
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We have examned (i) the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia, (ii)
certed copies of the proceedings of the Board of Supervisors of the County authorizing the issuance, sale and

delivery of the Bonds, (iii) such other papers, instrents, documents and proceedigs as we have deemed
necessar or advisable and (iv) a specimen Bond of such issue.

In our opinion, the Bonds have been du1y authoried and issued in accordance with the
Constitution and statutes of the. Commonwealth of Virgina and constitute vald and legally binding special
obligations of the County payable solely from and secured equaly and ratably solely by a lien and charge on
the revenues derived from the operation of the water and sewer system of the County on a party with bonds
heretofore issued on a party with the Bonds, and any bonds, and interest on bond anticipation notes, which
hereafer may be issued under the Resolution on a party with the Bonds, subject, however, to the prior
payment from such revenues of the expenses of operation and maitenance of the water and sewer system, all
as set forth and provided in the Resolution.

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof
may be subject to judicial discretion, to the exercise of the sovereign police powers of the Commonwealth of
Virginia and the constitutional powers of the United States of America and to valid banptcy, insolvency,
reorganzation, moratorium and other laws affecting the relief of debtors.

In our opinion, interest on the Bonds is included in gross income for federal income tax
puroses. This opinion is not intended or provided by Bond Counsel to be used and canot be used by an

owner of the Bonds for the purose of avoiding penalties that may be imposed on the owner of such Bonds.
The opinon set forth in this paragraph is provided to support the promotion or marketing of the Bonds. Each
owner of Bonds shou1d seek advice based on its parcu1ar circumstances from an independent tax advisor.

It is also our opinon that under existig law of the Commonwealth of Virgina, such interest
is not includable in computing the Virgia income tax.

We express no opinon regardig other federal or Commonwealth of Virgina tax
consequences arsing with respect to the Bonds. We are renderig our opinon under existig statutes and
cour decisions as of the issue date of the Bonds, and we assume no obligation to update our opinon afr the
issue date of the Bonds to reflect any futue action, fact or circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or
otherwse. We express no opinon on the effect of any action taken in reliance upon an opinon of other
counel on the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax puroses of interest on the Bonds

Very try yours,
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